Public Document Pack

A Meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Management
Committee will be held virtually on WEDNESDAY 24 JUNE
2020 AT 7.00 PM

Susan Parsonage
Chief Executive
Published on 16 June 2020
Note: The Council has made arrangements under the Coronavirus Act 2020
to hold this meeting virtually via Microsoft Teams. The meeting can be
watched live using the following link: https://youtu.be/c56TuEM1KN4
The role of Overview and Scrutiny is to provide independent “critical friend”
challenge and to work with the Council’s Executive and other public service
providers for the benefit of the public. The Committee considers submissions
from a range of sources and reaches conclusions based on the weight of
evidence – not on party political grounds.
This meeting may be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s website.
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog from this
meeting. The use of these images or recordings is not under the Council’s
control.

Our Vision
A great place to live, learn, work and grow and a great place to do business

Enriching Lives







Champion outstanding education and enable our children and young people to achieve their full
potential, regardless of their background.
Support our residents to lead happy, healthy lives and provide access to good leisure facilities to
complement an active lifestyle.
Engage and involve our communities through arts and culture and create a sense of identity which
people feel part of.
Support growth in our local economy and help to build business.
Safe, Strong, Communities
Protect and safeguard our children, young and vulnerable people.
Offer quality care and support, at the right time, to prevent the need for long term care.
Nurture communities and help them to thrive.
Ensure our borough and communities remain safe for all.






Do all we can to become carbon neutral and sustainable for the future.
Protect our borough, keep it clean and enhance our green areas.
Reduce our waste, improve biodiversity and increase recycling.
Connect our parks and open spaces with green cycleways.




Offer quality, affordable, sustainable homes fit for the future.
Build our fair share of housing with the right infrastructure to support and enable our borough to
grow.
Protect our unique places and preserve our natural environment.
Help with your housing needs and support people to live independently in their own homes.





A Clean and Green Borough

Right Homes, Right Places




Keeping the Borough Moving





Maintain and improve our roads, footpaths and cycleways.
Tackle traffic congestion, minimise delays and disruptions.
Enable safe and sustainable travel around the borough with good transport infrastructure.
Promote healthy alternative travel options and support our partners to offer affordable, accessible
public transport with good network links.

Changing the Way We Work for You





Be relentlessly customer focussed.
Work with our partners to provide efficient, effective, joined up services which are focussed around
you.
Communicate better with you, owning issues, updating on progress and responding appropriately
as well as promoting what is happening in our Borough.
Drive innovative digital ways of working that will connect our communities, businesses and
customers to our services in a way that suits their needs.

MEMBERSHIP OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Councillors – to be confirmed at the extraordinary meeting on 16 June 2020

ITEM
NO.

WARD

SUBJECT

5.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence.

6.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 19
February 2020.

7.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest.

8.

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
To answer any public questions.
A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for members of
the public to ask questions submitted under notice.
The Council welcomes questions from members of the
public about the work of this committee.
Subject to meeting certain timescales, questions can
relate to general issues concerned with the work of the
Committee or an item which is on the Agenda for this
meeting. For full details of the procedure for
submitting questions please contact the Democratic
Services Section on the numbers given below or go to
www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions

9.
9.1

MEMBER QUESTION TIME
To answer any Member questions.
Gary Cowan has asked the Chairman the following
question:
Wokingham Borough Council in a press release on the
26th May stated that it is working hard to monitor the
impact that Covid-19 is having on the local Black and
Minority Ethnic (BME) community. Evidence continues
to emerge that the pandemic could be having a
disproportionate impact on our BME communities with
a higher proportion of Covid-19 deaths reported.

PAGE
NO.

5 - 14

I very much welcome this very positive initiative so my
question therefore is:
As Wokingham Borough Council must have access to
Covid-19 information for all Wokingham’s affected
residents to be able to monitor its impact ranging from
those with the disease including those who recovered,
those who sadly passed away either in Hospitals, Care
Homes or at home, is it possible to publish a Borough
Map showing areas where there are virus spikes as
other authorities/countries have done?
Lindsay Ferris has asked the Chairman the following
question:

9.2

How many residents of Wokingham Borough are
known to have caught Covid-19, and of this total, how
many have unfortunately died?
10.

None Specific

COVID-19 PANDEMIC - THE COUNCIL'S
RESPONSE
To consider the Council’s response to the Covid-19
pandemic and the process for detailed Scrutiny of
specific issues by the four Overview and Scrutiny
Committees.

15 - 134

11.

None Specific

COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMMES 2020-21
To discuss the work programme of the Overview and
Scrutiny Management Committee and Overview and
Scrutiny Committees for 2020-21.

135 - 154

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief Executive if there are any
other items to consider under this heading.

Neil Carr
Tel
Email
Postal Address

CONTACT OFFICER
Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist
0118 974 6058
neil.carr@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

Agenda Item 6.
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
HELD ON 19 FEBRUARY 2020 FROM 7.00 PM TO 10.05 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: Pauline Helliar-Symons (Chairman), Alison Swaddle (Vice-Chairman),
Chris Bowring, Jenny Cheng, Andy Croy, Paul Fishwick, Jim Frewin, Guy Grandison,
Sarah Kerr, Abdul Loyes, Ken Miall and Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey
Other Councillors Present
Councillors: Prue Bray
Officers Present
Lewis Borges, Business Change Lead Manager
Neil Carr, Democratic and Electoral Services Specialist
Graham Ebers, Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Corporate Services
Paul Ohsan Ellis, Business Change Lead Manager
Susan Parsonage, Chief Executive
Simon Price, Assistant Director, Housing, Income and Assesments
73.
APOLOGIES
There were no apologies for absence.
Prue Bray attended the meeting as substitute for Ian Pittock.
74.
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 22 January 2020 were confirmed as
a correct record and signed by the Chairman, subject to the following amendments:
Minute 66 – Declaring a Climate Emergency Initial Action Plan - the final paragraph on
Page 8 of the Agenda being amended to read:
“In relation to the scope of the Climate Emergency project, could the Council develop a
separate Air Quality Action Plan, addressing noxious and other pollutants?.....”
Minute 68 – Council Plan Performance Monitoring – Q2 2019/20 (Page 12) – KPI CE1
being amended to read:
“KPI CE1 – Revenue Budget Monitoring Forecast Position and KPI CE2 – capital Budget
Monitoring Forecast Position.
Comment – when overspends and underspends occur, the Committee would like to
receive greater detail on causation and action plans put in place. The RAG rating should
reflect the fact that large underspends are a matter of concern for Members, in addition to
overspends”.
75.
DECLARATION OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.
76.
PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
There were no public questions.

5

77.
MEMBER QUESTION TIME
There were no Member questions.
78.
UNAUTHORISED TRAVELLER ENCAMPMENTS
The Committee considered a presentation, set out at Agenda pages 15 to 23, which gave
details of the Council’s policy and procedures relating to unauthorised traveller
encampments.
Simon Price, Assistant Director, Housing, Income and Assessments, attended the meeting
to give the presentation and answer Member questions.
An unauthorised encampment arose when any person camped (in vans, trailers, tents or
any other moveable accommodation) on land that they did not own, and where they did
not have permission to reside.
The presentation stated that the Council had signed up to the Thames Valley Police
protocol for dealing with encampments in May 2018. The Council’s Executive had also
approved an updated policy on encampments at its meeting in March 2018. The updated
policy had enabled Officers to use common law powers in dealing with unlawful
encampments. This entailed the use of bailiffs rather than the courts. The use of common
law powers resulted in reduced legal costs and reduced costs relating to the clearance of
sites.
The presentation gave details of performance data relating to unauthorised encampments,
as follows:





Number of encampments;
Average number of days to clear encampments;
Number of encampments on public and private land;
Number of encampments cleared with and without Section 61 (police) powers.

In 2019/20 (to date) there had been 25 unauthorised encampments across the Borough.
Of these, 12 were on public land and 13 were on private land. The cost to WBC of clearing
the encampments on public land was £1,449. Dealing with the encampments took 165
hours of police officer time and 155 hours of WBC officer time.
In the ensuing discussion, Members raised the following points:
One issue relating to the Council’s clearance of sites was the fact that travellers could then
move a short distance on to private land. What advice and support did the Council provide
for private landowners? Simon Price commented that the Council provided advice to
private landowners but had no jurisdiction. It was a matter for private landowners to protect
their own land.
Was the Council considering best practice from other local authorities? Simon commented
that the Council did seek to learn from elsewhere but it was important to remember that
the service was delivered with limited resources.
Ken Miall referred to an incident when Sheriffs were used to move travellers on. What was
the difference between using Sheriffs and bailiffs? Simon undertook to discuss this case
with Ken outside the meeting.

6

Guy Grandison asked about the percentage of traveller encampments which involved
medical/welfare issues. Simon undertook to provide information on the number of
encampments involving medical/bereavement cases.
Did the Council have any special arrangements with Town and Parish Councils? Simon
commented that WBC held regular discussions with the Town and Parish Councils.
However, there were ongoing issues around enforcement when the land was not WBCowned.
The Council had taken out an injunction which prohibited unauthorised encampments at
Cantley Park. What factors were involved? Simon stated that Cantley Park was earmarked
as an emergency morgue in case of major incidents. This fact had supported the granting
of the injunction. The Council had explored the potential for a Borough-wide injunction, but
this was not successful. Simon was happy to share the legal advice relating to the
attempted Borough-wide injunction.
Had the Council considered the development of a transit traveller site in the Borough?
Simon stated that discussions had been held with lead Members, but there was no political
appetite for such a site at present. In the meantime, the Council was looking to create
three additional pitches at the Carters Hill site.
In relation to the unauthorised encampments in 2019/20, how many were repeat
incursions on the same site? Simon stated that a report had been submitted to the
Community Safety Partnership with this information. Simon was happy to circulate this
report to Members.
Did the Council provide written advice/leaflets for Town and Parish Councils and private
landowners? Simon agreed to explore the potential for information leaflets and improved
information on the WBC website.
In addition to the points made, Members felt that the Council should seek to develop a
more holistic approach, learning from best practice and providing effective guidance to
local stakeholders. The Council should also consider any implications for the Local Plan
Update.
Susan Parsonage undertook to raise the issues raised with the other Berkshire Chief
Executives as part of her regular discussions.
Andy Croy suggested that a Member training session be arranged to provide an update on
the latest developments and guidance on the Council’s procedures for dealing with
unauthorised encampments.
RESOLVED That:
1) Simon Price be thanked for the presentation on unauthorised traveller encampments;
2) Simon Price provide a further update to the Committee in June 2020 including
feedback on the points raised by Members;
3) the additional information requested by Members be circulated to the Committee;

7

4) Susan Parsonage discuss the issues raised by Members with the other Berkshire
Chief Executives;
5) Simon Price consider the development of an information/guidance leaflet for residents
and Town and Parish Councils;
6) a Member training session be arranged to provide an update on the Council’s policies
and procedures.
79.
COMMUNITY VISION AND CORPORATE DELIVERY PLAN 2020-24
The Committee considered a report, set out at Agenda pages 25 to 26 (and supplementary
Agenda) which set out the new Council Plan (incorporating the Community Vision and
Corporate Delivery Plan) 2020/24.
Susan Parsonage (Chief Executive) and Graham Ebers (Deputy Chief Executive and
Director of Corporate Services) attended the meeting to answer Member questions on the
plan.
The report stated that the Council Plan had been developed through consultation with
residents, businesses, partners and political groups. The Community Vision document was
a public facing document which communicated key priorities to residents and set out key
targets for the next four years. The key priorities set out in the Community Vision were:


Enriching lives – supporting our residents to lead happy, healthy lives whilst
developing local communities and the local economy.



Safe, Strong Communities – protecting vulnerable residents whilst nurturing
communities which are safe for all;



Changing the Way we Work for You – being a customer-focussed organisation with
high quality services, good communications and digital innovation;



A Clean and Green Borough – a focus on becoming carbon neutral whilst protecting
our green spaces, improving biodiversity and reducing waste;



Right Homes, Right Places – delivering affordable, sustainable homes which meet a
range of housing needs, with supporting infrastructure and community facilities.



Keeping the Borough Moving – improving our cycleways, footpaths and roads whilst
tackling traffic congestion and promoting alternative travel options.

The Corporate Delivery Plan built on the key priorities in the Community Vision and
identified core organisational values which would underpin future service delivery and
community engagement. The organisation’s Core Values were:


Customer Focus – delivering quality services that we would like to receive ourselves;



One Team – working jointly with residents and partners across boundaries to ensure
effective and efficient service delivery;



Taking Ownership – taking responsibility for issues and being accountable for the
outcomes delivered to residents;

8



Being Ambitious – aiming for excellence, being innovative and entrepreneurial whilst
managing risk.

The Corporate Delivery Plan provided a framework to be used by departments and the
Council’s Executive in driving strategic policy and service delivery. The plan would be used
to develop SMART targets and key performance indicators to ensure effective
performance management and monitoring.
In the ensuing discussion Members raised the following points:
What was the cost of producing the Community Vision and Delivery Plan? Graham Ebers
commented that development of the documents had involved discussions with a wide
range of internal and external stakeholders. Consequently, it was not possible to identify
an exact cost.
Delivery of the Plan would require a significant change in organisational culture, for
example in the Council’s approach to equality issues and funding for arts and culture.
Graham commented that delivery of the Plan would be a challenge for the organisation.
This was a positive approach. Scrutiny and feedback from stakeholders would be
important in driving the organisation forwards. In relation to arts and culture, Susan
Parsonage stated that the key to success would be working with partners and leveraging
in funding by identifying grants and sponsorship opportunities.
There was concern that the development of the Vision and Delivery Plan had taken many
months, yet the documents were only submitted to the Scrutiny Committee the day before
consideration and approval by Council. Graham explained some of reasons behind delays
in producing the documents, such as the unexpected General Election in December 2019.
Development of the Plan had been a learning process for the Council which would benefit
future iterations. It was also beneficial to consider the Plan alongside the Medium Term
Financial Plan.
Whilst the Plan was an improvement on the previous version, there was concern that the
Corporate Delivery Plan was not a delivery plan, it was more of a set of strategic aims,
lacking in specific targets. Similarly the Community Vision was, in reality a Council Vision
with little evidence of input from strategic partners. It also underplayed some of the key
issues affecting the lives of many residents such as house prices, rent levels, traffic
congestion, air pollution and the impact of austerity. Graham commented that the
underpinning SMART targets would be developed as quickly as possible, which would
allow robust Scrutiny of progress against specific targets.
Following approval of the Vision and Delivery Plan, would there be an annual update to
Council? Graham stated that there would be an annual update setting out progress against
key targets. The Plan would also provide a framework for the development of the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee work programmes.
Andy Croy stated that the Labour Group were unhappy with the content of the Vision and
Delivery Plan documents. They felt that the Delivery Plan was too vague and lacking in
specific, measurable actions. The documents needed to be more realistic about the
challenges facing the Borough.

9

Susan Parsonage stated that the Community Vision and Delivery Plan set the direction of
travel for the Council over the next four years. The documents were important as they
provided clarity for staff on the Council’s ambitions and the key issues affecting the
Borough and its residents. More detail would follow as specific targets and underpinning
performance indicators were developed and implemented. Overview and Scrutiny would
play an important role in scrutinising this process.
RESOLVED That:
1) Susan Parsonage and Graham Ebers be thanked for attending the meeting to discuss
the Community Vision and Corporate Delivery Plan;
2) the Community Vision and Delivery Plan be noted;
3) the Committee receive a further report, at its March 2020 meeting, on progress relating
to the development of specific targets and performance indicators to underpin the
Delivery Plan.
Note: Andy Croy stated that he could not support the Community Vision and Corporate
Delivery Plan documents in their current state.
80.
BUSINESS CHANGE: CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT REPORT
The Committee considered a report, set out at Agenda pages 27 to 34, which gave details
of the Council’s Continuous Improvement Programme (CIP).
Graham Ebers (Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Corporate Services), Paul
Ohsan.Ellis (Business Change Lead Manager) and Lewis Borges (Business Change Lead
Manager) attended the meeting to present the report and answer Member questions.
The report stated that the Council’s 21st Century Council Programme had ended in March
2019. In order to continue on the improvement journey, the Council had formed the
Business Change Service in May 2019 and embarked on the CIP.
The Business Change Team had developed CIP in each Council Directorate. In addition
the team supported the directorates in ensuring that robust governance was in place which
underpinned delivery of the savings outlined in the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan.
The Business Change Team comprised four main functions: project management,
business change, business analysis, digital assessment and intelligence. The team
adopted a multi-skilled approach which supported plans to work in themed areas across
the Council. The team’s resource capacity was allocated to Adult Social Care (40%),
Children’s Services (40%), Locality and Customer Services (10%) and Corporate Services
(10%).
The report gave details of the projects supported by the team to date and the team’s areas
of focus for 2020 onwards. For example, directorate “design” work was already underway
for Adult and Children’s Services to develop a programme of work dedicated to service
and structural design. Other corporate projects included Service Accommodation,
Transport Review, Data and Insight.
In the ensuing discussion, Members made the following points:

10

In relation to the projects being supported by the Business Change Service, how many
were high risk or rated Red in the RAG ratings? It was confirmed that the majority of
projects were rated Green or Amber. One area of concern related to the Customer Portal
as a result of Microsoft’s decision to withdraw support.
The 21st Century Council programme had delivered £3m in savings but the original target
was to achieve a further £1m from People Services. However, it appeared that the model
used was not appropriate for high risk, high demand, high specialist services such as adult
and children’s social care. How did the change team mitigate the risk of destabilising
services as CIP progressed? Graham Ebers commented that the 21st Century programme
had delivered £3m savings. CIP was being implemented by Directors, supported by the
Business Change team. This reduced the risk of change being imposed on services from
outside. As an example, the recent Peer Review of Adult Social Care reported that positive
change was happening at pace within a controlled environment.
In relation to specific projects, would the review of Home to School Transport include
transport for over-16s? Lewis Borges confirmed that it would. Were there any plans to
review the Council’s website as some residents found it difficult to find information? Susan
Parsonage commented that the website would be looked at as part of the wider review of
customer service.
Did CIP include innovation and learning from best practice elsewhere? Graham stated that
the programme involved fundamental rethinking about issues such as prevention, demand
management and market shaping. Success would require agile governance and the ability
to work at pace. As an example, Impower had been commissioned to work on demand
management in Adult Social Care through a 12 week contract.
Pauline Helliar-Symons referred to the Council’s previous target of answering telephone
calls within 10 rings (around 30 seconds). The most recent performance management
report indicated that the average wait time was well over one minute. The Committee had
requested further information on call handling performance following the Q3 Performance
Management Report to the January 2020 meeting.
RESOLVED That:
1) Lewis Borges, Graham Ebers and Paul Ohsan.Ellis be thanked for attending the
meeting to update Members on the Continuous Improvement Programme;
2) progress on the Continuous Improvement Programme be noted;
3) the Committee receive a further update on the programme in due course.
81.
SCRUTINY OF THE CLIMATE EMERGENCY ACTION PLAN
The Committee considered a report, set out at Agenda pages 35 to 40, which set out a
range of options for Scrutiny of the Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan.
The report stated that the Committee had given consideration to the Council’s initial
Climate Emergency Action Plan at its meeting on 22 January 2020. As part of its
discussions the Committee requested a further report setting out options for the effective
Scrutiny of the action plan, one option being the establishment of a separate Climate
Emergency Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

11

The report set out a number of options including:






Establishing an additional Overview and Scrutiny Committee;
Maintaining the current Overview and Scrutiny structure with time-limited Task and
Finish Groups;
Maintaining the current structure and focussing on a smaller number of key issues,
such as Climate Emergency;
Maintain the current structure with additional meetings;
Amending the terms of reference of the other Overview and Scrutiny Committees in
order to achieve a more balance workload for each.

The report considered each of the options and the resource implications for each one.
These include financial impacts and workload issues for Members and Officers.
It was proposed by Pauline Helliar-Symons and seconded by Alison Swaddle that the
Committee establish a Climate Emergency Task and Finish Group comprising five to
seven Members, membership of the Group to be open to all Overview and Scrutiny
Members.
Upon being put to the vote, the proposal was agreed.
Andy Croy suggested that the Task and Finish Group should focus initially on the
performance measures, targets and metrics being developed to underpin the Council’s
Climate Emergency Action Plan.
RESOLVED That:
1) a Task and Finish Group be established to scrutinise the Council’s Climate Emergency
Action Plan;
2) the Task and Finish Group comprise five to seven Members drawn from the Council’s
Overview and Scrutiny Committees;
3) the Task and Finish Group focus initially on performance measures, targets and
metrics being developed to underpin the Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan;
4) the Committee review the operation of the Task and Finish Group in conjunction with a
wider review of Overview and Scrutiny Committee workloads during 2020/21.
82.

CONSIDERATION OF THE CURRENT EXECUTIVE AND INDIVIDUAL MEMBER
DECISION FORWARD PROGRAMMES
The Committee considered a copy of the Executive Forward Programme and the
Individual Executive Member Decision Forward Programme as set out on Agenda pages
41 to 48.
RESOLVED: That the Forward Programmes be noted.
83.
COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMMES
The Committee considered its forward work programme and that of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committees as set out on Agenda pages 49 to 54.

12

Pauline Helliar-Symons suggested that any items for inclusion in the 2020/21 Overview
and Scrutiny Work Programmes be forwarded to Neil Carr in Democratic Services.
Sarah Kerr suggested the following items for consideration:





WBC website;
Home to School Transport Strategy – including post 16s;
Electric vehicle charging;
Low emission transport strategy.

Alison Swaddle reported that performance management reports would henceforth cease to
be a standing item on the Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee Agenda.
The quarterly reports would be considered at the most appropriate meeting.
Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee – at the March meeting,
Pauline Helliar-Symons requested that the Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue
representatives be asked to discuss measures for improving joint working with WBC.
RESOLVED: That the Work Programmes, as amended, be noted.
84.

UPDATE REPORTS FROM CHAIRMEN OR NOMINATED MEMBER OF THE
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES
The Committee considered updates from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chairman
and/or Members in relation to recent meetings of the Committees.
RESOLVED: That the updates be noted.

13

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.
TITLE

Covid-19 Pandemic – the Council’s Response

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee on
24 June 2020

WARD

None Specific

DIRECTOR

Susan Parsonage, Chief Executive

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
The Covid-19 pandemic has had an enormous impact on every aspect of our residents’
lives, including health (physical and mental) and social care, education, travel,
communication, entertainment and leisure, finance and work. The Council has played a
significant role in supporting individuals and businesses and has maintained essential
services that underpin community life.
RECOMMENDATION
The Committee is requested to:
1) Consider the report and identify issues for discussion at the meeting with the Chief
Executive and Deputy Chief Executive;
2) Consider the process and timeline for carrying out further detailed Scrutiny of specific
issues set out in the report;
3) Consider the issues to be scrutinised by the Management Committee and issues to
be addressed by the other Overview and Scrutiny Committees.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
The Covid-19 pandemic has had a huge impact on the lives of every resident in the
Borough. The Council has played a key role in supporting and implementing the
Government’s response in areas such as health and social care (for example by
supporting vulnerable people and local care homes), children’s services (by safeguarding
vulnerable children and supporting home learning) and the provision of advice and
support for local businesses.
Whilst the Council’s response to the pandemic continues with ongoing significant
workloads for officers, the reduction in community transmission and loosening of some
lockdown measures provides some opportunity to take stock, assess the scale of the
challenge and the way in which the Council has worked with a wide range of partners to
respond.
The report sets out a brief timeline of key events relating to the pandemic and the
Council’s strategic response, summarises the Council’s emergency planning
arrangements and details the way the Council mobilised resources in conjunction with
other key players such as health, police, community and voluntary sector and Town and
Parish Councils.
In section 2, the report then sets out details of actions relating to key service areas and
the data/feedback available to measure the effectiveness of the Council’s plans.

15

Finally, in section 3, the report considers some of the initial learning from the handling of
the pandemic and suggests how the Committee may choose to scrutinise in detail key
aspects of the response over an agreed timeline.

SECTION 1 – INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background
Pandemics are amongst the greatest risks facing any society. The Covid-19 pandemic
has presented the greatest challenge to the UK since World War II. Local authorities
have played a significant role in supporting the Government’s response to the
pandemic.
This report provides an initial summary of the challenges faced by the Council and the
measures it has put in place to work in partnership to protect residents, support
businesses and maintain the delivery of key services.
The report draws on information provided for answers to questions considered at the
Executive meeting on 28 May 2020.

1.2 Timeline of Events














31 December 2019 – China contacts the World Health Organisation (WHO) to report
“cases of pneumonia of unknown etiology” detected in Wuhan.
20 January 2020 – first confirmed cases of Covid-19 outside mainland China in
Japan, South Korea and Thailand.
29 January – first positive tests in the UK after two Chinese nationals fall ill whilst
staying at a hotel in York.
30 January – WHO declares a global health emergency.
4 March – Chancellor announces £12bn package of emergency support to tackle the
impact of Covid-19.
5 March – first death from Covid-19 in the UK announced (a patient at the Royal
Berkshire Hospital). Government moves to “Delay” phase in Covid-19 response.
Government raises risk to the UK from moderate to high. Public Health England
stops contact tracing in view of the wide spread of the infection in the population.
13 March – UK elections, scheduled for May 2020 are postponed for a year.
16 March – Boris Johnson begins daily press briefings, advising residents to avoid
non-essential travel, work from home if possible and avoid visiting social venues.
17 March – NHS England announces that, from 15 April, all non-urgent operations
in England will be postponed, to free up beds to tackle the pandemic;
18 March – Government announces that most schools across England will be closed,
except for those looking after the children of key workers and vulnerable children.
19 March – publication of hospital discharge guidance. Government announces
£1.6bn for local authorities and £1.3bn to NHS and social care to allow up to 15,000
people to be discharged from hospital.
20 March – Government orders pubs, restaurants, gyms and social venues to close.

16









21 March – guidance issued on shielding and protecting people defined on medical
grounds as extremely vulnerable.
23 March - Boris Johnson addresses the nation to outline “lockdown measures”, with
police powers to enforce the measures.
14 April – WBC and CCG raise concerns about care homes in the Borough.
15 April – Government launches a new network to provide personal protective
equipment (PPE) to care home staff. NHS England and the Care Quality Commission
roll out tests for care home staff and residents.
22 April – WBC maps out new protocol and Task Force model for care homes.
15 May – Government announces that every resident and staff member in care
homes in England will be tested by early June.
5 June – details of the national PPE portal published.

1.3 The Council’s Strategic Approach
At the heart of and throughout the response, the following general principles have been
applied:





Acting in response to and in accordance with Government Policy and Legislative
announcements – notwithstanding the Council regularly received little or no prenotification;
Adhering to guidance from Public Health England;
Co-coordinating and collaborating with partners to harness resources efficiently and
effectively;
Being outward-facing, linking with national, regional, sub-regional bodies,
participating in Ministerial briefings.

The overall approach can be summarised as follows:














Utilising the Council’s existing emergency planning processes to enact a
coordinated, managed, and timely response to the crisis (see para 1.4 below);
Seeking to protect residents in Care Homes by taking action locally (see para 2.1
below);
Maintaining critical services for the most vulnerable residents including Children and
Young People (see para 2.2) and the wider community (para 2.3);
Maintaining universal services such as, for example, waste collection, recycling, and
highways (para 2.4);
Providing financial support to local businesses and the local economy (para 2.5);
Utilising the Council’s workforce through redeployment of staff to those services and
activities of greatest need to the community (para 2.6);
Maintaining local democracy through “virtual” Council meetings, accessible by the
public (para 2.7);
Communicating regularly and clearly with residents, businesses, partners, elected
Members and staff (para 2.8);
Considering the impacts on particular parts of the community e.g. Black & Minority
Ethic (BAME) (para 2.9);
Identifying opportunities to positively impact the Council’s Climate Emergency
agenda (para 2.10);
Identifying and monitoring the financial impacts of Covid-19 (para 2.11);
Taking a risk based approach to decision-making (para 2.12);
Planning ahead for the “Restart” and “Recovery” phases of the emergency (para
2.13).

17

The Council has been just one organisation in the overall response to the crisis. There is
a complex matrix of public and private organisations, at both national and local levels,
tasked with responding to the Government’s overall strategy and policy. This has been
an unprecedented crisis and the Council has worked in partnership with many others. It
is recommended that the approach to scrutinising the Council’s response calls for
evidence and feedback from as many of these key partners as possible.
1.4 WBC Emergency Plans and Mobilisation
The initial Emergency Planning group was mobilised on the 28th February 2020, led by
the Director of Adult Services, Public Health, and the Emergency Planning Team. This
was in response to the rising concerns related to Covid-19 in the UK as set out in the
timeline above. The Council had a tested, clear, understood, Emergency Response Plan
that was found to be effective. As the Covid-19 situation developed, this group
transitioned into Gold and Silver senior leadership groups, led by the Chief Executive, as
is best practice in a Major Incident scenario.
The Gold/Silver groups led the strategic and tactical organisational response. They are
made up of Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) members (and deputies) and key
representatives from Human Resources/Communications/Emergency Planning/IT.
These core groups were meeting 3 times daily through March and April to ensure the
organisational and community impacts and needs were understood and responded to
rapidly. Each Directorate identified where pressures were being experienced and/or
expected. This information was fed into the daily strategic and tactical groups to ensure
adequate action plans and mitigating steps were in place.
Response plans to Covid-19 covered the following areas:









Public Health updates and guidance
Updates from the Local Resilience Forum (LRF)
Individual Directorate impacts
Communications
Resourcing and redeployment
Human Resources
Finance and Economy
Public Events

In tandem with Response, the Council commenced the Recovery phase of the Major
Incident. This dual approach is recommended by the Local Resilience Forum (LRF) and
the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) as Recovery is
an integral part of the emergency management process and is distinct from, but will
usually overlap with the response phase.
The elements are defined as follows:



Response – the immediate activity to support an emergency or Major Incident;
Recovery - the process of rebuilding, restoring and rehabilitating the community
following an emergency.

The Council’s Recovery programme is made up of a number of core workstreams, which
are led by Extended CLT (ECLT) and governed by CLT.

18









Business and Economy
Community Wellbeing
Community Engagement
Communications
Our People and Accommodation
Finance and Legal
Impact and Assessment

The recovery process comprises the following overlapping activities:



Consequence management, taking steps to prevent the escalation of the impacts
of the Major Incident;
Restoring the well-being of individuals, communities and the infrastructure which
supports them.

Wokingham Borough’s local Response and Recovery plans have been connected to the
Thames Valley strategic groups. This wider, strategic structure ensures the Council is
linked into the national picture and able to feed into and escalate to the Local Resilience
groups and ultimately to MHCLG.
1.5 Outbreak Control Plan
The Council is developing an Outbreak Control Plan which will ultimately ensure the
Borough is prepared to support the community with any local outbreak, in line with
Public Health England guidance. The Outbreak Control plan will create an operating
model that has key links to Public Health Berkshire, Thames Valley Local Resilience
Forum and the Health and Wellbeing Board
The Wokingham Borough Outbreak Control Plan is built upon core activity within the
seven elements below:
i. Local Outbreaks:

Mapping of detailed workflows for children’s services, educational settings, social
care/providers, sheltered housing and developing protocols to ensure cases
identified by local intelligence are captured;

There will be a 7 day week process for dealing with cases, outbreaks and
complex cases via a front door route established with PPP.
ii. High risk places:

Detailed plans for high risk areas where people can find compliance, distancing
and quarantine difficult in order to prevent, monitor and react. These plans will
include control measures, protocols, communication and the response
mobilisation process.
iii. Testing capacity:

Identification is in progress of suitable locations/WBC sites depending on the
location of an outbreak with criteria for mobile testing.
iv. Contact tracing:

Proposed joint management of outbreaks with Public Health England (PHE)/Local
Authority on procedures and local arrangements in review to support outbreaks.
v. Data integration:

19



The flow of information from local intelligence and the national system is being
mapped to process including the monitoring and tracking of data with dashboard
oversight.

vi. Vulnerable people:

A robust, operation is currently in place via a local community support hub.
Processes are being mapped for out of hours arrangements and review of
requirements.
vii.



Local Boards:
Pan Berkshire governance structures and terms of reference are in review and set
up;
Members/Leaders will be involved to engage with the public.

SECTION 2 – SPECIFIC UPDATES BY THEME/SERVICE
2.1 Care Homes
The Borough’s care homes have worked tirelessly through this extremely difficult period
to protect and support their residents. Local care homes are usually run by private or
voluntary sector service providers. Private care homes are run for profit by private
organisations and individual proprietors. Voluntary sector homes are not-for-profit and
are run by registered charities, religious organisations and housing associations,
sometimes for specific groups of people.
There are 53 Care Quality Commission (CQC) registered care home settings within
Wokingham Borough. This is a broad definition and includes both older people care
homes (residential and nursing) and learning disability care homes.
95% of the care homes in the Borough, inspected by the CQC, were rated as ‘good’ or
‘outstanding’ prior to the outbreak of the virus (February 2020).
As Councillors and Council Officers became increasingly concerned about the situation
in care homes locally, we lobbied our MPs, the Local Resilience Forum, Public Health
England and the NHS for testing of those being discharged to our care homes. We also
lobbied for improved supplies of PPE, more testing in care homes and more infection
control nursing support. We increased our support to local care homes, including
providing emergency supplies of PPE and sending staff teams into homes to support
with specific issues.
Despite this lobbying and support, Government guidelines continued to allow the
potential discharge of patients with coronavirus into our care homes, so we took the
decision on 21st April to suspend hospital discharge into our care homes. Discharges
could only occur if the patient had been tested or the care home had the correct
infection control procedures in place and could confidently isolate the resident if
needed.
Locally, we established a protocol and task force with health and social care colleagues.
This process works proactively with our care homes to prevent the spread of COVID-19,
assess and support their readiness to take and manage positive cases and ensure they
receive all the support they need. It also supports the Councils safeguarding function.

20

The task force is just one way the Borough Council has supported care homes during
the pandemic crisis. Other initiatives include:
•
•
•
•

•

An improved funding deal for care homes we contract with, prepayments to support
with cash flow plus ability to apply for additional temporary funding;
Help with supply of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) – over 386,000 pieces of
PPE have been supplied to our care homes;
Regular advice and guidance including financial sustainability and infection controlover 400 calls to registered care homes;
Testing for staff with symptoms – more than 250 staff tested, plus others who have
self-referred for testing via the government website (we are unable to quantify how
many have self-referred, as we do not receive this data);
Offer of access to staff in an emergency Infection control hotline established.

Adult Social Care has been working with our local providers to facilitate mutual aid
across the sector. This has included:
•
•
•
•

Wokingham Provider Portal; online access to relevant guidance and supporting
information;
Establishing the Care Workers Support Team; pool of care worker staff and
facilitated central recruitment programme;
7 day working across social care and commissioning to facilitate hospital discharge
and support providers;
Spiritual and emotional support is available through the Community Hub.

Comparative Number of Deaths in Care Homes
Any local death is an extremely important issue for Wokingham Borough Council.
Officers have been working hard to support local care homes during the pandemic since
March, as evidenced above.
The Office for National Statistics (ONS) publishes data on COVID19-related deaths
within all care homes across the country. This ONS data shows the following:


Between the 1st January and 29th May 2020, 73 (Covid19 related) deaths occurred
within Wokingham Borough care homes – this equates to a rate of 54 Covid-19
deaths per 1,000 care home beds in Wokingham;



Despite having the second highest number of care home beds in Berkshire, the
COVID19 death rate in Wokingham is not the worst death rate in comparison to
neighbouring boroughs.

However, the public are advised to take extra caution when comparing Covid-19 deaths
between neighbouring authorities. This is because different boroughs have different
population sizes, with different age structures – some with more elderly residents than
others. Therefore, in order to make fairer comparisons, it is crucial that we standardise
the ONS data to take account of the number of residents, their ages, their
vulnerabilities, and the number of care homes across each borough. We are publishing
this data on our website – a copy of the latest situation report dated 10 June 2020 is
appended to this report for information.

21

2.2 Children’s Services and Schools
In response to Covid-19, Children’s Social Care has adapted and amended how we
deliver our services. This is to ensure that both workers and children are safe, and risks
are mitigated. Our changes have been informed by Government advice and guidance
on social distancing, good hygiene and not undertaking unnecessary journeys. In
summary, the changes to practice and service delivery are:






Risk assessments and mitigation of risks;
Family visits, ensuring the provision and correct use of PPE;
Adapting our service offer and supporting families differently;
Digital Tech supporting engagement with families;
Remote working – ensuring good practice and procedures.

We are focused on keeping children safe, staff safety and our statutory duties. This is a
delicate balancing process.
Most workers are now working from home. This has been supported by the roll out of IT
equipment and some changes to our recording system to ensure we are accurately
recording how visits take place (either virtually by phone, video call or face to face).
Workers currently based at home are undertaking work, for example any community
activity i.e. visits.
All Child Protection visits in Borough are ongoing and are face-to-face using all safety
precautions as required. Child Protection Conferences and Looked After Reviews are
taking place remotely via conference calls.
All ‘Looked After Children’ cases have been reviewed and, where possible, visit
timeframes amended, in line with the statutory requirement relating to each case. The
availability of new Apps and software has supported the use of video calling to
communicate with children regularly. The Bridges Resource Centre is continuing to offer
a residential respite service, although this has been slightly reduced.
All court applications for Public Law (where we need to protect a child) and Youth
Justice are being completed remotely via video link. The number of contacts made to
our ‘front door’ (Duty, Triage and Assessment) has reduced and we are using some of
the capacity created to support pressures and gaps in other teams and to assist with
visits.
We are meeting weekly with the Berkshire West Safeguarding Children Partnership
(health and Police) to identify and address any issues or themes as they arise.
We have been working with our schools and learning community, to continue to provide
students at home work packages and/or on-line learning materials to support their
continuing education during this period.
For our Looked After Children (for whom we are the Corporate Parent), we have
provided a range of additional resources to assist with home learning such as on line
encyclopaedia, and are providing online 1:1 tutoring to support children’s engagement
with their work packages. Feedback from carers and young people is that this support
has been welcomed and we have seen some of our Looked after Children re-engage
with schools-based learning as a result.

22

We have continued to deliver our Personal Education Plan (PEP) meetings, to support
children’s learning development and will soon be moving to an online PEP system to
make this smoother and easier for Looked after Children and their carers to engage.
2.3 Community Response
In terms of shielding and support to vulnerable adults the Council has gone from helping
1,850 people to 5,000 almost overnight.
The Wokingham Borough Community Response (WBCR) provides a single point of
contact for residents to access support during the Covid-19 pandemic.
Citizens Advice Wokingham provides “One Front Door” for residents. Council staff and
Citizens Advice staff and volunteers take phone calls and respond to emails requesting
support. They work together to asses residents’ needs, providing advice and getting
people the right support, including referring to other services such as:





the Link Visiting Scheme’s “Talking Buddies” programme for people feeling isolated
and lonely;
the Wokingham Foodbank for those struggling financially to access food;
Wokingham Volunteer Centre have supported collecting and delivering pharmacy
prescriptions;
First Days Children’s Charity have supported the Food hub to deliver food parcels.

Wokingham Volunteer Centre and The Link Visiting Scheme have supported the
recruitment of over 600 additional volunteers. Age UK have expanded their Home from
Hospital Scheme to provide additional support to those returning home from a stay in an
acute hospital.
The community engagement team are also making sure they are keeping in contact
with the families in their areas they know and support regularly and key information has
been shared on our ‘Your community’ Facebook page.
All sheltered tenants (245) were contacted within 3 days (week commencing 16th
March) and an assessment was completed with them to ascertain the level of service
they need during the pandemic. From doing this, we moved the majority of homes to an
electronic ‘I’m ok system’. This means we have reduced unnecessary direct contact with
the residents who do not need it daily. The others have received either a daily telephone
call or a daily visit if assessed, as needed.
Each of the tenants in sheltered accommodation has also received information with all
of the floating support and the manager’s telephone numbers, so if they need anything
they can contact someone directly. A daily presence from floating support or housing
officers has been maintained on each of the schemes and regular follow up calls put in
place.
Officers called all our tenants who have someone in their household who is over 65
years of age. If they needed further assistance they were scheduled for a further call
each week. If there was an immediate need for assistance they were referred to the
CAB Front Door via the website directly by the person making the call.
As of 09 June 2020, the Wokingham Borough Community Response (WBCR) has:

23













Assisted over 2,000 residents through the Front Door Scheme;
Delivered food parcels to around 680 older people, across the borough (aged 70+);
Nearly 500 children are living in households also receiving food parcels;
The distribution hub are delivering to over 800 households and have done over
4,000 deliveries to date;
Helped 15 independent community led volunteer groups, including weekly check-ins
with Black And Minority Ethnic (BAME) community groups;
Picked up and delivered 791 prescriptions;
Provided fortnightly telephone checks for over 1,600 people;
Supported 50 people through the home from hospital scheme;
Worked with Adult Social Care to contact 5,000 (currently around 4,700) vulnerable
people to check on their health and welfare;
All sheltered housing tenants (around 260) have been contacted;
Council has contacted around 800 housing tenants;
Contacted all general need housing tenants who have someone in their household
aged over 65.

2.4 Universal Services
The impact of Covid-19 on Council services has been profound. It has affected all
aspects of the Council’s business. Whilst the Council’s focus has been on critical
matters such as supporting care homes and working with partners on the community
response, the Council has also sought to deliver universal services in the same way as
far as possible. At the same time, staff have been redeployed extensively throughout
the organisation to ensure there was staff capacity in the right places which can be
flexed and adapted as required.
The Council has tried to maintain those services that affect most, if not all of our
residents going, such as highways maintenance, waste collection and recycling (see
case study below). We have not only achieved this in most services, we have also
escalated improvement and repair work to the Borough’s highways, taking advantage of
the opportunity of far fewer cars on the road network. This has included ‘hard to do’
works including the Showcase Roundabout. Works started on a programme of 17
accelerated carriageway resurfacing schemes on 6th April 2020, which should be
completed by mid-June. At the same time, we suspended Civil Parking Enforcement.
We decided to continue to collect garden waste, and as a result, whilst the RE3
Partnership were forced to close the Household Waste Recycling Centres (which have
now re-opened) we have not seen the exceptional increases in fly-tipping that have
been reported elsewhere in the country. Our Localities Enforcement Team have
continued working and dealing with a full range of issues throughout.
We have kept our Country Parks open, allowing residents to enjoy open space and,
whilst we had to close the car parks for the early weeks of the crisis, we have now reopened them and provided additional staffing resources to ensure that visitors are
aware of the social distancing guidance.
Despite most of our staff working from home, we’ve managed to maintain a full front-line
service to residents contacting the Borough through our Customer Delivery service, with
staff dealing with online and telephone requests. We are largely paperless and can
access most of the information we need electronically. We have only stopped those
services such as weddings, citizenship ceremonies and birth registrations where the
Government has requested that we do so.

24

We acted quickly to provide safe emergency accommodation for homeless households,
rough sleepers, children in care and repatriated residents as well as temporary
accommodation for essential key workers. And we have liaised with local bus operators
to ensure that the much reduced levels of service still meet the essential needs of
residents and key workers.
Whilst we had to close our libraries in line with Government restrictions we have
expanded and promoted our range of online services to include electronic books and
magazines, added free music streaming and a whole series of online virtual events. A
large proportion of the library staff were rapidly re-deployed to provide additional
assistance to the most vulnerable.
Using staff re-deployed from services which have had to scale down we’ve provided
advice, support and funding to local businesses impacted by the lockdown. This has
meant that funding crucial for their survival has been allocated quickly and efficiently.
Case Study – Waste and Recycling
The Council’s waste collection service is delivered by Veolia who have worked with the
Council throughout the crisis in an adaptable, flexible and pragmatic way to ensure that
the best possible service is delivered to our residents, whilst following government
guidelines to ensure the safety of the workforce and the public. Veolia has provided a
full service without disruption throughout this period, a feat achieved by only 38% of
Councils in England.
A range of alterative operational practices have been implemented by Veolia to reduce
staff contact and secure social distancing. Appropriate PPE and testing have been
made available to Veolia’s staff. Where staff have self-isolated, additional agency staff
have been employed to maintain collections within the Borough. Fortunately, Veolia’s
absence levels have remained below 20% and service levels have been maintained.
In terms of the amount of waste and recycling collected, April and May saw a 17%
increase in general waste collected and a 13% increase in dry recycling. Food waste
increased by 50% over the same period. There was also a 50% increase in garden
waste tonnages. This reflected the closure of the re3 recycling centres, the warm
weather and more residents being able/willing to work in the garden due to the
lockdown.
In previous years, the Council has delivered around 900 garden waste bins to residents
in April. This year the number increased to 1,800.
2.5 Support for Businesses
Local authorities have received funding from central government to distribute to, and
support, small and medium businesses (SMEs) in England during coronavirus. The
Council was allocated £20.5million to support up to 1,721 SMEs in the borough who
were considered eligible for this funding. Currently, 1,320 SMEs have claimed and are
receiving this funding; a total of £17.3million. Hence 84% of the government funding
received has been allocated to SMEs as at 11 June 2020 as shown in the chart below.

25

% paid of total estimated eligible businesses

Percentage paid

14/06

07/06

31/05

24/05

17/05

10/05

03/05

26/04

19/04

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

12/04

£20,000,000
£18,000,000
£16,000,000
£14,000,000
£12,000,000
£10,000,000
£8,000,000
£6,000,000
£4,000,000
£2,000,000
£0

05/04

Amount of grant paid

COV-19 Business Support Grants Progress Chart

Total amount paid

2.6 Support for Council Staff
As well as creating a dedicated area of the Intranet that provides signposting and
information with regard to Physical and Mental wellbeing, we have ensured that
individual risk assessments are conducted for staff who are clinically vulnerable or
clinically extremely vulnerable and the appropriate mitigations put in place. Until further
guidance is forthcoming from the government, we are including following clinically
vulnerable guidance when assessing risk for BAME employees.
All staff have also been encouraged to ensure they have the correct equipment for
home working and the Council has supplied screens, chairs and peripherals when these
have been required.
The Council has used its workforce flexibly over the past three months with significant
numbers redeployed to areas of greatest need as shown in the charts below.
WBC Staff FTE Redeployments over time
80
60
40
20

Customer Delivery
Food distribution hub
Citizen's advice
Government Grants-Local Business
Meet & greet at Extra Care
Physical Welfare Checks
Care Worker Support Team
ASC Welfare calls
Link
Comms, HR, Operational Property
Covid-19 testing

0.00

4.00

26

8.00

12.00

09/06

07/06

05/06

03/06

01/06

30/05

28/05

26/05

24/05

22/05

20/05

18/05

16/05

14/05

12/05

10/05

08/05

06/05

04/05

02/05

30/04

28/04

26/04

24/04

22/04

20/04

0

2.7 Maintaining Local Democracy
In April 2020, the Government put new regulations in place which enabled local
authority meetings to be held remotely, including allowing remote access by members
of the public. Working together, the Democratic Services, People Development and IT
teams enabled a remote meeting solution using Microsoft Teams to allow the normal
Council meeting calendar to continue. IT focussed on technical implementation, whilst
People Development focused on training Members and Officers to use the new
technology. Democratic Services focussed on producing a practical meeting template
whilst adhering to government legislation and the practicalities of running a Council
meeting. In addition, a remote streaming software was enabled to allow simultaneous
broadcasting of the meeting for public viewing whilst maintaining a good level of security
for each meeting to take place.
2.8 Communication and Engagement
Communication and engagement during WBC’s response to Covid-19 has followed the
objectives of providing:















Clear advice to residents on health issues;
Social distancing messages;
Updates on WBC services, (including those temporarily suspended, altered and
ongoing);
Guidance on how residents can get help (including Wokingham Borough
Community Response);
Appeal for Personal Protection Equipment;
Information for businesses on support available;
Advice and support on mental health issues;
Links to useful information for home educating and coping with family life in
lockdown;
Advice for domestic abuse victims;
Warnings on potential scams;
Celebration of social care work;
Thanks to key workers (including in ongoing services such as waste and recycling);
Explanation of closure decisions such as play areas, country park car parks
libraries, leisure centres and Council reception;
Promotion of WBC response including staff redeployment, support for voluntary
sector, flexible service delivery (online library offer and exercise videos).

These messages have been delivered through:







Leaflet drops across Borough;
Social media;
Print and broadcast media;
Town and Parish Councils;
WBC Leader’s update;
Direct email (Wokingham Borough Connect) – a bulletin sent directly to signed-up
residents. During Covid-19 crisis this is being sent to approximately 40,000 people
to provide updates on WBC services and health information.

Communication and engagement activity has been reported daily to the Covid-19 Daily
Meeting.

27

2.9 Impact of Covid-19 on the Community (including the Black and Minority Ethic
Community)
A report by Public Health England titled “Disparities in the risk and outcomes of Covid19”, published on 2 June 2020, found that the largest disparity found was by age.
Among people already diagnosed with Covid-19, people who were 80 or older were
seventy times more likely to die than those under 40. Risk of dying among those
diagnosed with Covid-19 was also higher in males than females; higher in those living in
the more deprived areas than those living in the least deprived; and higher in those in
Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups than in White ethnic groups.
These inequalities largely replicate existing inequalities in mortality rates in previous
years, except for BAME groups, as mortality was previously higher in White ethnic
groups. These analyses take into account age, sex, deprivation, region and ethnicity,
but they do not take into account the existence of comorbidities, which are strongly
associated with the risk of death from Covid-19 and are likely to explain some of the
differences.
When compared to previous years, the report also found a particularly high increase in
all cause deaths among those born outside the UK and Ireland; those in a range of
caring occupations including social care and nursing auxiliaries and assistants; those
who drive passengers in road vehicles for a living including taxi and minicab drivers and
chauffeurs; those working as security guards and related occupations; and those in care
homes. These analyses do not take into account the existence of comorbidities, which
are strongly associated with the risk of death from Covid-19 and could explain some of
these differences.
The Government is considering its response to the report but it is recommended that the
Committee refer to this report as key evidence when formulating its response to the
emergency – a copy is appended.
2.10 Climate Emergency
Members will be aware of the impact of the pandemic on carbon emissions across the
world with the shutdown of industry and a huge reduction in travel. The International
Energy Agency expects global industrial greenhouse gas emissions to be about 8%
lower in 2020 than 2019, the largest annual reduction since World War II. However, this
reduction will have no real impact if countries return to a pre-pandemic level of
emissions. China, for example, has announced that it will loosen environmental
regulations in order to boost the post-pandemic recovery. Global warming depends on
the level of cumulative emissions to date, so a brief pause will not affect the long-term
trend.
Experts believe that the pandemic provides an opportunity to implement new policies
and practices which result in a reduced carbon impact. For example, the Council, along
with many businesses, has been able to maintain operations and services with the vast
majority of staff working from home. Many organisations will be looking at the future
potential for similar arrangements which may produce positive environmental,
productivity, welfare and cost benefits.
The Executive Member for Climate Emergency will be assessing the impact of the
pandemic on the Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan. The Committee has also

28

established a Climate Emergency Task and Finish Group which has started work on
reviewing the Action Plan.
2.11 Financial Impact
The Council’s 2019/20 Budget outturn report, presented already, accounts for the
impact on the Council’s accounts of the Covid-19 pandemic for that financial year. The
direct costs for 2019/20 were £104k. These costs were offset by the first tranche of
grant funding from the Government which was received before the year end. Indirect
costs were absorbed by the services as these were minimal for the final weeks in March
and these figures are already in the outturn figures.
The main impact of Covid-19 on the Council will be in the current financial year
(2020/21). Grant funding, less that used in 2019/20, has been carried forward into the
current year. Even with this and the second Government allocation from, the Council will
still face a pressure on its 2020/21 budgets as a result of the response to the pandemic.
Although the Council’s Financial Management arrangements remain sound we have
unprecedented challenges as a result of this crisis and must, therefore, continue to
ensure that resources are targeted to those in our community who are most in need.
In relation to the Capital Programme, it is likely that there will be some delays in the
capital projects within the programme, as the Covid-19 pandemic will undoubtedly affect
the supply chain for the Council’s various contractors. However, the early signs are that
the economy is starting to move again and the construction industry is returning to work,
in accordance with the Government guidance on social distancing. Officers are currently
reviewing the Capital Programme with a view to considering any impact of Covid-19 on
resourcing and potential changes to service requirements. Proposed changes to the
Capital Programme will be reported back to Executive.
With regard to Scrutiny’s involvement in budget setting and understanding the financial
impact of Covid-19, it is suggested that the process used last year (i.e. Community &
Corporate 0&S detailed scrutiny) is replicated starting in autumn 2020 to consider
proposals for the Council’s 2021/22 budget.
2.12 Risk Management
Throughout the Covid-19 emergency, the Council has taken a proactive approach to
managing the many risks associated with the situation. This is on a number of different
levels including:





Maintaining an operational Covid-19 risk register since March 2020 to help manage the
immediate operational response;
Reviewing the Council’s Corporate Risk Register for the impact of Covid-19 (reviewed
by the Audit Committee on 3 June 2020);
Producing a Covid-19 risk-based Community Impact Assessment for the local
resilience forum;
Producing a risk register to manage the risks associated with the Recovery
Programme.

The Audit Committee will continue to monitor the risk management process and assure
itself of the effectiveness of risk management governance at its future meetings.
2.13 Restart and Recovery
As the Council’s response to the crisis stabilised, officers began planning for Restart
between May and September and Recovery over the next 12-18 months.

29

The Restart phase will focus on reviewing projects and activities which have been paused
and the reopening of services. The pace and detail of this will be determined by the lifting of
the Government’s restrictions. It seems clear at this stage however that increased home
working and virtual meetings will become the norm for many staff.
The Recovery exercise is more strategic and outward focussed, and will be framed both by
the Corporate Plan priorities and available financial resources. It will be influenced by the
ongoing legacy of the crisis, but the opportunity will be taken to explore radical approaches
to services facilitated by the evolving ‘new normal’.
Running across all work-streams is “insight and opportunity” ensuring the Council captures
and takes forward the learning from the last few months. Other work-streams included in
the Recovery programme include:










support for the local economy and businesses;
community recovery and engagement;
environment and planning;
member engagement and development
staffing and accommodation;
contracts;
finance and legal;
communications;
debrief, i.e. lessons learned from the “major incident.”

As plans are developed, stakeholders will be consulted as appropriate and further reports
will be brought forward in due course.
SECTION 3 – SUGGESTED SCRUTINY APPROACH
3.1 Principles
Given the widespread impact of Covid-19, the complexity of responses in that the Council
was only one of a number of agencies and organisations involved, the fact officers remain
heavily focused on resetting services, and the need to learn lessons in a relatively short
timescale should a second wave occur, it will be important for the Committee to focus on
those subjects that offer the largest benefit to the community both in terms of improvement
but equally ensuring the things that have served us well are maintained.
It is suggested that the overall approach should combine each of the following three
objectives:


To educate and inform – e.g. each piece of Scrutiny should commence with a session
for Members to be provided with an overview of the Council’s statutory duties, other
agencies’ responsibilities, etc.;



To learn lessons with regards to both things we can improve/do differently and things
that worked well;



To inform the Restart and Recovery programme of work.

30

3.2 Indicative Timetable
Theme
Care Homes
Schools & Children’s Services
Finance & Business
Community response
Recovery

Educative Session
Early July (tbc)
Early September (tbc)
N/A
August (tbc)
September

O&S Committee
HOSC (date tbc)
Children’s Services
Community & Corporate
Community & Corporate
Management Committee

3.3 Conclusion and Lessons Learned So Far
Fundamentally, the Council has learned that our resilience and Business Continuity
plans are sound, and have worked well. The Council’s investment in digital technology
to enable staff to work from home has also proved its worth beyond doubt.

We have also learned that, as an organisation, we are able to flex and adapt quickly,
and that our vital relationships with key contractors, such as our waste and highways
contractors are strong. This has enabled us to keep delivering when some other
authorities have struggled.
Learning from our early experience of social distancing within reception points and
libraries will be built into future arrangements when they are allowed to re-open. We will
strengthen our understanding of risk to ensure that our residents and our staff are able
to interact safely and effectively.
We hope to continue to build on and expand our range of online and telephone assisted
services and continue to offer organised telephone/video appointments going forward,
for the convenience of our customers.
Going forward we will develop our relationship with local businesses further, particularly
regarding promoting and accessing grants, and assisting with health checks, and
explore how we can build on any benefits and opportunities.
Similarly, the partnership that we have built with the voluntary and community sector will
be strengthened as we move forward. At the same time because our contact with
vulnerable people in the Borough has been extensive, using many extra staff, we now
know much more about the needs of this this community, which can be fed into future
thinking about service provision.
Officers are committed to capturing lessons learnt from the last few months as
resources permit. It is proposed that feedback will be sought from stakeholders
including Councillors, the Voluntary Sector, Partners, residents and staff in order to see
not only what can be learnt from this unprecedented emergency but also to identify the
many strengths that have been demonstrated.
Notwithstanding the many positive aspects of the Council’s response to date, the
Committee should note that it not sustainable to flex the workforce and other resources
indefinitely over a prolonged period of time – the impact on the Council, its workforce, and
its finances over the past three months of intensive activity has been severe and the
Committee is asked to consider this as part of its approach to scrutinising the Council’s
response.

31

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.

How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Revenue or Capital?

0

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
NA

0

NA

NA

0

NA

NA

NA

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
Although there are no specific financial implications associated with this report, it
must be noted that the Council’s financial response to the emergency has had a
huge impact and is not sustainable without additional Government funding.

Cross-Council Implications
The Covid-19 pandemic has impacted on every part of the Council’s operations,
as set out in the report. Staff and financial resources have been redeployed to
ensure that residents, community organisations and businesses have been
supported and protected during over the past few months.

Public Sector Equality Duty
Scrutiny of any aspects of the response should consider the way the Council discharged
its equality duties.
List of Background Papers
None
Contact Andrew Moulton
Telephone No 0118 974
Date 16 June 2020

Service Corporate Services
Email andrew.moulton@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 2.0

32

33

COVID19 Situation Report
Data & Analytics
R e p o r t D a t e : We d n e sd ay 1 0 th J u n e 2 0 2 0
Mustafa Kamara, Senior Public Health Programme Officer
M e r a d i n P e a c h e y, C o n s u l t a n t i n P u b l i c H e a l t h
P u b l i c . H e a l t h @ W o k i n g h a m . g o v. u k
1

Contents
▪

Local COVID19 Detected Cases

▪

Local COVID19 Detection Rates

▪

Age Standardised Death Rates – Local Comparisons

▪

Weekly Death Rates – All Settings

▪

Local COVID19 Cumulative Deaths reported by NHS Trust

▪

COVID19 Cumulative Deaths in local care homes

▪

34

All-cause mortality: Cumulative deaths in local care homes

▪

National COVID19 Figures

▪

National & Regional COVID19 Trends

▪

Global Comparison – Total COVID19 Deaths

2

Local COVID19 Detected Cases [DHSC Data]
• As of Tuesday 9th June 2020, 452 Wokingham
residents have tested positive for COVID19
(lab-confirmed cases) since the beginning of the
outbreak.

• It is expected that the true number of positive
COVID19 cases in Wokingham is higher than
the lab confirmed cases detected by PHE, with
many asymptomatic residents going undiagnosed.

35

➢ 2,443 COVID19 cases have been detected
across Berkshire in total.
➢ The Borough of Reading has reported the
highest number of cases in Berkshire: 591.

452 cases
among residents of
Wokingham

591 cases
among residents of
Reading

382 cases
among residents of
West Berkshire

259 cases
among residents of
Bracknell Forest

301 cases
among residents of
Windsor & Maidenhead

458 cases
among residents of
Slough

Map: Outline of 6 Upper Tier Local Authorities in Berkshire

3

Local COVID19 Detection rates [PHE Data]
• The rate of newly detected COVID19 cases in
Wokingham appears to be slowing down.

• Lowest incidence: Dorset – 97 per 100,000
• Highest incidence: Sunderland – 499 per 100,000
• National incidence: England – 278 per 100,000

• Since the beginning of the outbreak, the total
COVID19 cases detected in Wokingham stands
at 269 cases per 100,000 people. This number
is similar to the national average.

400
Total Lab Confirmed Cases
Expressed as a rate per 100,000 persons

36

New lab-confirmed cases of COVID19 detected in Wokingham each day

COVID19 incidence rates:
Wokingham compared to neighbouring boroughs
N.B. rates below are not age-standardised

350
300
250
200
150
100

50
0
Reading

Slough

Wokingham

West
Berkshire

Bracknell
Forest

Windsor and
Maidenhead

England

Source: Public Health England, ONS Mid-year population estimates

4

Age Standardised Death Rates – Local Comparison [ONS Data]
Latest data available for this analysis: Deaths occurring between 1 March and 17 April 2020
Next update for this analysis: Yet to be announced by ONS

• Comparing rates between multiple geographical areas can be
made more-reliable when taking into account the differences in
age structures of the populations that live in them.
• This is particularly true if the characteristic being compared varies
by age; which is the case for deaths caused by COVID19 as older
groups are more at risk of dying.

•

Lowest COVID19 Death Rate in the country :
North Lincolnshire - 7 per 100,000

•

Highest COVID19 Death Rate in the country :
Newham - 144 per 100,000

•

National COVID19 Death Rate :
England - 37 per 100,000

• Age standardised death rates are used to make better
comparisons, because they account for the differences in the age
structure of the populations being compared.

Age standardised Death Rates:
Wokingham compared to neighbouring boroughs
All Deaths registered between: 1st March & 17th April 2020

37

250

Results
• All things being equal, Wokingham reported a lower rate (32 per
100,000 persons) of COVID19 related deaths in comparison to
most local authorities in Berkshire (As of 17th April).
• The age-standardised death rate for Wokingham is also lower
than the national average.

226
197

200

Death Rate (per 100,000)

• For this particular analysis, all populations were mathematically
adjusted to have the same age structure as a reference population,
known as the ‘standard population’. In this way, all groups were
given the same age distribution so that a more representative
picture of COVID19 deaths across neighbouring boroughs is
provided.

164

161
141

150

129

129

100
70
52

50

39

37

32

37

29

0
Slough

Reading

Windsor and
Maidenhead

West
Berkshire

Death Rate (All Causes)

Wokingham

Bracknell
Forest

England

Death Rate (Covid related)

Source: ONS, 2020

5

Weekly Death Rates – All Settings [ONS Data]
Latest data available for this analysis: Deaths occurring up to 29th May 2020
Next update for this analysis: 16th June 2020

• The charts below show all deaths caused by COVID-19 and/or other causes (all-cause mortality) across all settings.
•

Looking at all-cause mortality can help us to measure the impact of COVID19:
➢ By comparing current (all-cause) death rates against expected rates (average weekly deaths reported across previous 5 years) we can estimate excess
deaths caused by COVID.

40
30
20

10
0

60

50
40
30
20

50
40
30
20

40
30
20

10
0

60

Av. weekly deaths in 2015-19 (all causes)

Weekly Death Rate for 2020 (All Causes)

Mortality in West Berkshire per 100,000 population
(2020 compared to 2015-19 average)

50
40
30
20

60

30
20

10

0

0

0
Weekly Death Rate for 2020 (All Causes)

Av. weekly deaths in 2015-19 (all causes)

6

40

10

Av. weekly deaths in 2015-19 (all causes)

Av. weekly deaths in 2015-19 (all causes)

Mortality in Windsor and Maidenhead per 100,000 population
(2020 compared to 2015-19 average)

50

10

Weekly Death Rate for 2020 (All Causes)

Mortality in Slough per 100,000 population
(2020 compared to 2015-19 average)

50

0
Weekly Death Rate for 2020 (All Causes)

Mortality in Reading per 100,000 population
(2020 compared to 2015-19 average)

60

10

Av. weekly deaths in 2015-19 (all causes)

Rate per 100,000 pop

Rate per 100,000 pop

Weekly Death Rate for 2020 (All Causes)

Mortality in Bracknell Forest per 100,000 population
(2020 compared to 2015-19 average)

Rate per 100,000 pop

50

60

Rate per 100,000 pop

Rate per 100,000 pop

Mortality in Wokingham per 100,000 population
(2020 compared to 2015-19 average)

60

38

Rate per 100,000 pop

• As of 29th May, excess weekly deaths in Wokingham appear to be marginally similar to expected deaths. This is also the case for neighbouring boroughs.

Weekly Death Rate for 2020 (All Causes)

Av. weekly deaths in 2015-19 (all causes)

Local COVID19 Deaths reported by NHS Trust [NHSE Data]
• Daily COVID19 deaths are published by NHS
trusts; where each trust has a different number
of hospital beds.

39

• The Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust
(which serves all residents across Berkshire
including those in Wokingham) have reported
179 deaths related to COVID19 as of 09 June
2020.

• Highest mortality rate: London North West University
Healthcare NHS Trust - 545 deaths per 1,000 beds.
• Lowest mortality rate: Northern Devon Healthcare
NHS Trust – 50 deaths per 1,000 beds.
Estimated COVID19 Death Rates:
Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust and neighbour Trust (Frimley)
compared to the worst-affected NHS Trusts in the Country
Frimley Health NHS Foundation Trust

Royal Berkshire NHS Foundaton Trust

• The Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust
(RBHFT) and neighbouring trust (Frimley) both
have lower rates of COVID19 deaths
compared to the worst-affected Trusts in
England.

Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust

University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust

London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust

0
Source: NHSE, 09.06.2020

100

200

300

400

500

600

Total number of deaths per 1,000 beds

Please note – Hospital beds are not a true population baseline
but this calculation gives an indication of what Berkshire
mortality rates might look like rather than actual.

7

COVID19 Cumulative Deaths in local care homes [ONS Data]
Latest data available for this analysis: Deaths occurring up to 29th May 2020
Next update for this analysis: 16th June 2020

•

•

•

The Office for National Statistics (ONS) publishes data
on COVID19-related deaths within all care homes
across the country.
Between 1st January and 29th May 2020, ONS reported
73 deaths form COVID19 in Wokingham this equates to
a rate of 54 COVID deaths per 1,000 care home beds
in Wokingham.

40

Despite having the second highest number of care
home beds in Berkshire, the COVID19 death rate in
Wokingham is not the worst death rate in comparison
to neighbouring boroughs.

Geography

Total COVID19-related Total Number of Care Home
Deaths reported in Care
Beds
Homes between 1st Jan and
29th May 2020
Source: CQC
Source: ONS

Reading
West Berkshire
Wokingham
Windsor and Maidenhead
Slough
Bracknell Forest

60
64
73
51
10
9

COVID19 Death Rate per
1000 Care Home Beds

842
1,009
1,352
1,598
465
464

71
63
54
32
22
19

Rate of COVID19 deaths per 1,000 care home beds
Wokingham compared to neighbouring boroughs
All Deaths notified between: 1st January & 29th May
2020
Bracknell Forest

Slough

Windsor and Maidenhead

•

•

Highest care-home death rate in England:
Hammersmith and Fulham
129 deaths per 1,000 beds.
Lowest care-home death rate in England:
North East Lincolnshire
3 deaths per 1,000 beds.

Wokingham

West Berkshire

Reading
0

20

40

60

80

Total COVID19 related deaths in Care Homes
Represented as a rate per 1000 Care Home Beds in each Local Authority

8

All-cause mortality: Cumulative deaths in local care homes [ONS Data]
Latest data available for this analysis: Deaths occurring up to 29th May 2020
Next update for this analysis: 16th June 2020

The Office for National Statistics (ONS) publishes data
on all deaths (All-cause mortality) within all care homes
across the country.

Geography

•

Between 1st January and 29th May 2020, ONS reported
209 care home deaths in Wokingham. This equates to
a rate of 155 deaths per 1,000 care home beds in
Wokingham.

West Berkshire
Slough
Windsor and Maidenhead
Reading
Wokingham
Bracknell Forest

•

Despite having the second highest number of care
home beds in Berkshire, the all-cause mortality rate in
Wokingham is one of the lowest comparison to
neighbouring boroughs.

41

•

Total Deaths (Covid19 and Total Number of Care Home
Non-covid realted) reported
Beds
in Care Homes between 1st
Jan and 29th May 2020
Source: CQC
Source: ONS

190
85
277
153
209
65

Death Rate per 1,000 Care
Home Beds

1,009
465
1,598
842
1,352
464

188
183
173
182
155
140

Rate of deaths (from all causes) per 1,000 care home beds
Wokingham compared to neighbouring boroughs
All Deaths notified between: 1st January & 29th May 2020
Bracknell Forest

Wokingham

•

Highest care-home death rate in England:
Hammersmith and Fulham
301 deaths per 1,000 beds.

Windsor and Maidenhead

Reading

Slough

•

Lowest care-home death rate in England:
Lambeth
109 deaths per 1,000 beds.

West Berkshire
0

50

100

150

200

Total deaths (from all causes) in care homes
Represented as a rate per 1000 care home beds in each Local Authority

9

National COVID19 Figures [DHSC Data]
As of 09.06.2020, 289,140 people in the UK have tested positive for COVID19. Of those hospitalised in the UK who
tested positive for coronavirus, 40,883 have sadly died.
Total lab-confirmed cases in England

UK Cumulative Total

289,140 lab-confirmed cases*

(Cumulative)

40,883 deaths
UK Daily Total (09.06.2020)

1,387 lab-confirmed cases
42

286 deaths
Total COVID19 hospital deaths in UK
(Cumulative)

England

Scotland

Wales

N. Ireland

(Cumulative)

(Cumulative)

(Cumulative)

(Cumulative)

155,651

15,653

14,480

4,805

36,521

2,415

1,410

537

Source: Public Health England
*Includes tests carried out by commercial partners which are not included in the 4 national totals

10

National & Regional COVID19 Trends [DHSC Data]
• Further analysis shows - more than half of those
testing positive in the oldest age group (across
the country) are dying.
Proportion of all COVID19 deaths by age group – Figures for England only.

• The highest number of cases and deaths in
hospitals are in London, North West and the
Midlands. Most cases are concentrated in urban
areas.
COVID19 Death Rate by England Region.

43

• COVID19 death rate appears to be higher
among ethnic minority backgrounds:
➢ Among all COVID19 hospital deaths in England,
17% were Black, Asian and minority ethnic
(BAME) even though these groups make up only
15% of the general population in England.

Ethnic minorities are dying of Covid-19 in
disproportionately high numbers.
Figures for England only.

Source: Public Health England, NHS England, ONS Ethnicity Estimates (2016)

11

Global Comparison – Total COVID19 Deaths [Johns Hopkins Data]
•

COVID19 cumulative deaths in the UK still appear to be highest in Europe.

Cumulative Deaths

Cumulative COVID19 Deaths by Country

44
Days since 50th Case Confirmed

Source: Johns Hopkins University
ONS, NRS, NISRA, Public Health England, Johns Hopkins University. The figures on deaths relate in almost all cases to patients who have died in hospital and who have tested positive for COVID19.
Slight differences in reporting in devolved administrations may mean that they include a small number of deaths outside hospital. ONS, NRS and NISRA reporting of UK deaths for all settings is based
on information from death certificates, and therefore lags daily hospital data. International reporting procedures and lags are unclear, so may not be comparing like-for-like.

12

Disparities in the risk and outcomes of
COVID-19

45

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

About Public Health England
Public Health England exists to protect and improve the nation’s health and wellbeing
and reduce health inequalities. We do this through world-leading science, research,
knowledge and intelligence, advocacy, partnerships and the delivery of specialist
public health services. We are an executive agency of the Department of Health and
Social Care, and a distinct delivery organisation with operational autonomy. We
provide government, local government, the NHS, Parliament, industry and the public
with evidence-based professional, scientific and delivery expertise and support.

Public Health England
Wellington House
133-155 Waterloo Road
London SE1 8UG
Tel: 020 7654 8000
www.gov.uk/phe
Twitter: @PHE_uk
Facebook: www.facebook.com/PublicHealthEngland
Prepared by: Epi cell, Surveillance cell and Health Intelligence team
For queries relating to this document, please contact: coviddisparitiesreview@phe.gov.uk

© Crown copyright 2020
You may re-use this information (excluding logos) free of charge in any format or
medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0. To view this licence,
visit OGL. Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need
to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.
Published June 2020
PHE publications
gateway number: GW-1311

PHE supports the UN
Sustainable Development Goals

2

46

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Contents
Executive summary
Acknowledgements
1. Age and sex
2. Geography
3. Deprivation
4. Ethnicity
5. Occupation
6. Inclusion health groups
7. Deaths in care homes
8. Comorbidities
9. Limitations
10. Data sources and methodologies
11. References
Appendices

4
9
10
20
32
39
50
54
57
60
66
69
76
81

47 3

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Executive summary
This is a descriptive review of data on disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID19. This review presents findings based on surveillance data available to PHE at the
time of its publication, including through linkage to broader health data sets. It confirms
that the impact of COVID-19 has replicated existing health inequalities and, in some
cases, has increased them. These results improve our understanding of the pandemic
and will help in formulating the future public health response to it.
The largest disparity found was by age. Among people already diagnosed with COVID19, people who were 80 or older were seventy times more likely to die than those under
40. Risk of dying among those diagnosed with COVID-19 was also higher in males than
females; higher in those living in the more deprived areas than those living in the least
deprived; and higher in those in Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups than in
White ethnic groups. These inequalities largely replicate existing inequalities in mortality
rates in previous years, except for BAME groups, as mortality was previously higher in
White ethnic groups. These analyses take into account age, sex, deprivation, region
and ethnicity, but they do not take into account the existence of comorbidities, which are
strongly associated with the risk of death from COVID-19 and are likely to explain some
of the differences.
When compared to previous years, we also found a particularly high increase in all
cause deaths among those born outside the UK and Ireland; those in a range of caring
occupations including social care and nursing auxiliaries and assistants; those who
drive passengers in road vehicles for a living including taxi and minicab drivers and
chauffeurs; those working as security guards and related occupations; and those in care
homes. These analyses do not take into account the existence of comorbidities, which
are strongly associated with the risk of death from COVID-19 and could explain some of
these differences.
When this data was analysed, the majority of testing had been offered to those in
hospital with a medical need. Confirmed cases therefore represent the population of
people with severe disease, rather than all of those who get infected. This is important
because disparities between diagnoses rates may reflect differences in the risk of
getting the infection, in presenting to hospital with a medical need and in the likelihood
of being tested.
Some analyses outlined in this review are provisional and will continue to be improved.
Further work is planned to obtain, link and analyse data that will complement these
analyses.

4

48

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

The results of this review need to be widely discussed and considered by all those
involved in and concerned with the national and local response to COVID-19. However,
it is already clear that relevant guidance, certain aspects of recording and reporting of
data, and key policies should be adapted to recognise and wherever possible mitigate
or reduce the impact of COVID-19 on the population groups that are shown in this
review to be more affected by the infection and its adverse outcomes.
As the numbers of new COVID-19 cases decrease, monitoring the infection among
those most at risk will become increasingly important. It seems likely that it will be
difficult to control the spread of COVID-19 unless these inequalities can be addressed.

Age and sex
COVID-19 diagnosis rates increased with age for both males and females. When
compared to all cause mortality in previous years, deaths from COVID-19 have a
slightly older age distribution, particularly for males.
Working age males diagnosed with COVID-19 were twice as likely to die as females.
Among people with a positive test, when compared with those under 40, those who
were 80 or older were seventy times more likely to die. These are the largest disparities
found in this analysis and are consistent with what has been previously reported in the
UK.
These disparities exist after taking ethnicity, deprivation and region into account, but
they do not account for the effect of comorbidities or occupation, which may explain
some of the differences.

Geography
The regional pattern in diagnoses rates and death rates in confirmed cases among
males were similar. London had the highest rates followed by the North West, the North
East and the West Midlands. The South West had the lowest. For females the North
East and the North West had higher diagnosis rates than London, while London had the
highest death rate.
Local authorities with the highest diagnoses and death rates are mostly urban. Death
rates in London from COVID-19 were more than three times higher than in the region
with the lowest rates, the South West. This level of inequality between regions is much
greater than the inequalities in all cause mortality rates in previous years.

49 5

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Deprivation
People who live in deprived areas have higher diagnosis rates and death rates than
those living in less deprived areas. The mortality rates from COVID-19 in the most
deprived areas were more than double the least deprived areas, for both males and
females. This is greater than the inequality seen in mortality rates in previous years,
indicating greater inequality in death rates from COVID-19.
High diagnosis rates may be due to geographic proximity to infections or a high
proportion of workers in occupations that are more likely to be exposed. Poor outcomes
from COVID-19 infection in deprived areas remain after adjusting for age, sex, region
and ethnicity, but the role of comorbidities requires further investigation.

Ethnicity
People from Black ethnic groups were most likely to be diagnosed. Death rates from
COVID-19 were highest among people of Black and Asian ethnic groups. This is the
opposite of what is seen in previous years, when the mortality rates were lower in Asian
and Black ethnic groups than White ethnic groups. Therefore, the disparity in COVID-19
mortality between ethnic groups is the opposite of that seen in previous years.
An analysis of survival among confirmed COVID-19 cases and using more detailed
ethnic groups, shows that after accounting for the effect of sex, age, deprivation and
region, people of Bangladeshi ethnicity had around twice the risk of death than people
of White British ethnicity. People of Chinese, Indian, Pakistani, Other Asian, Caribbean
and Other Black ethnicity had between 10% and 50% higher risk of death when
compared to White British.
These analyses did not account for the effect of occupation, comorbidities or obesity.
These are important factors because they are associated with the risk of acquiring
COVID-19, the risk of dying, or both. Other evidence has shown that when
comorbidities are included, the difference in risk of death among hospitalised patients is
greatly reduced.

Occupation
A total of 10,841 COVID-19 cases were identified in nurses, midwives and nursing
associates registered with the Nursing and Midwifery Council. Among those who are
registered, this represents 4% of Asian ethnic groups, 3.1% of Other ethnic groups,
1.7% of White ethnic groups and 1.5% of both Black and Mixed ethnic groups. This
analysis did not look at the possible reasons behind these differences, which may be
driven by factors like geography or nature of individuals’ roles.

6

50

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

ONS reported that men working as security guards, taxi drivers and chauffeurs, bus and
coach drivers, chefs, sales and retail assistants, lower skilled workers in construction
and processing plants, and men and women working in social care had significantly
high rates of death from COVID-19. Our analysis expands on this and shows that
nursing auxiliaries and assistants have seen an increase in all cause deaths since 2014
to 2018. For many occupations, however, the number of deaths is too small to draw
meaningful conclusions and further analysis will be required.

Inclusion health groups
When compared to previous years, there has been a larger increase in deaths among
people born outside the UK and Ireland. The biggest relative increase was for people
born in Central and Western Africa, the Caribbean, South East Asia, the Middle East
and South and Eastern Africa. This may be one of the drivers behind the differences in
mortality rates seen between ethnic groups.
There were 54 men and 13 women diagnosed with COVID-19 with no fixed abode,
likely to be rough sleepers. We estimate that this represents 2% and 1.5% of the known
population of women and men who experienced rough sleeping in 2019. Data is of poor
quality, but this suggests a much higher diagnoses rate when compared to the general
population.

People in care homes
Data from the Office for National Statistics (ONS) shows that deaths in care homes
accounted for 27% of deaths from COVID-19 up to 8 May 2020. The number of deaths
in care homes peaked later than those in hospital, in week ending 24 April.
Our analyses show that there have been 2.3 times the number of deaths in care homes
than expected between 20 March and 7 May when compared to previous years, which
equates to around 20,457 excess deaths. The number of COVID-19 deaths over this
period is equivalent to 46.4% of the excess suggesting that there are many excess
deaths from other causes or an under-reporting of deaths from COVID-19.

Comorbidities
Among deaths with COVID-19 mentioned on the death certificate, a higher percentage
mentioned diabetes, hypertensive diseases, chronic kidney disease, chronic obstructive
pulmonary disease and dementia than all cause death certificates.
Diabetes was mentioned on 21% of death certificates where COVID-19 was also
mentioned. This finding is consistent with other studies that have reported a higher risk
of death from COVID-19 among patients with diabetes. This proportion was higher in all

51 7

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

BAME groups when compared to White ethnic groups and was 43% in the Asian group
and 45% in the Black group. The same disparities were seen for hypertensive disease.
Several studies, although measuring the different outcomes from COVID-19, report an
increased risk of adverse outcomes in obese or morbidly obese people.

8

52

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Acknowledgements
All the analyses in this document were done by scientists working in the Epi cell,
Surveillance cell and Health Intelligence team at Public Health England. A draft of this
document was reviewed by the individuals and teams below, to whom we are extremely
grateful:
•
•
•
•
•

John Pullinger
Professor Andrew Hayward
Professor Keith Neal
The Race Disparity Unit (Cabinet Office)
PHE topic experts

53 9

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

1. Age and sex
1.1 Main messages
Diagnosis rates are higher among females under 60, and higher among males over 60.
Despite making up 46% of diagnosed cases, men make up almost 60% of deaths from
COVID-19 and 70% of admissions to intensive care units.
The rate of diagnosed cases increases with age, but the age profile is markedly different
among those in critical care. The largest number of patients in critical care come from
age groups between 50 and 70 for both males and females and only small numbers
aged over 80.
When compared to all cause mortality in previous years, deaths from COVID-19 have a
slightly older age distribution, particularly for males. Between the ages of 40 to 79, the
age specific death rates from COVID-19 among males were around double the rates in
females compared with 1.5 times for all cause mortality in previous years.
A survival analysis looked at people with a positive test, and those 80 or older, when
compared with those under 40, were seventy times more likely to die. These are the
largest disparities found in this analysis. Working age males diagnosed with COVID-19
were twice as likely to die as females.
The majority of excess deaths (75%) occurred in those aged 75 and over. COVID-19
deaths were equivalent to 80% of the excess in every age group, except the oldest age
group where this proportion is lower. There have been fewer deaths than expected in
children under 15 years of age.
These findings are consistent with what has been previously reported by ONS (1) and
ICNARC (2).

1.2 Background
Male sex and increasing age are known factors associated with COVID-19-related
mortality. This was apparent from early on in the pandemic among patients in Wuhan,
China (3) and evidence has since accumulated from multiple other countries (4).
Data from the Intensive Care National Audit and Research Centre (ICNARC) has
consistently reported that COVID-19 admissions to critical care are mostly among men,
making up 71.0% of admissions reported as of 21 May (2). Similarly, ONS reported
COVID-19 age-standardised mortality rate for males (781.9 deaths per 100,000) is
10

54

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

significantly higher than that for females (439.0 deaths per 100,000) (1). This difference
in risk is also observed in the hospitalised population; data from 16,649 COVID-19
positive patients in 166 UK hospitals between February and April 2020 showed that
even after controlling for age, comorbidities and obesity, female sex was associated
with a reduced risk of death (HR=0.80 (95%CI 0.72-0.89)) compared to male sex (5).
COVID-19-related mortality rates reported by ONS also increase across age groups.
For males the increase is significant from 35 to 39 years and above, and for females
from 40 to 44 years and above (1). This increase in mortality by age is also observed
among hospitalised patients; data from the same study of 16,649 COVID-19 positive
patients showed that, even after adjusting for comorbidities, sex and obesity, the risk of
dying among those over 80 was almost 14 times higher than those under 50 years old
(5).
It is not yet fully clear what drives the differences in outcomes between males and
females. Some could be driven by different risks of acquiring the infection – for example
due to behavioural and occupational factors – and by differences in how women and
men develop symptoms, access care and are diagnosed, or by biological and immune
differences that put men at greater risk.

1.3 Cases
This section presents laboratory confirmed cases under Pillar 1 testing. The majority of
testing under this pillar has been offered to those in hospital with a medical need as well
as NHS key workers, rather than the general population. Confirmed cases therefore
represent the population of people with severe disease, rather than all of those who get
infected.
As of 13 May, there had been 63,661 cases in males (46.4%) and 73,529 cases in
females (53.6%). Figure 1.1 shows the distribution of these cases by age groups and
sex.

5511

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 1.1. Age sex pyramid of laboratory confirmed COVID-19 cases as of 13 May
2020, England. Source: Public Health England Second Generation Surveillance
System.
The age standardised diagnosis rates per 100,000 population were similar in males
(256.0) and females (252.0). Among people under 60, diagnosis rates were higher in
females than males, and among people aged 60 years and older, diagnosis rates were
higher in males (Figure 1.2).
PHE has reported previously that among those who were tested, males were more
likely to have a positive test (6). This may suggest that females were tested more often
and possibly with milder disease. This could be a reflection of the higher number of
females working in occupations that expose them to the infection and could explain
higher diagnoses rates in working age females. Higher diagnosis rates among males
over 60 may reflect worse clinical outcomes in this group.

12

56

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 1.2. Diagnosis rates by sex and age as of 13 May 2020, England. Source: Public
Health England Second Generation Surveillance System.

1.4 Hospitalisations
As of 19 of May, 42 trusts had reported lower level of care patients (defined as
admission to any hospital ward, excluding intensive care units (ICU) or high
dependency units (HDU)), and 94 trusts contributed ICU/HDU (critical care) patient data
to the COVID-19 Hospitalisation in England Surveillance System (CHESS). Reporting
varies by trusts and the majority of trusts in London do not consistently report to CHESS
which will impact on the representativeness of the hospitalised cases. The data
presented in this section have not been adjusted for this, which means findings must be
interpreted with caution.
Figure 1.3 shows the age and sex distribution of COVID-19 confirmed cases in ‘lower
level of care’ and in critical care. Males make up 54.4% of patients in lower level of care
and 70.4% of patients in critical care.
For both sexes, the patient population is younger in critical care. Cases aged over 70
make up 65.5% and 67.6% of the patients in lower level of care among males and
females, respectively; in critical care, those over 70 make up only 22.0% and 17.9% of
the male and female patients, respectively. The overrepresentation of younger patients
in critical care does not necessarily reflect increased severity in this group of patients
alone but may also reflect critical care admission criteria.

5713

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 1.3. Age sex pyramids of admissions for laboratory confirmed COVID-19 to
acute trusts, for lower level of care and critical care, as of 19 May 2020, England.
Source: Public Health England COVID-19 Hospitalisations in England surveillance
system (CHESS).

1.5 Deaths in confirmed cases
As of 13 May, there had been 17,598 deaths in confirmed cases among males (59.3%)
and 12,075 in females (40.7%). 56.3% of deaths were among people 80 years and
older. Figure 1.4 shows the distribution of deaths by age groups and sex.

Figure 1.4. Age sex pyramid of laboratory confirmed COVID-19 deaths as of 13 May
2020, England. Source: Public Health England COVID-19 Specific Mortality
Surveillance System.

14

58

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Overall, the mortality rates among confirmed cases per 100,000 population among
males were 1.3 to 2.1 higher than among females for all age groups (Figure 1.5).
Overall the age standardised mortality rate in males (74.0 per 100,000) was twice that
of females (38.0 per 100,000).

Figure 1.5. Crude mortality rates of laboratory confirmed COVID-19 deaths per 100,000
population by age group and sex, as of 13 May 2020, England. Source: Public Health
England COVID-19 Specific Mortality Surveillance System.
An analysis of survival among people with confirmed COVID-19 by sex, age group,
ethnicity, deprivation and region, shows that, compared with people under 40, the
probability of death was about three times higher among those aged 40 to 49, nine
times higher among those aged 50 to 59, twenty-seven times higher among those aged
60 to 69, fifty times higher among those aged 70 to 79 and seventy times higher among
those aged 80 and over. These are the largest disparities by far found in this analysis
(Appendix A, table A1).
This analysis also showed that working age males diagnosed with COVID-19 were
twice as likely to die than females (Appendix A, table A2). For older adults (65 and over)
the disparity remains significant but is much lower, with males in this age group having
approximately 50% higher risk of death when compared to females (Appendix A, table
A3).

1.6 Comparison with inequalities in previous years
This section uses deaths reported by the Office for National Statistics (ONS) to compare
inequalities in death rates from COVID-19 between 21 March and 8 May 2020 with

5915

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

inequalities in all cause death rates for previous years (the ‘baseline all cause’ figure).
COVID-19 deaths in this section include all those where COVID-19 was mentioned on
the death certificate. These can include cases where the doctor thought it likely that the
person had COVID-19, even when there was no positive test result. The deaths
reported by ONS will include deaths that are not included in the ‘deaths in confirmed
cases’ because they did not have a positive test result confirmed by a PHE or NHS
laboratory, and may not include all ‘deaths in confirmed cases’.
There were 35,425 deaths registered between 21 March and 8 May 2020 that
mentioned COVID-19 on the death certificate. This is equivalent to 31% of all deaths
over this period.
Males accounted for 57% of deaths from COVID-19 and females 43%, while the
baseline all cause figures were 51% and 49%. This indicates that males make up a
larger percentage of COVID-19 deaths than all causes.
Among males, 54% of COVID-19 deaths were in those aged 80+ compared with 67% of
deaths among females. This compares with 48% and 64% for the baseline all cause
deaths respectively. 8% of deaths from COVID-19 among males were in those under 60
years of age compared with 6% of females. This compares with 14% and 9% for
baseline all cause deaths respectively.
Figures 1.6A and 1.6B show age specific mortality rates for all causes of death and for
deaths mentioning COVID-19 between 21 March 2020 and 8 May 2020. They also
show the baseline all cause rate using the average annual all cause mortality rates for
2014 to 2018.
Between the ages of 40 to 79, the age specific death rates among males were around
double the rates in females, compared with 1.5 times for baseline all causes (Figure
1.6A and 1.6B).
Age specific death rates from COVID-19 increase with age and were highest in those
aged 80+ where they were 4.0 times higher than in those aged 70 to 79 in males and
5.1 times higher in females. This ratio is slightly higher than the baseline all cause data
for 2014 to 2018 (3.7 and 4.8 in males and females respectively) (Figure 1.6A and
1.6B). Deaths from COVID-19 have a slightly older age distribution than baseline all
cause deaths, particularly for males.
The age and sex distribution of ONS deaths from COVID-19 and deaths in confirmed
cases were also broadly similar, but ONS deaths had a slightly higher proportion in
older ages.

16

60

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 1.6A and 1.6B. Age specific death rates for all cause deaths and deaths
mentioning COVID-19, compared with baseline, by sex, 21 March to 8 May 2020,
England. Source: Public Health England analysis of ONS death registration data

6117

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

1.7 Excess mortality
PHE has developed a model to estimate all cause excess mortality in the population.
Figure 1.7 shows the number of excess deaths by age and sex in the period 20 March
to 7 May against the number of deaths that would be expected for corresponding dates
in 2015 to 2019. It also illustrates how many deaths have COVID-19 mentioned on the
death certificate.
The model suggests there have been 46,056 excess deaths between 20 March 2020
and 7 May 2020, 24,731 in males and 21,324 in females. This is similar to the number
of excess deaths reported by ONS for England and Wales up until 8 May 2020 (7). ONS
compared deaths in 2020 with the simple average for the years 2015 to 2019. However,
this will not adjust for ageing of the population or the effect of Easter or bank holidays
on the number of deaths registered. The PHE model does adjust for this. More details
are provided in the data sources and methodologies section.
The majority of excess deaths have occurred in those aged 75 and over, with 20,841
(45%) in those aged 85+ and 13,921 (30%) in those aged 75 to 84.
There have been fewer deaths than expected in children under 15 years of age.
Accidents are a leading cause of death in children and these may have reduced over
this period, following social distancing measures, or there could be a delay in the
registration of these deaths. Among those age groups where there were excess deaths,
the number of deaths with COVID-19 mentioned on the death certificate is equivalent to
more than 80% of all excess deaths in each age group, except those aged 85+ where
this proportion is lower.

18

62

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 1.7. Cumulative all cause deaths by date of registration by age and sex, 20
March to 7 May 2020, England. Source: Public Health England excess mortality model
based on ONS death registration data.

6319

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

2. Geography
2.1 Main messages
At 13 May 2020, the regional pattern in diagnoses rates and death rates in confirmed
cases among males were similar. London had the highest rates followed by the North
West, the North East and the West Midlands. The South West had the lowest.
For females the North East and the North West had higher diagnosis rates than London
while London had the highest death rate in confirmed cases.
Diagnosis rates by local authority were highly clustered. Authorities, which are mostly
urban, in London, the North West, the West Midlands and the North East had the
highest rates. A similar geographic pattern is seen for death rates.
The peak in the number of diagnosed cases happened first in London, the East
Midlands and the West Midlands in week ending 4 April. Diagnosed cases peaked latest
in South East and Yorkshire and Humber in week ending 18 April. The number of
deaths in confirmed cases peaked in week ending 11 April in all regions except North
West and Yorkshire and Humber, where it peaked in week ending 18 April.
Death rates in London from COVID-19 were more than three times higher than in the
region with the lowest rates, the South West. This level of inequality between regions is
much greater than the inequality between all cause mortality rates in previous years.
The excess mortality model suggests there have been 9,035 excess deaths in London
between 20 March and 7 May, compared with 2,900 in the South West.

2.2 Background
The burden of disease and mortality from COVID-19 is not evenly spread in the
population. The UK coronavirus dashboard (8) presents data on the number of cases
and deaths in people who have tested positive for SARS-CoV-2 and shows
considerable variation in the number of cases by region across the UK. As at 21 May
2020, the number of cases was highest in London and lowest in the South West. The
PHE weekly COVID-19 surveillance report as at 13 May 2020 shows the North East and
North West regions to have the highest diagnosis rates per 100,000 population,
however, London had the highest crude mortality rate in confirmed cases (6).

20

64

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

ONS analysis shows that between 1 March and 17 April 2020, local authorities in
London had the highest mortality rates from COVID-19 in England when the age
structure of the population was taken into account (9).
Findings from other studies have demonstrated that people living in urban areas versus
rural areas have increased odds of testing positive for COVID-19 (10). At the local
authority level in England, population density, deprivation and other factors associated
with urban areas such as an ethnically diverse population may also be associated with
higher mortality from COVID-19 (11).

2.3 Cases
This section presents laboratory confirmed cases under Pillar 1 testing. The majority of
testing under this pillar has been offered to those in hospital with a medical need as well
as NHS key workers, rather than the general population. Confirmed cases therefore
represent the population of people with severe disease, rather than all of those who get
infected.
Data reported to PHE up to 13 May 2020 shows that London had the highest number of
diagnosed cases (26,024) and the South West the lowest (7,155) and that there was
considerable variation among local authorities in England (Table 2a in the data pack).
The highest weekly number of diagnosed cases was reported in week ending 4 April in
the East Midlands, London and West Midlands; in week ending 11 April in the East of
England, North East, North West and South West; and in week ending 18 April in the
South East and Yorkshire and Humber (Figure 2.1).

6521

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 2.1. Number of positive cases by week by region, as of 9 May 2020, England.
Source: Public Health England Second Generation Surveillance System. Note: The last
week of data was removed as it was an incomplete week.
The age standardised diagnosis rates (which are adjusted for the population size of the
areas and to account for the difference in their age structure) were highest in London
(423.9 per 100,000 population) followed by the North West (307.7) and the North East
(294.7) for males. For females the rate was highest in the North East (405.0) followed
by the North West (335.3) and London (318.5) (Figure 2.2). The South West region had
the lowest standardised diagnosis rate for both males and females.
In the North East, North West, Yorkshire and the Humber, and the South East the
female diagnosis rates were higher than males, whereas in the East Midlands, East of
England and London the opposite was true. In England as a whole the rates were
broadly similar for males and females.

22

66

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 2.2. Age standardised diagnosis rates by region and sex, as of 13 May 2020,
England. Source: Public Health England Second Generation Surveillance System.
Maps 2.1A and 2.1B show age standardised diagnosis rates by upper-tier local authority
in England. Among males there is a 12-fold difference in the rates between local
authorities and an eight-fold difference in the rates among females. Variation in
diagnosis rates will be partly influenced by variation in testing practices between areas.
The maps show diagnosis rates are highly clustered. Authorities which are mostly urban
areas, in London, the North West, the West Midlands and the North East had the
highest rates. For males, the ten local authorities with the highest diagnosis rates are in
London. For females, Cumbria has the sixth highest rate which is a predominately rural
area in the North West. These data are also presented in the data pack in Table 2a.

6723

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

68
Map 2.1A and 2.1B. Age standardised diagnosis rates by local authority and sex, as of 13 May 2020, England. Source:
Public Health England Second Generation Surveillance System.

24

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

2.4 Hospitalisations
This section presents data reported to the COVID-19 Hospitalisations in England
surveillance system (CHESS). Reporting varies by trusts and the majority of trusts in
London do not consistently report to CHESS which will impact on the
representativeness of the hospitalised cases. Therefore, rather than providing number
of hospitalised patients, daily rates are reported in this section and are analysed using
the reporting trusts’ catchment area population (rather than regional population
denominator) to account for this issue.
Figure 2.3 shows the three day moving average rate of hospital admissions to all levels
of care (critical and lower level of care) for laboratory confirmed COVID-19 between 15
March and 19 May 2020 by NHS region. The highest rate of hospital admissions
occurred between 3 and 9 of April for all regions.

Figure 2.3. 3-day moving average rate of hospital admission to all levels of care for
laboratory confirmed COVID-19, by NHS region, as of 19 May 2020, England. Source:
Public Health England COVID-19 Hospitalisations in England surveillance system
(CHESS).

6925

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

2.5 Deaths in confirmed cases
The trend in the number of deaths in confirmed cases by week in each region shows
that London had the highest number of deaths every week up until week ending 18 April
after which the North West had the highest number of deaths. The highest weekly
number of deaths in confirmed cases was reported in week ending 11 April in all regions
except the North West and Yorkshire and Humber, where it was reported in week
ending 18 April (Figure 2.4).

Figure 2.4. Number of deaths in laboratory confirmed COVID-19 cases by region and
week, as of 9 May 2020, England. Source: Public Health England COVID-19 Specific
Mortality Surveillance System. Note: The last week of data was removed as it was an
incomplete week.
Up to 13 May 2020, the age standardised death rate among confirmed cases, per
100,000 population, was highest in London for both males (140.3) and females (66.8)
(Figure 2.5) and were also high in the North East, North West and West Midlands. The
South West had the lowest standardised death rate among confirmed cases for both
males and females. In all regions the death rate in males was higher than females.
Among males, the regional pattern in diagnoses rates and death rates in confirmed
cases were similar. However, for females the North East and the North West had the
highest diagnosis rates while London had the highest death rate in confirmed cases.
This may be explained by different testing strategies and capacity at different times of
the pandemic.
26

70

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 2.5. Age standardised death rates in laboratory confirmed COVID-19 cases, per
100,000 population, by region and sex, as of 13 May 2020, England. Source: Public
Health England COVID-19 Specific Mortality Surveillance System.
Maps 2.2A and 2.2B show age standardised death rates among confirmed cases, per
100,000 population, by upper-tier local authority in England. The maps show that death
rates were highly clustered. Authorities, which are largely urban areas, in London, the
North West, the West Midlands and the North East had the highest death rates. For
males, the eight authorities with the highest death rates among confirmed cases are in
London. (Table 2b in the data pack).
An analysis of survival among people with confirmed COVID-19 by sex, age group,
ethnicity, deprivation and region, showed that among people of working age (aged 20 to
64) those living outside of London had a slightly lower risk of death, except for East
Midlands and the East of England where the risk was similar. In older ages (65 and
over) people living in the North East had a slightly lower risk of death while those in the
East of England a higher risk of death compared with London. (Appendix A, tables A2
and A3). However, the magnitude of these inequalities was not as great as that seen for
population based death rates for confirmed cases.

7127

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

72
Map 2.2A and 2.2B. Age standardised death rates in laboratory confirmed COVID-19 cases, per 100,000 population, by local
authority and sex, as of 13 May 2020, England. Source: Public Health England COVID-19 Specific Mortality Surveillance System.
28

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

2.6 Comparison with inequalities in previous years
This section uses deaths reported by the Office for National Statistics (ONS) to compare
inequalities in death rates from COVID-19 between 21 March and 8 May 2020 with
inequalities in all cause death rates for previous years (the ‘baseline all cause’ figure).
Figures 2.6A and 2.6B show age standardised mortality rates for all causes of death
and for deaths mentioning COVID-19 by region between 21 March 2020 and 8 May
2020. They also show the baseline all cause rate using the average annual all cause
mortality rates for 2014 to 2018. The same information is presented by local authority in
Table 2c in the data pack.

7329

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 2.6A and 2.6B. Age standardised mortality rates for all cause deaths and deaths
mentioning COVID-19, 21 March to 8 May 2020, compared with baseline mortality rates
(2014 to 2018), by region and sex, England. Source: PHE analysis of ONS death
registration data
The age standardised death rates from COVID-19 were highest in London for both
males and females but were lowest in the South West (Figure 2.6A and 2.6B). This is
consistent with the pattern seen for deaths in confirmed cases. The ratio of these rates
for males was 3.8 and for females 3.5, indicating that mortality in London from COVID19 was more than three times higher than the South West.
The baseline all cause mortality rates were highest in the North East and were 1.2 times
higher in males and 1.3 times higher in females than London, the region with the lowest
rates. Therefore, regional inequalities in COVID-19 mortality are greater than those
seen previously for all cause mortality and the geographic gradient is different. London
had the highest COVID-19 mortality rates, but the lowest baseline all cause mortality
rates.

2.7 Excess mortality
PHE has developed a model to estimate all cause excess mortality in the population.
Table 2.1 shows results from the excess mortality model and includes the number of
excess deaths by sex and region in the period 20 March to 7 May against the number of

30

74

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

deaths that would be expected for corresponding dates in 2015 to 2019. It also
highlights how many deaths have COVID-19 mentioned on the death certificate.
Overall the model suggests deaths in London have been 2.3 times higher than expected
in this period, compared with 1.4 times higher in the South West.
Table 2.1. Cumulative all cause deaths by date of registration and region, 20 March to 7
May 2020 England. Source: Public Health England excess mortality model based on
ONS death registration data

North East
North West
Yorkshire and The
Humber
East Midlands
West Midlands
East of England
London
South East
South West
Total

Ratio
Observed Expected
observed/
deaths
deaths
expected
6196
3932
1.6
17133
10050
1.7
11346
9659
13548
13170
16073
18205
10939
116269

7321
6394
7731
8133
7038
11575
8039
70213

7531

1.5
1.5
1.8
1.6
2.3
1.6
1.4
1.7

2264
7083

COVID19
deaths
1906
5460

COVID-19
deaths as
% excess
84.2%
77.1%

4025
3265
5817
5037
9035
6630
2900
46056

3086
2531
4293
3513
7383
5079
2188
35439

76.7%
77.5%
73.8%
69.7%
81.7%
76.6%
75.4%
76.9%

Excess
deaths

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

3. Deprivation
3.1 Main messages
The trend in the number of diagnosed cases by deprivation quintile shows that cases in
the least deprived group peaked earlier and lower than other groups and at 13 May, the
cumulative number of cases and diagnosis rate was highest in the most deprived
quintile.
The mortality rates from COVID-19 in the most deprived areas were more than double
the least deprived areas, for both males and females. This is greater than the ratio for
all cause mortality between 2014 to 2018 indicating greater inequality in death rates
from COVID-19 than all causes.
Survival among confirmed cases, after adjusting for sex, age group, ethnicity and region
was lower in the most deprived areas, particularly among those of working age where
the risk of death was almost double the least deprived areas.
In summary, people in deprived areas are more likely to be diagnosed and to have poor
outcomes following diagnosis than those in less deprived areas. High diagnosis rates
may be due to geographic proximity to infections or a high proportion of workers in
occupations that are more likely to be exposed. Poor outcomes remain after adjusting
for ethnicity, but the role of underlying health conditions requires further investigation.

3.2 Background
Evidence from previous analysis suggests that there is some association between area
based deprivation levels and incidence and mortality from COVID-19. However, this
may be weaker once other factors such as ethnicity are taken into consideration (11)
(12).
Deprivation is classified using the Index of Multiple Deprivation and encompasses a
wide range of aspects of an individual’s living conditions including income, employment,
education, health, crime, housing and the living environment (13). Deprived areas can
be found in both urban and rural areas of England.
ONS analysis shows that between 1 March and 17 April 2020 the deprived areas in
England had more than double the mortality rate from COVID-19 than the least deprived
areas (9). Other sources have shown that people living in more deprived areas were
more likely to test positive for COVID-19 (10) and to have higher mortality rates (14).

32

76

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

The latest report from the Intensive Care National Audit and Research Centre
(ICNARC) used data up to 21 May 2020 and showed that a larger proportion of patients
critically ill in intensive care units (ICU) with COVID-19 were from the most deprived
quintile of areas (25.0%) than the least deprived (14.7%), however, this pattern was
similar to the pattern seen previously among patients admitted for viral pneumonia
between 2017 and 2019 (2). Patient outcomes from COVID-19 across deprivation
categories were similar.

3.3 Cases
This section presents laboratory confirmed cases under Pillar 1 testing. The majority of
testing under this pillar has been offered to those in hospital with a medical need as well
as NHS key workers, rather than the general population. Confirmed cases therefore
represent the population of people with severe disease, rather than all of those who get
infected.
The trend in the number of diagnosed cases by deprivation quintile shows that cases in
the least deprived group (quintile 5) peaked earlier and lower than other groups (Figure
3.1). As of 13 May the cumulative number of cases was highest in the most deprived
quintile (quintile 1). Deprivation quintiles are roughly equal in population size and are
defined in section 10.

7733

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 3.1. Number of positive confirmed cases by deprivation quintile and week, as of
9 May 2020, England. Source: Public Health England Second Generation Surveillance
System. Note: The last week of data was removed as it was an incomplete week.
The age standardised diagnosis rates were highest in the most deprived quintile in both
males and females, and lowest in the least deprived quintile. The rate in the most
deprived quintile was 1.9 times the rate in the least deprived quintile among males and
1.7 times among females. In quintiles 1 and 2 (the most deprived) the male diagnosis
rates were significantly higher than females, whereas in all other quintiles the rates in
the sexes were very similar (Figure 3.2).

Figure 3.2. Age standardised diagnosis rates by deprivation quintile and sex, as of 13
May 2020, England. Source: Public Health England Second Generation Surveillance
System.

3.4 Deaths in confirmed cases
The trend in the number of deaths in confirmed cases by week in each quintile shows
that by week ending 11 April the number of weekly deaths was highest in the most
deprived quintile (quintile 1) and remained so for every following week. For all quintiles,
the week with the peak number of deaths in confirmed cases was week ending 11 April
2020 (Figure 3.3). By 13 May the cumulative number of deaths was highest in the most
deprived quintile (quintile 1) (6,894) and lowest in the least deprived (quintile 5) (4,672).

34

78

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 3.3. Number of deaths in laboratory confirmed COVID-19 cases by deprivation
quintile and week, as of 9 May 2020, England. Source: Public Health England COVID19 Specific Mortality Surveillance System. Note: The last week of data was removed as
it was an incomplete week.
The age standardised death rates in confirmed cases, per 100,000 population, were
highest in the most deprived quintile in both males and females, and lowest in the least
deprived quintile. The rate in the most deprived quintile was 2.3 times the rate in the
least deprived quintile among males and 2.4 times among females. In all quintiles the
male death rates were significantly higher than females (Figure 3.4).

7935

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 3.4. Age standardised death rates in laboratory confirmed COVID-19 cases by
deprivation quintile and sex, as of 13 May 2020, England. Source: Public Health
England COVID-19 Specific Mortality Surveillance System.
An analysis of survival among people with confirmed COVID-19 by sex, age group,
ethnicity, deprivation and region, showed that, among people of working age (20 to 64),
people living in the most deprived areas of the country were almost twice as likely to die
than those living in the least deprived (Appendix A, table A2). For older adults (65 and
over) the disparity remains significant but is much lower, with people in the most
deprived areas having approximately 9% higher risk of death when compared to people
in the least deprived areas (Appendix A, table A3).

3.5 Comparison with inequalities in previous years
This section uses deaths reported by the Office for National Statistics (ONS) to compare
inequalities in death rates mentioning COVID-19 on the death certificate with
inequalities in all cause death rates for previous years (the ‘baseline all cause’ figure).
Figure 3.5A and 3.5B show age standardised mortality rates for all causes of death and
for deaths mentioning COVID-19 by deprivation decile between 21 March 2020 and 8
May 2020. They also show the baseline all cause rate using the average annual all
cause mortality rates for 2014 to 2018.
36

80

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

The age standardised death rate from COVID-19 was highest in the most deprived
decile in males, but in the second most deprived decile in females (Figure 3.5A and
3.5B). The rate in the most deprived decile was 2.2 times the rate in the least deprived
decile among males and females. In all deciles the male death rates were significantly
higher than females. This analysis is consistent with the analysis by ONS (9).
From 2014 to 2018 the baseline all cause mortality rate in the most deprived decile was
1.9 times that in the least deprived decile in both males and females. This is smaller
than the ratio for COVID-19 mortality rates indicating that the level of inequality in
COVID-19 mortality rates is greater than that for all cause mortality in previous years.

8137

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 3.5A and 3.5B. Age-standardised mortality rates for all cause deaths and
deaths mentioning COVID-19, 21 March to 8 May 2020, compared with baseline
mortality rates (2014 to 2018), by deprivation decile and sex, England. Source: Public
Health England analysis of ONS death registration data

3.6 Excess mortality
The PHE excess mortality model shows that between 20 March and 7 May 2020, there
was excess mortality among all five deprivation quintiles. The crude number of excess
deaths ranges from 10,678 in the most deprived quintile areas to 8,621 in the least
deprived. This is a slightly larger relative increase in the most deprived quintile. The
number of deaths with COVID-19 mentioned as a percentage of these excess deaths
ranges from 72-77% across the quintiles.

38

82

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

4. Ethnicity
4.1 Main messages
The highest age standardised diagnosis rates of COVID-19 per 100,000 population
were in people of Black ethnic groups (486 in females and 649 in males) and the lowest
were in people of White ethnic groups (220 in females and 224 in males).
An analysis of survival among confirmed COVID-19 cases shows that, after accounting
for the effect of sex, age, deprivation and region, people of Bangladeshi ethnicity had
around twice the risk of death when compared to people of White British ethnicity.
People of Chinese, Indian, Pakistani, Other Asian, Caribbean and Other Black ethnicity
had between 10 and 50% higher risk of death when compared to White British.
Death rates from COVID-19 were higher for Black and Asian ethnic groups when
compared to White ethnic groups. This is the opposite of what is seen in previous years,
when the all cause mortality rates were lower in Asian and Black ethnic groups.
Therefore, the inequality in COVID-19 mortality between ethnic groups is the opposite of
that seen for all causes of death in previous years.
Comparing to previous years, all cause mortality was almost 4 times higher than
expected among Black males for this period, almost 3 times higher in Asian males and
almost 2 times higher in White males. Among females, deaths were almost 3 times
higher in this period in Black, Mixed and Other females, and 2.4 times higher in Asian
females compared with 1.6 times in White females.
These analyses were not able to include the effect of occupation. This is an important
shortcoming because occupation is associated with risk of being exposed to COVID-19
and we know some key occupations have a high proportion of workers from BAME
groups.
These analyses were also not able to include the effect of comorbidities or obesity.
These are also important factors because they are associated with the risk of death and
are more commonly seen in some BAME groups. Other evidence has shown that when
these are included, the difference in risk of death among hospitalised patients is greatly
reduced.

4.2 Background
Evidence suggests that COVID-19 may have a disproportionate impact on people from
Black, Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) groups. The Intensive Care National Audit and

8339

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Research Centre (ICNARC) report published on 22 May found that Black and Asian
patients were over-represented among those critically ill with confirmed COVID-19
receiving advanced respiratory support. The report found that 15.2% and 9.7% of
critically ill patients were from Asian and Black ethnic groups respectively (2).
Some evidence also suggests the risk of death from COVID-19 is higher among people
of BAME groups (15) and an ONS analysis showed that, when taking age into account,
Black males were 4.2 times more likely to die from a COVID-19-related death than
White males (16). The risk was also increased for people of Bangladeshi and Pakistani,
Indian and Mixed ethnic groups. However, an analysis of over 10,000 patients with
COVID-19 admitted to intensive care in UK hospitals suggests that, once age, sex,
obesity and comorbidities are taken into account, there is no difference in the likelihood
of being admitted to intensive care or of dying between ethnic groups (17).
The relationship between ethnicity and health is complex and likely to be the result of a
combination of factors. Firstly, people of BAME communities are likely to be at
increased risk of acquiring the infection. This is because BAME people are more likely
to live in urban areas (18), in overcrowded households (19), in deprived areas (20), and
have jobs that expose them to higher risk (21). People of BAME groups are also more
likely than people of White British ethnicity to be born abroad (22), which means they
may face additional barriers in accessing services that are created by, for example,
cultural and language differences.
Secondly, people of BAME communities are also likely to be at increased risk of poorer
outcomes once they acquire the infection. For example, some co-morbidities which
increase the risk of poorer outcomes from COVID-19 are more common among certain
ethnic groups. People of Bangladeshi and Pakistani background have higher rates of
cardiovascular disease than people from White British ethnicity (23), and people of
Black Caribbean and Black African ethnicity have higher rates of hypertension
compared with other ethnic groups (24). Data from the National Diabetes Audit
suggests that type II diabetes prevalence is higher in people from BAME communities
(25).
Most analyses in this section of the review look at five broad ethnic groups: White /
White British, Black / Black British, Asian / Asian British, Mixed / Multiple Ethnic groups
and Other ethnic groups. The survival analysis looks at sixteen smaller ethnic groups.
These are based on the data available from different sources. Appendix B and the data
sources and methodologies section outline these groups and how they were collapsed.

4.3 Cases
This section presents laboratory confirmed cases under Pillar 1 testing. The majority of
testing under this pillar has been offered to those in hospital with a medical need as well
40

84

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

as NHS key workers, rather than the general population. Confirmed cases therefore
represent the population of people with severe disease, rather than all of those who get
infected.
It was possible to assign ethnicity to 127,821 (91.9%) of the 139,086 individuals who
had tested positive for SARS-CoV-2 by 13 May 2020. Figure 4.1 shows the weekly
number of positive cases by ethnic group since the start of the pandemic. For Black and
Other ethnic groups, the highest weekly number of cases was reported in week ending
4 April and for all other ethnic groups the highest weekly number of cases was reported
in week ending 11 April.

Figure 4.1. Number of positive confirmed cases by ethnic group and week, as of 9 May
2020, England. Source: Public Health England Second Generation Surveillance
System. Note: The last week of data was removed as it was an incomplete week.
Figure 4.2 shows the age standardised diagnoses rates by ethnic group. After
adjustment by age, the highest diagnosis rates of COVID-19 per 100,000 population
were in people of Other ethnic groups (1,076 in women and 1,101 in men) followed by
people of Black ethnic groups (486 in females and 649 in males). This compared to 220
per 100,000 among White females and 224 among White males.
These results are not adjusted for some factors that may influence the likelihood of
becoming infected, such as geographical location. The rates in the Other ethnic group

8541

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

are likely to be an overestimate due to the difference in the method of allocating
ethnicity codes to the cases data and the population data used to calculate the rates.

Diagnosis rate (per 100,000)

1,200
1,000
800
600
400
200
0
White

Black / Black
British

Asian / Asian
British

Males

Mixed / Multiple
ethnic groups

Other

Females

Figure 4.2. Age standardised diagnosis rates by ethnicity and sex, as of 13 May 2020,
England. Source: Public Health England Second Generation Surveillance System.

4.4 Hospitalisations
As of 19 May, 42 trusts had reported lower level of care patients (defined as admission
to any hospital ward, excluding ICU or HDU), and 94 trusts contributed ICU/HDU
(critical care) patient data to the COVID-19 Hospitalisations in England surveillance
system (CHESS). Reporting varies by trusts and the majority of trusts in London do not
consistently report to CHESS which will impact on the representativeness of the
hospitalised cases. The data presented in this section have not been adjusted for this,
which means findings must be interpreted with caution.
The lower level of care subset contained 8,508 cases of which 7,617 (89.5%) could be
linked to Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) to assign ethnicity. The critical care subset
contained 3,978 cases of which 3,219 (80.9%) could be linked to HES to assign
ethnicity.
Among cases hospitalised in lower level of care, 11% were of Black, Asian and other
Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups; however, this proportion was 36% of those admitted to
critical care (Figure 4.3). Confirmed cases among BAME groups tend to be younger
than White ethnic groups, which is likely to explain some of this difference, as might
other factors such as comorbidities.

42

86

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 4.3. Laboratory confirmed admissions for COVID-19 to acute trusts, by level of
care and ethnicity, England, as of 19 May 2020. Source: Public Health England COVID19 Hospitalisations in England surveillance system (CHESS).

4.5 Deaths in confirmed cases
There were 29,673 deaths reported to PHE by 13 May 2020 of which it was possible to
obtain ethnicity for 29,500 (99.4%). For all ethnic groups, the highest weekly number of
deaths was recorded on week ending 11 April, except for Mixed / Multiple ethnic groups
who had an equally high number on week ending 18 April (Figure 4.4).

8743

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 4.4. Number of deaths in laboratory confirmed COVID-19 cases by ethnicity and
week, as of 9 May 2020, England. Source: Public Health England COVID-19 Specific
Mortality Surveillance System. Note: The last week of data was removed as it was an
incomplete week.
The highest age standardised deaths rates in confirmed cases per 100,000 population
were among people of Other ethnic groups (234 in females and 427 in males) followed
by people of Black ethnic groups (119 in females and 257 in males), Asian ethnic
groups (78 in females and 163 in males), Mixed ethnic groups (58 in females and 116 in
males) and White ethnic groups (36 in females and 70 in males) (Figure 4.5).
The rates in the Other ethnic group are likely to be an overestimate due to the
difference in the method of allocating ethnicity codes to the cases/mortality data and the
population data used to calculate the rates.

44

88

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 4.5. Age standardised mortality rates in laboratory confirmed COVID-19 cases
by ethnicity and sex, as of 13 May, England. Source: Public Health England: COVID-19
Specific Mortality Surveillance System.
An analysis of survival among people with confirmed COVID-19 by sex, age group,
ethnicity, deprivation and region, shows that, after taking these factors into account,
some ethnic groups still had a higher risk of death than others (Appendix A). This
analysis looked at 16 ethnicity categories and found that, when compared to White
British ethnicity, people of Bangladeshi ethnicity had twice the risk of death. People of
Chinese, Indian, Pakistani, Other Asian, Caribbean and Other Black ethnicity had
between 10 and 50% higher risk of death when compared to White British (Appendix A,
table A1).
When looking only at the working age population (between 20 and 64 years old), the
increased risk of death is seen among people of Bangladeshi ethnicity (80% higher risk
than White British ethnicity), Black Other ethnicity, Pakistani ethnicity (both 50% higher)
and Black Caribbean ethnicity (30% higher) (Appendix A, table A2).
While this analysis adjusts for many important factors such as age and deprivation, it
does not adjust for factors such as comorbidities and obesity, which are likely to have
an important impact on the different risk of dying between ethnic groups.

4.6 Comparison with inequalities in previous years
This section uses deaths reported by the Office for National Statistics (ONS) to compare
inequalities in death rates mentioning COVID-19 on the death certificate with
inequalities in all cause death rates for previous years (the ‘baseline all cause’ figure).
Ethnicity is not recorded at death registration, so this information was obtained through

8945

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

linkage to Hospital Episode Statistics. It was possible to obtain ethnicity information for
97% of all cause deaths.
Figures 4.6A and 4.6B show age standardised mortality rates for all causes of death
and for deaths mentioning COVID-19 by ethnic group between 21 March 2020 and 1
May 2020. They also show the baseline all cause rate using the average annual all
cause mortality rates for 2014 to 2018.
Death rates from COVID-19 were higher in people of Asian, Black, Mixed and Other
ethnic groups than White ethnic groups (Figure 4.6A and 4.6B). Black males were 3.9
times more likely to die than the White group, compared with 2.5 times in Asian males.
Among females, death rates were 3.3 times higher in the Black ethnic group, and 2.3
times higher in the Asian ethnic group than the White group. These inequalities are
broadly consistent with the pattern of deaths in confirmed cases and the findings from
ONS before adjustment for other factors (16).
However, the baseline all cause rates show lower mortality in Asian and Black ethnic
groups than the White group, therefore the inequality in COVID-19 mortality between
these groups is the opposite of that seen for all causes of death in previous years.
The Other ethnic group also had higher mortality rates from both all causes and COVID19 than the White group. The rates in the Other ethnic group are likely to be an
overestimate due to the difference in the source of allocating ethnicity codes to the
mortality data and the population data used to calculate the rates. This may explain the
high mortality rates in the Other group, which cannot be interpreted and requires further
investigation.

46

90

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 4.6A and 4.6B. Age-standardised mortality rates for all cause deaths and
deaths mentioning COVID-19, 21 March to 1 May 2020, compared with baseline
mortality rates (2014 to 2018), by ethnicity and sex, England. Source: Public Health
England analysis of ONS death registration data.

9147

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

4.7 Excess mortality
The excess mortality model shows the number of excess deaths by sex and ethnic
group in the period 20 March to 7 May against the number of deaths that would be
expected for corresponding dates in 2014 to 2018 (Figure 4.7). It also quantifies how
many deaths had COVID-19 mentioned on the death certificate.
Overall, the model suggests there have been 43,941 excess deaths among the White
group, 2,301 Black, 3,083 Asian, 385 Mixed and 1,038 in the Other ethnic group.
Deaths in Black males were 3.9 times higher than expected in this period, compared
with 2.9 times higher in Asian males and 1.7 times higher in White males. Among
females, deaths were between 2.7-2.8 times higher in Black, Mixed and Other ethnic
groups in this period, compared with 2.4 in Asian and 1.6 in White females.
The percentage of these excess deaths for which COVID-19 is mentioned is highest in
males in the Other ethnic group (94.0%) and Asian males (80.9%), and lowest in Mixed
females (58.2%) and females in the Other ethnic group (62.8%).

48

92

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 4.7. Cumulative all cause deaths by date of registration by ethnicity, 20 March to
7 May 2020, England. Source: Public Health England excess mortality model based on
ONS death registration data.

9349

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

5. Occupation
5.1 Main messages
A total of 10,841 COVID-19 cases were identified in nurses, midwives and nursing
associates, representing 1.9% of the health professionals who are registered with the
Nursing and Midwifery Council (NMC). By ethnic group, this represents 3.9% of nurses,
midwives and nursing associates of Asian ethnic groups, 3.1% of Other ethnic groups,
1.7% of White ethnic groups and 1.5% of both Black and Mixed ethnic groups. This
analysis did not look at the possible reasons behind these differences, which may be
driven by factors like geography or nature of individuals’ roles.
ONS reported that men working as security guards, taxi drivers and chauffeurs, bus and
coach drivers, chefs, sales and retail assistants, lower skilled workers in construction
and processing plants, and men and women working in social care had significantly
high rates of death from COVID-19. Our analysis expands on this and shows that
nursing auxiliaries and assistants have seen an increase in all cause deaths since 2014
to 2018. For many occupations, however, the number of deaths is too small to draw
meaningful conclusions and further analysis will be required.

5.2 Background
Some occupations require close or frequent contact with other individuals, which leads
to an increased risk of COVID-19 infection. Early reports suggest that occupational
exposure accounts for some infections (26), with healthcare workers (HCW) being
particularly at risk of infection, but also individuals working in other people-facing
occupations such as retail, hospitality, transport and security. Epidemiological data from
European countries suggest that HCW may account for 9% to 26% of those infected
(27).
ONS created an estimate of exposure to disease and physical proximity for UK
occupations, which provides an indication of which roles may be more likely to come
into contact with people with COVID-19 (21). HCW are exposed to disease on a daily
basis and require close contact with others. Other occupations, such as those working
in the emergency services (police, fire, ambulance), social care and educators, and
other occupations such as bar staff and hairdressers, also have close contact with
others but are less likely to be exposed to people with the disease when compared to
HCW.
For some people in these occupations, social distancing measures have substantially
reduced their physical proximity to others. Among workers in occupations that are more
50

94

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

likely to be in frequent contact with people and exposed to disease, three in four are
women and one in five are from BAME groups (21). An analysis of 119 deaths of NHS
staff showed a disproportionately high number of BAME staff among those who had
died (28).
Despite the differences in likelihood of exposure, the ONS Coronavirus (COVID-19)
Infection Survey for England found no evidence of a difference between the proportions
testing positive for patient-facing healthcare or resident-facing social care roles and
people not working in these roles (29). These are provisional results and there is a high
level of uncertainty about this estimate.
ONS has recently reported that men working in low skilled occupations had the highest
rate of death involving COVID-19 up to 20 April 2020 (52). Men working in some
specific occupations had significantly raised rates of death involving COVID-19,
including security guards, taxi drivers and chauffeurs, bus and coach drivers, chefs,
sales and retail assistants, and lower skilled occupations in construction and processing
plants. Men and women working in social care were also reported to have had
significantly raised rates of death involving COVID-19. HCW were not found by ONS to
have higher rates of COVID-19-related death when compared with those of the same
age and sex in the general population.

5.3 Cases in nurses, midwives and nursing associates
This section presents laboratory confirmed cases that were matched to the
professionals on the Nursing and Midwifery Council (NMC) register on 14 May 2020.
The cases were identified under Pillar 1 testing. The majority of testing under this pillar
has been offered to those in hospital with a medical need as well as NHS key workers,
rather than the general population. Confirmed cases therefore represent the population
of people with severe disease, rather than all of those who get infected.
A total of 10,841 diagnosed COVID-19 cases in nurses, midwives and nursing
associates were identified, 9,385 of whom were in females. This represents 1.9% of the
professionals on NMC register. The median age of cases was 45.5 and 45.1 for males
and females, respectively.
Figure 5.1 shows the proportion of COVID-19 cases among registered nurses, midwives
and nursing associates by ethnic group. This proportion was highest among those of
Asian ethnic groups (3.9%), followed by Other ethnic groups (3.1%), White ethnic
groups (1.7%) and Black and Mixed ethnic groups (both with 1.5%).
These results are not adjusted for factors that may influence the likelihood of becoming
infected, such as age, sex, geographical location or nature of individuals’ professional
roles.

9551

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 5.1. Proportion of registered nurses, midwives and nursing associates with
laboratory confirmed COVID-19 by ethnic group, as of 18 May 2020, England. Source:
NMC register and Public Health England Second Generation Surveillance System.

5.4 Mortality by occupation
This section examines the relative increase in all cause death registrations by
occupation in the period 21 March to 8 May 2020, compared with the average for the
same period in the years 2014 to 2018. Deaths in people aged 20 to 64 in 2020 were
1.5 times higher than average.
For three occupations the relative increase in deaths in 2020 was significantly higher
than the average of 1.5: Caring Personal Services, Elementary Security Occupations,
and Road Transport Drivers (Table 5.1). Of these groups, the biggest increase was for
Elementary Security Occupations, where deaths were 2.3 times higher in 2020 than in
the same period in 2014 to 2018. Workers in these groups were also identified in the
ONS analysis as having high rates of death involving COVID-19.
Within these groups, there were three occupational ‘unit groups’ where the increase in
deaths in 2020 was significantly higher than the increase for everyone aged 20 to 64.
These were nursing auxiliaries and assistants, security guards and related occupations,
and taxi and cab drivers and chauffeurs.

52

96

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Table 5.1. Relative increase in all cause deaths registered between 21 March and 8
May 2014 to 2018 and 2020, for people aged 20-64, by occupational groups, England.*
Source: Public Health England analysis of ONS death registration data

Occupation
Caring Personal Services
Nursing auxiliaries and assistants
Elementary Security Occupations
Security guards and related occupations
Road Transport Drivers
Taxi and cab drivers and chauffeurs
All people aged 20-64

Deaths
2014-18
average
all causes
414
52
117
80
384
87
9,440

Deaths
2020
all causes
760
128
267
209
694
217
14,409

Relative
increase
between
2014-18 and
2020
1.8
2.5
2.3
2.6
1.8
2.5
1.5

Lower 95%
confidence
interval
1.6
1.8
1.8
2.0
1.6
1.9
1.5

Upper 95%
confidence
interval
2.1
3.4
2.8
3.4
2.0
3.2
1.6

*Occupations are only listed where the relative increase was significantly higher than the average for all persons.
Results for all occupational groups can be found in the Table 5a and 5b in the data pack.

Although only these small number of occupations had a significant relative increase in
deaths in 2020, other occupations have seen a large increase in their absolute number
of deaths since the start of the pandemic. These are listed in Table 5a and 5b in the
data pack. These tables also include the number of deaths in 2020 where COVID-19
was recorded on the death certificate, and the percentage of the excess deaths in 2020
which were due to COVID-19.
The largest absolute increase was for workers in Caring Personal Services. There were
760 deaths from all causes among these workers in the period 21 March to 8 May 2020
for people aged 20 to 64. This is 346 more than in the same period in 2014 to 2018 and
74% had COVID-19 recorded as a cause of death.
For workers in Construction and Building Trades, the number of deaths related to
COVID-19 was slightly higher than the number of excess deaths. This indicates that
deaths from other causes have gone down which may be due to a reduced risk of
occupational related injuries over this time period.
As noted above, ONS did not find that healthcare workers had higher rates of death
involving COVID-19 compared with the general population. The ONS definition of HCW
includes people in 26 different occupational groups, who are likely to have had different
levels of contact with individuals, particularly during the pandemic. Table 5b in the data
pack shows that the relative increase in the number of deaths registered for medical
practitioners was 2.5 times higher than in 2014 to 2018. This is a larger increase than
the average for all people aged 20-64 (1.5) but is not statistically significant. The relative
increase for nurses was 1.7. This was also not significantly higher than average, but
nurses are one of the occupations with the highest absolute increase in deaths between
2014 to 2018 and 2020 (from 133 to 233).

9753

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

6. Inclusion health groups
6.1 Main messages
For people born outside of the UK and Ireland, the relative increase in deaths in 21
March to 8 May 2020 was higher than the average. The biggest relative increase was
for people born in Central and Western Africa (which includes Nigeria and Ghana), the
Caribbean, South East Asia (which includes Malaysia, the Philippines and Vietnam),
the Middle East and South and Eastern Africa (which includes South Africa, Zimbabwe
Kenya and Somalia).
There were 54 men and 13 women diagnosed with COVID-19 with no fixed abode,
likely to be rough sleepers. We estimate that this represents 2% and 1.5% of the known
population of women and men who experienced rough sleeping in 2019.

6.2 Introduction
Populations who are socially excluded, such as people who experience homelessness
and vulnerable migrants, tend to have the poorest health outcomes, putting them at the
extreme end of the gradient of health inequalities (30). This is a consequence of being
exposed to multiple, overlapping risk factors, such as facing barriers in access to
services, stigma and discrimination.
Notably, people who are socially excluded are not consistently recorded in electronic
records, often making them effectively invisible for policy and service planning purposes
(31). Nevertheless, there is strong evidence that inclusion health groups have very high
levels of morbidity and mortality, often with multiple and complex needs including
overlapping mental and physical ill-health, and substance dependency (32). This puts
these populations at increased risk from the consequences of emergencies, such as
pandemics.
A recent modelling exercise, for example, estimated that in a “do nothing” scenario,
34% of people living in hostels and sleeping rough would be infected with COVID-19,
leading to over four thousand hospital admissions (33). Other countries have reported
outbreaks in homeless shelters (34) and among migrant workers (35).

6.3 Mortality in Migrants
This section uses deaths reported by ONS to compare deaths between 21 March and 8
May 2020 with deaths in previous years by country of birth. Being born outside of the
UK does not necessarily mean a person is a vulnerable migrant, but migration is a
54

98

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

factor that impacts on people’s health. In the UK resident population, there is some
association between ethnicity and being born abroad.
In the period 21 March to 8 May 2020, the number of death registrations from all causes
for people in England was 1.7 times higher than in the same period for the average of
the years 2014 to 2018. For people born in England, Scotland, Wales, Northern Ireland,
and Ireland, the relative increase was similar to this (Figure 6.1). For all other groups of
countries, the relative increase was higher than the average and in almost all cases this
increase was significantly higher.

Figure 6.1. Relative increase in total deaths registered in England in 2020 compared to
the average for 2014 to 2018, 21 March to 8 May, by country of birth.* Source: Public
Health England analysis of ONS death registration data.
(*The numbers of deaths in each of the country groupings can be found in Table 6a in
the data pack. The list of countries in each of the groups can be found in Table 6b in the
data pack.)
The biggest relative increase was for people born in Central and Western Africa (4.5
times higher in 2020 than in 2014 to 2018). This group of countries includes Nigeria
and Ghana. For people born in four other groups of countries, deaths in 2020 were
more than 3 times higher than the equivalent period in 2014 to 2018: the Caribbean
(3.5), South East Asia, which includes Malaysia, the Philippines and Vietnam (3.4), the
Middle East (3.2) and South and Eastern Africa, which includes South Africa,
Zimbabwe, Kenya and Somalia (3.1).

9955

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

For people born in the European Union 2001, the relative increase was 1.8 times
higher, and this was the only group of countries not significantly higher than the average
for England. This group includes all countries which were EU members in 2001.
Countries which joined the EU between 2001 and 2011 (such as Poland and the 9 other
countries which joined in 2004) are included in the European Union 2011 group, for
which the relative increase was 2.0.

6.4 People with no fixed abode
Overall, there were 67 diagnoses of COVID-19 among people assigned a ‘no fixed
abode’ (NFA) code. Of these, 54 (80.6%) were men.
Taking into account the estimated number of people sleeping rough in England in
Autumn 2019, this represents 1.6% of the rough sleeping population. This is lower for
men (1.5%) than women (2.1%) (Figure 6.2).
These figures are subject to uncertainty and should be treated as estimates.

Male

Female

Total

0

1

2

3

4

Proportion (%)

Figure 6.2. Proportion of cases assigned a no fixed abode code per 100 population of
rough sleepers by sex and in total as of 13 May 2020, England. Source: Public Health
England Second Generation Surveillance System and Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government.

100

56

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

7. Deaths in care homes
7.1 Main messages
By the 10 April 2020, deaths in care homes accounted for 10% of all deaths from
COVID-19 in England. However, this percentage has increased over time and in the
week ending 8 May care homes accounted for a much greater proportion (43%). The
number of deaths from COVID-19 in hospitals peaked in the week ending 17 April, but
the number in care homes peaked a week later.
The excess mortality model suggests that there have been 2.3 times the number of
deaths in care homes than expected between 20 March and 7 May which equates to
around 20,457 excess deaths. The number of COVID-19 deaths over this period is
equivalent to 46.4% of the excess, suggesting that there were many excess deaths from
other causes or an under-reporting of deaths from COVID-19.

7.2 Background
Between 9 March and 17 May 2020 there were 5,887 outbreaks of COVID-19 reported
in care homes in England (36). There are 15,514 care homes in England, so this
indicates that 38% had experienced an outbreak.
Many countries have seen a significant proportion of COVID-19 deaths in care homes
or in care home residents and this proportion seems to be higher in countries where
there have been a larger number of deaths (37).

7.3 Death registrations
Data reported by ONS show that 9,492 deaths mentioning COVID-19 on the death
certificate that occurred in care homes were registered up until 8 May 2020. This is 27%
of all COVID-19 deaths (7). This figure will not include all deaths of care home residents
who may die elsewhere.
The number of deaths from COVID-19 in hospitals has been greater than the number in
care homes each week between week ending 27 March and 8 May (Figure 7.1). The
number of deaths from COVID-19 in hospitals peaked in the week ending 17 April, but
the number in care homes peaked a week later.
By the 10 April 2020, deaths in care homes accounted for 10% of all deaths from
COVID-19 in England. However, this percentage has increased over time and in week

101
57

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

ending 8 May 2020 deaths in care homes accounted for a much greater proportion
(43%), compared with 50% for hospitals.

Figure 7.1. Weekly provisional death registrations for deaths where COVID-19 was
mentioned on the death certificate, by place of occurrence, data up to 8 May 2020,
England. Source: Public Health England analysis of ONS death registration data.
The Care Quality Commission report on deaths of care home residents, regardless of
where the death took place. Between 11 April and 8 May 2020, there were 27,817
deaths of care home residents (38). This is 3,024 more than the number of deaths
occurring in care homes reported by ONS during the same period (24,793). During this
period, 73% of care home residents died in care homes, 13% died in hospital and for
the majority of the remainder information on place of death was not available.

7.4 Excess mortality
Table 7.1 shows results from the excess mortality model and includes the number of
excess deaths by place of death in the period 20 March to 7 May against the number of
deaths that would be expected for corresponding dates in 2015 to 2019. It also
quantifies how many deaths have COVID-19 mentioned on the death certificate.
Table 7.1. Cumulative all cause deaths by date of registration and place of death, 20
March to 7 May 2020, England. Source: Public Health England excess mortality model
based on ONS death registration data.*

102

58

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

3617

4006

0.9

-389

453

COVID-19
deaths as %
excess
17.1%
46.4%
>100%
No excess
deaths

2406
116269

1674
69911

1.4
1.7

732
46358

291
35439

39.8%
76.4%

Observed
deaths
Home
Care home
Hospital
Hospice
Other
places
Total

26400
35933
47913

Ratio
observed/
expected
16858
1.6
15476
2.3
31897
1.5

Expected
deaths

9542
20457
16016

COVID19
deaths
1630
9496
23569

Excess
deaths

*Note that the model for place of death is slightly different from other models and therefore the number of
excess deaths is slightly different.

Overall the model suggests that there have been 20,457 excess deaths in care homes
between 20 March and 7 May 2020 and 16,016 in hospitals. The care home finding is
consistent with the finding reported in section 1, that 75% of excess deaths are in
people aged 75 and over. It is not possible to say whether these excess deaths in care
homes have been concentrated in a few with outbreaks or distributed among many.
There have been no excess deaths in hospices.
The number of COVID-19 deaths in hospitals is greater than the estimated number of
excess deaths. This suggests that deaths in hospitals from causes other than COVID19 have reduced over this period or that COVID-19 has also contributed to deaths from
other causes.
In care homes the number of COVID-19 deaths is equivalent to 46.4% of the excess.
This is consistent with figures reported by ONS (39) and suggests that there has been
an increase in deaths from other causes over this period in care homes or an underreporting of COVID-19 on death certificates. Deaths in care homes were around 2.3
times the number expected in this period.

103
59

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

8. Comorbidities
8.1 Main messages
Among deaths with COVID-19 mentioned on the death certificate, a higher percentage
mentioned diabetes, hypertensive diseases, chronic kidney disease, chronic obstructive
pulmonary disease and dementia than all cause death certificates.
Diabetes was mentioned on 21% of death certificates where COVID-19 was also
mentioned. This finding is consistent with other studies that have noticed a higher risk of
death from COVID-19 among patients with diabetes. By age, the percentage was
highest in males aged 60 to 69, was higher in all BAME groups than the White group
and was 43% in the Asian group and 45% in the Black group. The same inequalities
were seen for hypertensive disease.
Several studies, although measuring the different outcomes from COVID-19, report an
increased risk of adverse outcomes in obese or morbidly obese people.
PHE is seeking to obtain and link additional datasets that measure body mass index
(BMI), a more comprehensive range of comorbidities and other sociodemographic
characteristics such as ethnicity to understand the combination of these risks further.

8.2 Introduction
People with underlying health conditions or other recognised risk factors for severe
outcomes from respiratory infections appear to be at a higher risk of poor outcomes
from COVID-19 than people without these conditions. One review suggested the most
commonly reported conditions associated with poor outcomes were diabetes mellitus,
chronic lung disease and cardiovascular disease (40). Persons with certain underlying
conditions are classed as ‘extremely clinically vulnerable’ or ‘clinically vulnerable’ to
COVID-19 (41).
Emerging evidence has established a need to better understand the association
between obesity and COVID-19 particularly as 28% of adults in England in 2018 were
obese (Body Mass Index (BMI) of 30kg/m2 or more) and 3% were morbidly obese (BMI
of 40kg/m2 or more) as indicated by the Health Survey for England (42). In addition,
patients living with obesity may not be equally exposed to COVID-19 or may have other
underlying conditions, such as those mentioned above, which influence their outcome
from COVID-19.
The prevalence of obesity and underlying health conditions such as diabetes also varies
by ethnic group. Data from the National Diabetes Audit suggests that type II diabetes

104

60

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

prevalence is higher in people from BAME communities (25). The latest data from the
Health Survey for England indicates that obesity prevalence rises to 54% in Black
females but was as low as 16% in Asian males (42).
However, there are limitations in the availability of appropriately linked data to
understand the relationship between obesity, underlying health conditions,
socioeconomic characteristics including ethnicity and risk of adverse outcomes from
COVID-19. For example, some datasets are limited to inpatient data or patients
admitted to ICU, so they will not include all cases or deaths from COVID-19. This
section summarises the available data to date.

8.3 Obesity
The latest report from the Intensive Care National Audit and Research Centre
(ICNARC) used data up to 21 May 2020 and showed that 7.7% of patients critically ill in
intensive care units (ICU) with confirmed COVID-19 were morbidly obese compared
with 2.9% of the general population (after adjusting for age and sex) (2). This disparity
was also seen when looking at white and non-white patients separately.
The report also showed a relationship between BMI and death from COVID-19 in BMI
over 30 kg/m2. This analysis controlled for other demographics and health conditions
but is restricted to those patients admitted to ICU from 289 participating trusts.
A study using data from over 400,000 patients aged 40 to 69 from UK Biobank linked to
COVID-19 test data from PHE found that higher BMI was associated with a positive
COVID-19 diagnosis (43). Compared with non-overweight people (BMI < 25 kg/m2), the
odds ratios1 were 1.26 (confidence interval of 1.01-1.56) for those who were
overweight, 1.37 (1.06-1.76) for those in obese class I and 2.04 (1.50-2.77) for those in
obese classes II and III combined 2.
A study by the OpenSAFELY collaborative used a dataset of 17 million adult
primary care electronic health records linked to deaths data from the COVID-19 Patient
Notification System (CPNS) up to 25 April 2020 (44). This found a relationship between
death from covid-19 and BMI when controlling for demographics and other health

1

The odds of an event occurring is the probability of an event occurring divided by the probability of an event not
occurring.
The odds ratio is the odds of one event occurring divided by the odds of another event occurring.
In this case, the odds ratio divides the odds of a person having covid-19 in a particular overweight or obese BMI
group by the odds of a patient having covid-19 in the control group which is those people who were not overweight
(BMI < 25 kg/m2).
2 Overweight is 25-29.9 kg/m 2, obese class I is 30-34.9 kg/m 2, obese class II is 35-39.9kg/m 2 and obese class III is
40 kg/m2 or more and is also sometimes referred to as being morbidly obese.

105
61

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

conditions. The hazard ratio 3 compared to those who were not obese increased as BMI
increased and was 1.27 (1.18-1.36) for those in obese class I, 1.56 (1.41-1.73) for those
in obese class II and 2.27 (1.99 to 2.58) for those in obese class III (morbidly obese).
Although measuring the different outcomes of dying from COVID-19 once in ICU,
contracting COVID-19 and dying from COVID-19, all three studies have shown a
relationship between COVID-19 and increasing BMI. Of the studies mentioned, the
study by the OpenSAFELY collaborative covers the broadest cohort of patients.
These findings are also consistent with studies from other countries. A study based on
383 COVID-19 patients admitted to the Third People’s Hospital of Shenzhen in China
found that obesity, especially in men, significantly increases the risk of developing
severe pneumonia in COVID-19 patients (45). In France, a study of 124 patients
admitted to intensive care in a hospital in Lille found the proportion of patients who
required invasive mechanical ventilation increased with increasing BMI category (46).
NHS England have also looked at the relationship between BMI and diabetes and the
risk of death from COVID-19 (47). The study linked data from the National Diabetes
Audit, Hospital Episode Statistics and deaths from COVID-19 for around 265,000
people with type I diabetes and 2.9m people with type II diabetes. The analysis adjusted
for demographics and other health conditions and showed the hazard ratio was highest
for those with low and high BMI. For those with a BMI < 20 kg/m2, the hazard ratio was
2.11 (1.32-3.38) for type I diabetes and 2.26 (2.04-2.50) for type II, and for those who
were morbidly obese it was 2.15 (1.37-3.36) for type I and 1.64 (1.50-1.79) for type II.

8.4 Other conditions mentioned on death certificates
This section examines other conditions which have been mentioned on death
certificates where COVID-19 is mentioned. The conditions included relate to people who
are classed as ‘clinically vulnerable’ (41). Dementia has also been analysed since it is
the leading cause of death among older people in England.
As this section only looks at death certificates, it will be an underestimate of the number
of people who die from COVID-19 who have underlying health conditions as not all will
be mentioned on the certificate.

3

The hazard ratio is a comparison between the probability of events in a treatment group, compared to the
probability of events in a control group.
In this case, it is a comparison of the probability of dying from covid-19 for people in a particular obese BMI group
compared to the probability of dying for people who were not obese (BMI < 30 kg/m2)

106

62

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

All of the conditions examined were more likely to be mentioned on a death certificate
when COVID-19 was also mentioned, than they were for deaths overall. However, for
cardiovascular disease, the difference was very small (Table 8.1).
The largest difference was for diabetes, which includes type I and type II. Diabetes was
mentioned on 15% of all death certificates between 21 March and 1 May. However, it
was mentioned on 21% of death certificates where COVID-19 was also mentioned.
Data from NHS England suggests that 26% of those who died in hospital and have
tested positive for COVID-19 up to 19 May 2020 had diabetes as a pre-existing
condition (48). A study using data from the National Diabetes Audit reports that death
rates in those with diabetes have doubled during the pandemic (47).
Table 8.1. Percentage of all deaths, and percentage of COVID-19 deaths where one of
the conditions were mentioned, 21 March to 1 May 2020, England. Source: Public
Health England analysis of ONS death registration data.

Condition
Cardiovascular disease
Diabetes
Hypertensive diseases
Chronic Kidney Disease
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary
Disease
Dementia

Percentage of
all deaths
where
condition is
mentioned
44.1
14.6
14.5
8.5

Percentage of
COVID-19
deaths where
condition is
mentioned
44.5
21.1
19.6
10.8

10.6
23.8

11.5
25.7

More detailed breakdowns of the data for each of the conditions can be found in Table
8a, 8b and 8c in the data pack.

Diabetes
The proportion of COVID-19 deaths where diabetes is also mentioned was higher
among males than females (24% compared with 18%), and by age was highest among
males aged 60 to 69 (31%).
Diabetes was more likely to be mentioned on the death certificate in more deprived
areas. In the most deprived areas, 26% of COVID-19 deaths also mentioned diabetes.
This is significantly higher than in the least deprived areas (16%) (Figure 8.1). The
proportion of COVID-19 deaths where diabetes is mentioned ranged from 18% in the
White ethnic group, 43% in the Asian group to 45% in the Black group.

107
63

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 8.1. Percentage of COVID-19 deaths where diabetes was also mentioned on the
death certificate, by deprivation decile, 21 March and 1 May 2020, England. Source:
Public Health England analysis of ONS death registration data.

Hypertensive disease
The proportion of COVID-19 deaths where hypertensive disease is also mentioned is
higher among males than females (21% compared with 18%), and by age highest
among males aged 60 to 69 (26%). The proportion of COVID-19 deaths where
hypertensive disease is mentioned ranged from 17% in the White ethnic group to 40%
in the Black group but is also high in the Asian and Mixed groups (Figure 8.2).

108

64

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Figure 8.2. Percentage of COVID-19 deaths where hypertensive disease was also
mentioned on the death certificate, by broad ethnic group, 21 March to 1 May 2020,
England. Source: Public Health England analysis of ONS death registration data

109
65

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

9. Limitations
The analyses presented in this review use data available to PHE through multiple
surveillance systems. These analyses are mostly descriptive and compare disparities in
diagnosis and death from COVID-19 across a range of data sources. The descriptive
nature of the analysis therefore limits the conclusions that can be drawn about the
reasons for the disparities shown. In addition, there are other important limitations that
must be considered when interpreting their findings.
Laboratory confirmed cases analysed in this report refer to Pillar 1 testing only. The
majority of testing under this pillar has been offered to those in hospital with a medical
need as well as NHS key workers, rather than the general population. Confirmed cases
therefore represent the population of people with severe disease only, rather than all of
those who get infected. This has important implications when considering, for example,
the proportion of deaths among confirmed cases, which will be high as confirmed cases
are mostly people with severe disease.
In addition, the numbers of cases and diagnosis rates are likely to be strongly
influenced by case definition and testing policy, both of which have changed since the
first cases were identified, may vary between geographical areas, and must be
interpreted under that light. For example, when case definition included travel history,
this may have made it more likely to test people of specific ethnic groups.
As of 19 May, 42 trusts had reported lower level of care patients (defined as admission
to any hospital ward, excluding ICU or HDU), and 94 trusts contributed ICU/HDU
(critical care) patient data to the COVID-19 Hospitalisation in England Surveillance
System (CHESS).
Reporting to CHESS varies by trusts and the majority of trusts in London do not
consistently report which will impact on the representativeness of the hospitalised
cases. To account for variation in Trusts reporting within regions (and batch reporting),
rather than providing daily number of hospitalised patients by region, daily rates are
reported as 3 days moving averages using only the reporting trusts’ catchment area
populations (rather than regional population denominator). The demographic data
presented here has not been adjusted for Trust underreporting as we cannot confidently
assume and impute the missing demographic profiles of hospitalised patients for Trusts
who have not reported. Because demographic composition of the population is
considerably different in London from the rest of the country, the hospitalisation data
must be interpreted with caution. Further analyses of the CHESS dataset have not been
presented in this report because of its current limitations.

110

66

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

The analyses of ONS mortality data are based on records which have been provided to
PHE very shortly after they have been registered. These records will have passed a
series of automatic validation processes but will not have been subject to all the
procedures which ONS undertake to ensure the quality and completeness of mortality
data. These data are therefore provisional and small changes will be likely after data
have been finalised. However, these changes are unlikely to affect the conclusions
drawn from the data.
Ethnicity information for cases and deaths was derived through linkage to hospital
records. Ethnicity information for the population denominators used to calculate the
rates was derived from the 2011 Census. This creates a mismatch between the two
sources and it is possible that there are proportionally more people assigned to the
Other ethnic group in the hospital data than there are in the census data. This may
explain the high diagnosis and mortality rates in the Other group, which requires further
investigation and no firm conclusions can be drawn about this group.
However, this mismatch described above will not be apparent in the survival analysis
presented as population denominators are not used for that analysis. In addition, it
should not affect the comparisons of inequality with data for previous years as data for
all time periods will be subject to a similar bias.
It was not possible to obtain ethnicity information for some records, although the
proportion with missing ethnicity was low for most data sources (see data and methods
section). CHESS data had the largest percentage with missing ethnicity data,
particularly for ICU data, and therefore these findings should be given less weight.
People with missing ethnicity data have been excluded from the analysis by ethnic
group. This may have introduced some bias by excluding people who are less likely to
have a hospital record or ethnicity recorded in their records.
The linked datasets used do not currently include all data that would be useful to
understand disparities across all groups. They don’t include, for example, information
about household composition or genetic factors, which may explain some of the
findings.
Information on vulnerable groups is lacking. Very few surveillance systems accurately
capture groups of the population who are known to have the poorest health outcomes
such as vulnerable migrants, sex workers or people experiencing homelessness or
rough sleeping. These analyses therefore do not allow us to accurately assess the
impact of COVID-19 on the most vulnerable groups of the population.
Occupational data is not currently available for all diagnosed cases. Robust data are
available for those who have died and have been included in this report. Analysis of
diagnosed cases has currently only been undertaken for nurses, midwives and nursing

111
67

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

assistants registered with the NMC. This data will continue to be analysed and further
work of other healthcare workers is being planned.
The analysis of comorbidities presented in this report is currently limited to an analysis
of death certificates and other published sources of data on obesity. Very few datasets
available for analysis by PHE contain information on height and weight to calculate BMI
and link to diagnosed cases and deaths.
A more thorough analysis is required to fully understand the relationships between
comorbidities including obesity, sociodemographic characteristics such as ethnicity and
occupation and the risk of diagnosis and death to understand these disparities further.
Comparisons have been made against the most appropriate baseline or group available
at the time of analysis. This has created some complexities in interpretation and it may
be possible to improve this when other data become available.
Some of the papers referenced in this report are early publication papers and have not
been peer reviewed and should therefore be interpreted with some caution. However,
many are authored by academics from multiple institutions which may give more
confidence in the approach taken and conclusions drawn.

112

68

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

10. Data sources and methodologies
10.1 Testing and laboratory confirmed cases
Respiratory Datamart and the Second Generation Surveillance System (SGSS) were
used for information about all samples tested and their results (positive and negative)
from public health, NHS and private laboratories that report to PHE.
SGSS is an application that stores and manages data on laboratory isolates and
notifications and is the preferred method for capturing routine laboratory surveillance
data on infectious diseases and antimicrobial resistance from laboratories across
England. Respiratory datamart is a laboratory-based surveillance system for influenza
and other respiratory viruses in England.
The same individual can receive multiple tests. These were deduplicated so that a
laboratory confirmed case of COVID-19 is any individual who has received a positive
test result for the SARS-CoV-2 virus.
The majority of testing to date has been offered to those in hospital with a medical need.
Laboratory confirmed cases therefore are likely to represent the typical population of
people with severe disease, rather than all of those who get infected.

10.2 Hospitalised cases
New patients admitted to hospital with COVID-19 are reported daily to the COVID-19
Hospitalisations in England surveillance system (CHESS) by acute NHS trusts in
England through a secure web portal. There are two subsets of data within CHESS:
COVID-19 cases admitted to a lower level of care (defined as admission to any hospital
ward, excluding ICU or HDU); COVID-19 cases admitted to ICU/HDU (critical care).
Trusts report aggregate numbers by age group of all new hospital admissions with
COVID-19 or acute respiratory illness. All acute trusts are asked to report individual
level data on all new ICU/HDU admissions with COVID-19 and a sentinel network of
Trusts report individual level data on all new hospital admissions at any level of care. All
data are cleaned and analysed daily.
Reporting varies by trusts and not all trusts report daily; as of 19 of May, 42 trusts had
reported lower level of care, and 94 trusts contributed critical care patient data to
CHESS. The majority of trusts in London do not consistently report to CHESS which will
impact on the representativeness of the demographic profile of hospitalised cases,
including those in critical care.

113
69

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Checking the validity of CHESS aggregate data has been done by comparing CHESS
data with NHS England data for fields common to both datasets where trusts did report
to both systems and there is good agreement via scatter plot and Bland–Altman plots.
Nevertheless, further analyses of the CHESS dataset have not been presented in this
report because of its current limitations.

10.3 Mortality
Public Health England receives reports of death from 3 sources:
•
•
•

NHS England (NHSE) line listing of deaths reported by NHS trusts in the COVID-19
Patient Notification System (CPNS);
Health protection teams (HPTs) reporting deaths notified to them (primarily nonhospital settings);
The Demographic Batch Service (DBS) traced data, which takes a complete record
level list of all individuals with a positive test in SGSS and links that to the central
NHS Digital patient record of all deaths.

Data from each source are merged and duplicates removed in order to retain only one
record per individual. Cleaned data sets are sent to DBS for tracing of missing
information and then merged to form the final dataset.
This dataset only includes deaths in which the deceased has had a positive test result.
More detail about the PHE data series on deaths in people with COVID-19 is available
here: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/phe-data-series-on-deaths-in-peoplewith-covid-19-technical-summary.

10.4 ONS registered deaths
Death registration data supplied by the Office for National Statistics over the period 24
March to 8 May 2020 was obtained and used for this analysis.

10.5 Data linkage to assign ethnicity
Completeness of ethnicity recording in the above datasets is low; this is common
among similar systems. To mitigate this, data was linked with Hospital Episode
Statistics (HES) data to assign ethnicity information. HES is a database containing
details of all admissions, A&E attendances and outpatient appointments at NHS
hospitals in England. HES use ethnic categories as classified by the 2001 ONS census
(49).

114

70

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Ethnicity was assigned to all datasets by linking, using NHS number and date of birth, to
the latest recording of ethnicity in the Outpatient Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) or
the HES Admitted Patient Care data set.
Records that could not be linked to HES, either because there was not a record to link
to within HES or because information on date of birth and/or NHS number was
inconsistent or missing, were excluded from the ethnicity analyses in this report. People
from certain ethnic backgrounds may be less likely to have an NHS number or full date
of birth than those from other ethnic groups and consideration needs to be given to this
in the interpretation of the findings within this report.
It was possible to obtain ethnicity for:
•
•

•
•

91.9% of COVID-19 cases
89.5% of cases in the lower level of care subset and 80.9% of cases in the ICU
subset (for hospitalised cases)
99.4% of the deaths in laboratory confirmed COVID-19 patients
97% of all cause deaths

For the excess mortality model any unknown or not stated ethnicities were imputed
using direct imputation methodology.

10.6 Population data
The denominators used to calculate rates by ethnic group are from the ONS 2018 midyear populations for England, which uses the Harmonised Classification of Ethnic
Groups. For ethnicity categories to match between HES and ONS denominators, the
following were merged:
•
•
•

in ONS data, the “Gypsy or Irish Traveller” category was merged into “Any other
White background”
in HES data, the “Chinese” category was moved to the “Asian or Asian British”
grouping
in both datasets, the “Arab” category was included in “Any Other Ethnic Group”

Appendix B provides a comparison of the ONS and HES ethnic categories.
ONS 2019 mid-year populations for Government Office Regions were used for
population denominators by region and Upper Tier Local Authority (UTLA). ONS 2018
population estimates by LSOA were grouped into deprivation quintiles and deciles and
used for population denominators.

115
71

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

10.7 Assigning deprivation quintiles and deciles
Deprivation quintiles and deciles have been constructed using Index of Multiple
Deprivation scores at lower super output area (LSOA) level. LSOAs are small
geographic areas produced by ONS to enable reporting of small area statistics in
England and Wales. There are 32,844 LSOAs in England, each having a population of
approximately 1,500.
LSOAs within England were ranked from most to least deprived and then divided into
ten categories (deciles) or five categories (quintiles) with approximately equal numbers
of LSOAs in each. The deprivation index used was the Index of Multiple Deprivation
2019 (IMD2019) scores from the English Indices of Deprivation 2019, released by the
Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (13).

10.8 Age standardisation
Age-standardised rates adjust for differences in the age structure of populations and
allow comparisons to be made between geographical areas and through time, allowing
identification of any underlying change in mortality rates. The direct method uses the
age-standardised rate for a particular condition which would have occurred if the
observed age-specific rates for the condition had applied in a given standard population.
The standard used throughout this report is the European Standard Population 2013.
Death rates calculated using ONS registered deaths were annualised to enable
comparisons with previous years and with ONS analysis.

10.9 Cox regression
COVID-19 laboratory confirmed cases were matched to reported deaths by NHS
number. Records that contained the linking field were included in the final analysis
dataset (n = 130,101 cases, n = 28,246 deaths). Cox proportional hazards regression
models were used (presented in Appendix A) to model survival time between date of
positive specimen and date of death or survival to 13 May 2020 among people with
confirmed COVID-19 by age, sex, ethnicity, region and deprivation (IMD quintile).
Interaction between variables was assessed; since there are interactions between age
and some of the other variables, models were stratified by age in sub-models: an all
ages model, one for working age patients (20-64 years of age) and one for older
patients (65+ years of age). All three models included all variables. The proportional
hazards assumption was tested using Schoenfeld residuals and only sex was
significant. However, sex was not adjusted for as a time varying covariate due to the
nature of the stability of this factor. Hazard ratios from the crude and fully adjusted
models are shown in Appendix A with 95% confidence intervals.

116

72

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

10.10 Nurses, midwives and nursing assistants
The data referring to the cases and deaths among Nurses and Midwives used the
Nursing and Midwifery Council (NMC) register data of currently eligible to work nurses,
midwives and nursing associates. The register data does not include temporary
registrants who may have re-joined the temporary register recently to work in the
COVID-19 response.
The NMC register was obtained on 14 May. This was linked to laboratory confirmed
cases of COVID-19 as of 19 May. Linking was done using surname, first name, sex,
date of birth and postcode. The linking process excluded cases for which information
did not match, which means it will not identify some professionals.
A match with a confirmed COVID-19 case and being on the NMC register does not
imply that the infection was acquired occupationally.

10.11 People with no fixed abode
The data for homelessness are based on the no fixed abode (NFA) code through the
residential address ascribed in SGSS. NFA codes are subject to underreporting or
misclassification, as well as changes in reporting over time.
Population (denominator) figures to calculate rates are based on estimates of the
number of people sleeping rough in England in autumn 2019 (50). People sleeping
rough are defined as “People sleeping, about to bed down (sitting on/in or standing next
to their bedding) or actually bedded down in the open air (such as on the streets, in
tents, doorways, parks, bus shelters or encampments). People in buildings or other
places not designed for habitation (such as stairwells, barns, sheds, car parks, cars,
derelict boats, stations, or ‘bashes’ which are makeshift shelters, often comprised of
cardboard boxes)”. These figures are subject to some uncertainty and should be treated
as estimates of the number of people sleeping rough on a single night and an indication
of trends over time.

10.12 Excess mortality model
Excess deaths
Total cumulative excess mortality is estimated by calculating the cumulative deaths
between March 20 and 7 May 2020 and subtracting the expected cumulative deaths in
this period. Expected deaths are modelled using the previous five years of data, except
when modelling for ethnicity, where the period 2014 to 2018 was used.

117
73

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

ONS compared deaths in 2020 with the simple average for the years 2015 to 2019.
However, this will not adjust for ageing of the population or the effect of Easter or bank
holidays on the number of deaths registered. The PHE model does adjust for this.

Daily registered deaths
We present daily ONS registered deaths from March 20 to 7 May 2020. To maximise
correspondence with the pattern of death registrations in the baseline data (expected
deaths), all weekend and public holiday death registrations were reassigned to the
nearest working day.

Modelled expected deaths
Models to develop baseline estimates of the expected number of deaths on a given
working day of the year were constructed using a combination of deaths and populationdenominator data from 2015 to 2019. Because historically deaths were registered on
working days, the few deaths registered on weekends or bank holidays were assigned
to the nearest working day.

Data structure and covariates
Independent variables included day of week, whether a day was a bank holiday, and
time of year allowing for seasonal effects. The model also includes specific adjustments
for registrations around bank holidays, a linear trend by year and covariates allowing for
the effect of age, gender, deprivation, ethnicity and geographical region. In addition, we
include an interaction term between age and sex to allow sex to modify the effect of age
on death.
The model structures are hierarchical with population denominators and counts of death
each being fully disaggregated to demographic sub-groups. England, and region
models contain variables for age, sex, and upper tier local authority (UTLA). Ethnicity
and deprivation models were built separately from the England model because, by
including UTLA in these models, the datafile became too large to model. Ethnicity and
deprivation models therefore each contain age, sex and region.
To avoid competing risk, for place of death analyses, each outcome (e.g. death at
home) was modelled separately. These models are currently built with no demographic
structure and no denominators.

118

74

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Statistical modelling
The models are Quasi-Poisson regression models, on the logarithmic scale (a ‘log link’)
which account for over dispersion. The models for all causes, by age, sex, ethnicity and
deprivation contained the set of covariates outlined in the section above and an offset
reflecting the log-population-size in each population subset. Data were analysed using
the glm function in R. In calculating the expected total number of deaths in a given
population subgroup (e.g. males aged 85+ years in the Middlesbrough UTLA) on a
given date in 2020, we added up the number of deaths expected in that specific
subgroup taking appropriate account of the (gradually increasing) size of that subpopulation size between 2015 and 2019.

COVID-19 deaths
Among cumulative death charts we added an orange ‘ribbon’ to represent deaths with a
mention of COVID-19 on the death certificate. Even though it is well recognised that
many people dying of COVID-19 had other significant co-morbidities, the majority (96%)
of COVID-associated deaths are recorded as having COVID as the underlying cause of
death.

Occupational classification
Mortality has been analysed according to the Standard Occupational Classification 2010
(SOC 2010) ‘minor groups’ and ‘unit groups’, the lowest level of the classification (51).

119
75

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

11. References
1. Office for National Statistics (ONS). Deaths involving COVID-19, England and Wales:
deaths occurring in April 2020 [Online]. 15 May 2020 [Cited: 23 May 2020]. Available
from:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deat
hs/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19englandandwales/deathsoccurringinapril2020
2. Intensive Care National Audit & Research Centre (ICNARC). ICNARC report on
COVID-19 in critical care. [Online] 22 May 2020. [Cited: 23 May 2020]. Available from:
https://www.icnarc.org/Our-Audit/Audits/Cmp/Reports
3. Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, Xiang J, Wang Y, Song B, Gu X, Guan L.
Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan,
China: a retrospective cohort study. The Lancet. 11 Mar 2020.
4. Pigoga JL, Friedman A, Broccoli M, Hirner S, Naidoo AV, Singh S, Werner K, Wallis
LA. Clinical and historical features associated with severe COVID-19 infection: a
systematic review. medRxiv. 2020 Jan 1.
5. Docherty AB, Harrison EM, Green CA, Hardwick HE, Pius R, Norman L, Holden KA,
Read JM, Dondelinger F, Carson G, Merson L. Features of 16,749 hospitalised UK
patients with COVID-19 using the ISARIC WHO Clinical Characterisation Protocol.
medRxiv, 2020.
6. Public Health England (PHE). National COVID-19 surveillance report: 14 May 2020
(week 20). National COVID-19 surveillance reports [Online]. 14 May 2020 [Cited: 15
May 2020]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-covid19-surveillance-reports.
7. Office for National Statistics (ONS). Deaths registered weekly in England and Wales,
provisional: week ending 8 May 2020 [Online]. 19 May 2020 [Cited: 23 May 2020].
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deat
hs/bulletins/deathsregisteredweeklyinenglandandwalesprovisional/weekending8may202
0#deaths-registered-by-place-of-occurrence.
8. Public Health England (PHE). Coronavirus (COVID-19) in the UK [Online]. 22 May
2020 [Cited: 23 May 2020]. Available from: https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/.
9. Office for National Statistics (ONS). Deaths involving COVID-19 by local area and
socioeconomic deprivation: deaths occurring between 1 March and 17 April 2020
[Online]. 1 May 2020 [Cited: 23 May 2020]. Available from:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deat
hs/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween
1marchand17april.
10. de Lusignan S, Dorward J, Correa A, Jones N, Akinyemi O, Amirthalingam G,
Andrews N, Byford R, Dabrera G, Elliot A, Ellis J. Risk factors for SARS-CoV-2 among
patients in the Oxford Royal College of General Practitioners Research and
Surveillance Centre primary care network: a cross-sectional study. The Lancet
Infectious Diseases, May 2020.

120

76

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

11. Bray I, Gibson A, White J. Covid-19 mortality: A multivariate ecological analysis in
relation to ethnicity, population density, obesity, deprivation and pollution. Manuscript
submitted for publication.
12. Patel AP, Paranjpe MD, Kathiresan NP, Rivas MA, Khera AV. Race, Socioeconomic
Deprivation, and Hospitalization for COVID-19 in English participants of a National
Biobank. medRxiv, 2020.
13. Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG). English indices of
deprivation 2019 [Online]. 26 September 2019 [Cited: 23 May 2020]. Available from:
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019.
14. Rose TC, Mason K, Pennington A, McHale P, Taylor-Robinson DC, Barr B.
Inequalities in COVID19 mortality related to ethnicity and socioeconomic deprivation.
medRxiv, 2020.
15. Aldridge RW, Lewer D, Katikireddi SV, Mathur R, Pathak N, Burns R, Fragaszy EB,
Johnson AM, Devakumar D, Abubakar I, Hayward A. Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic
groups in England are at increased risk of death from COVID-19: indirect
standardisation of NHS mortality data. Wellcome Open Research. 2020 May 6;5(88):88
16. Office for National Statistics (ONS). Coronavirus (COVID-19) related deaths by
ethnic group, England and Wales: 2 March 2020 to 10 April 2020 [Online]. 7 May 2020
[Cited: 23 May 2020]. Available from:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deat
hs/articles/coronavirusrelateddeathsbyethnicgroupenglandandwales/2march2020to10ap
ril2020
17. Harrison E, Docherty A, Semple C, CO-CIN. Investigating associations between
ethnicity and outcome from COVID-19 [Online]. 24 April 2020 [Cited: 23 May 2020].
Available from:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachmen
t_data/file/886433/s0238-co-cin-report-ethnicity-outcomes-250420-sage29.pdf
18. Cabinet Office (CO). Regional ethnic diversity [Online]. 11 July 2019 [Cited: 23 May
2020]. Available from: https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/uk-populationby-ethnicity/national-and-regional-populations/regional-ethnic-diversity/latest
19. Cabinet Office (CO). Overcrowded households [Online]. 27 April 2020 [Cited: 23
May 2020]. Available from: https://www.ethnicity-factsfigures.service.gov.uk/housing/housing-conditions/overcrowded-households/latest
20. Cabinet Office (CO). People living in deprived neighbourhoods [Online]. 17 May
2019 [Cited: 23 May 2020]. Available from: https://www.ethnicity-factsfigures.service.gov.uk/uk-population-by-ethnicity/demographics/people-living-indeprived-neighbourhoods/latest#people-living-in-the-most-deprived-10-ofneighbourhoods-by-ethnicity
21. Office for National Statistics (ONS). Which occupations have the highest potential
exposure to the coronavirus (COVID-19)? [Online]. 11 May 2020 [Cited: 23 May 2020].
Available from:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandem

121
77

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

ployeetypes/articles/whichoccupationshavethehighestpotentialexposuretothecoronaviru
scovid19/2020-05-11
22. Cabinet Office (CO). People born outside the UK [Online]. 19 March 2020 [Cited: 23
May 2020]. Available from: https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/ukpopulation-by-ethnicity/demographics/people-born-outside-the-uk/latest
23. Kuppuswamy CV, Gupta S. Excess coronary heart disease in South Asians in the
United Kingdom. BMJ 2005;330:1223
24. Chaturvedi N, McKeigue PM, Marmot MG. Resting and ambulatory blood pressure
differences in Afro-Caribbeans and Europeans. 2003, Hypertension, Vol. 22(1).
25. NHS Digital. National Diabetes Audit Report 1 - Care Processes and Treatment
Targets 2018-19, Short Report [Online]. 13 December 2019 [Cited: 27 May 2020].
Available from: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-andinformation/publications/statistical/national-diabetes-audit/report-1--care-processes-andtreatment-targets-2018-19-short-report
26. D, Koh. Occupational risks for COVID-19 infection. Occupational medicine (Oxford,
England). 2020 Mar;70(1):3.
27. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Rapid risk
assessment: Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic: increased transmission
in the EU/EEA and the UK – eighth update [Online]. 8 April 2020 [Cited: 23 May 2020].
Available from: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/rapid-risk-assessmentcoronavirus-disease-2019-covid-19-pandemic-eighth-update
28. Cook T, Kursumovic E, Lennane S. Exclusive: deaths of NHS staff from covid-19
analysed. Health Service Journal. 2020 Apr 22;22.
29. Office for National Statistics (ONS). Coronavirus (COVID-19) Infection Survey pilot:
England, 21 May 2020 [Online]. 21 May 2020 [Cited: 23 May 2020]. Available from:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditions
anddiseases/bulletins/coronaviruscovid19infectionsurveypilot/england21may2020
30. Campos-Matos I, Stannard J, de Sousa E, O'Connor R, Newton JN. From health for
all to leaving no-one behind: public health agencies, inclusion health, and health
inequalities. The Lancet Public Health. 2019 Dec 1;4(12):e601-3
31. Aldridge RW, Story A, Hwang SW, Nordentoft M, Luchenski SA, Hartwell G, Tweed
EJ, Lewer D, Katikireddi SV, Hayward AC. Morbidity and mortality in homeless
individuals, prisoners, sex workers, and individuals with substance use disorders in
high-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet. 2018 Jan
20;391(10117):241-50
32. Luchenski S, Maguire N, Aldridge RW, Hayward A, Story A, Perri P, Withers J, Clint
S, Fitzpatrick S, Hewett N. What works in inclusion health: overview of effective
interventions for marginalised and excluded populations. The Lancet. 2018 Jan
20;391(10117):266-80
33. COVID-19 and homelessness in England: a modelling study of the COVID-19
pandemic among people experiencing homelessness, and the impact of a residential
intervention to isolate vulnerable people and care for people with symptoms. Lewer D,
Braithwaite I, Bullock M, Eyre MT, Aldridge RW. s.l. : medRxiv. 2020.

122

78

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

34. Tobolowsky FA, Gonzales E, Self JL, Rao CY, Keating R, Marx GE, McMichael TM,
Lukoff MD, Duchin JS, Huster K, Rauch J. COVID-19 outbreak among three affiliated
homeless service sites—King County, Washington, 2020. Morbidity and Mortality
Weekly Report. 2020 May 1;69(17):523
35. H, Leung. Why Singapore, Once a Model for Coronavirus Response, Lost Control of
Its Outbreak. Time Magazine [Online]. 20 April 2020 [Cited: 25 May 2020]. Available
from: https://time.com/5824039/singapore-outbreak-migrant-workers/
36. Public Health England (PHE). COVID-19: number of outbreaks in care homes –
management information [Online]. 21 May 2020 [Cited: 23 May 2020]. Available from:
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/covid-19-number-of-outbreaks-incare-homes-management-information
37. Comas-Herrera A, Zalakain J, Litwin C, Hsu AT, Lane N, Fernández JL. Mortality
associated with COVID-19 outbreaks in care homes: early international evidence.
International Long-Term Care Policy Network, CPEC-LSE. 2020 Apr 12;3
38. Office for National Statistics (ONS). Number of deaths in care homes notified to the
Care Quality Commission, England [Online]. 19 May 2020 [Cited: 23 May 2020].
Available from:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deat
hs/datasets/numberofdeathsincarehomesnotifiedtothecarequalitycommissionengland
39. Office for National Statistics (ONS). Deaths registered weekly in England and
Wales, provisional: week ending 15 May 2020 [Online]. 26 May 2020 [Cited: 27 May
2020]. Available from:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deat
hs/bulletins/deathsregisteredweeklyinenglandandwalesprovisional/weekending15may20
20
40. National Health Library and Knowledge Service (Ireland). Summary of Evidence:
COVID-19 [Online]. 28 April 2020 [Cited: 18 May 2020]. Available from:
https://hselibrary.ie/covid-19-evidence-sources-and-summaries/
41. NHS England. Who's at higher risk from coronavirus [Online]. 2020 [Cited: 23 May
2020]. Available from: https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/people-athigher-risk-from-coronavirus/whos-at-higher-risk-from-coronavirus/
42. NHS Digital. Health Survey for England 2018: Data tables [Online]. 28 November
2019 [Cited: 23 May 2020]. Available from: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-andinformation/publications/statistical/health-survey-for-england/2018/health-survey-forengland-2018-data-tables
43. Khawaja AP, Warwick AN, Hysi PG, Kastner A, Dick A, Khaw PT, Tufail A, Foster
PJ, Khaw KT. Associations with covid-19 hospitalisation amongst 406,793 adults: the
UK Biobank prospective cohort study. medRxiv, 2020
44. Williamson E, Walker AJ, Bhaskaran KJ, Bacon S, Bates C, Morton CE, Curtis HJ,
Mehrkar A, Evans D, Inglesby P, Cockburn J. OpenSAFELY: factors associated with
COVID-19-related hospital death in the linked electronic health records of 17 million
adult NHS patients. medRxiv, 2020

123
79

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

45. Qingxian C, Fengjuan C, Fang L, Xiaohui L, Tao W, Qikai W, Qing H, Zhaoqin W,
Yingxia L, Jun C, Lei L. Obesity and COVID-19 severity in a designated hospital in
Shenzhen, China. The Lancet, 2020
46. Simonnet A, Chetboun M, Poissy J, Raverdy V, Noulette J, Duhamel A, Labreuche
J, Mathieu D, Pattou F, Jourdain M, Lille Intensive Care COVID‐19 and Obesity study
group. High prevalence of obesity in severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus‐2
(SARS‐CoV‐2) requiring invasive mechanical ventilation. Obesity. 9 Apr 2020
47. Holman N, Knighton P, Kar P, O’Keefe J, Curley M, Weaver A, Barron E, Bakhai C,
Khunti K, Wareham N, Sattar N, Young B, Valabhji J. Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes and
COVID-19 related mortality in England: a cohort study in people with diabetes. NHS
England, 2020
48. NHS England. COVID-19 Daily Deaths [Online]. 2020 [Cited: 23 May 2020].
Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/covid-19daily-deaths/
49. Office for National Statistics (ONS). Research report on population estimates by
ethnic group and religion [Online]. [Cited: 29 04 2020]. Available from:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populat
ionestimates/articles/researchreportonpopulationestimatesbyethnicgroupandreligion/201
9-12-04.
50. Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). Rough
sleeping snapshot in England: autumn 2019 [Online]. 27 February 2020 [Cited: 23 May
2020]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rough-sleepingsnapshot-in-england-autumn-2019/rough-sleeping-snapshot-in-england-autumn-2019
51. Office for National Statistics (ONS). SOC2010 volume 1: structure and descriptions
of unit groups [Online]. 8 March 2016 [Cited: 23 May 2020]. Available from:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/classificationsandstandards/standardoccupational
classificationsoc/soc2010/soc2010volume1structureanddescriptionsofunitgroups
52. Office for National Statistics (ONS). Coronavirus (COVID-19) related deaths by
occupation, England and Wales: deaths registered up to and including 20 April 2020
[Online]. 11 May 2020 [Cited: 23 May 2020]. Available from:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofd
eath/bulletins/coronaviruscovid19relateddeathsbyoccupationenglandandwales/latest
53. Public Health England (PHE). Palliative and End of Life Care Profiles [Online]. 2020
[Cited: 23 May 2020]. Available from: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/end-of-life
54. Public Health England (PHE). Public Health Outcomes Framework – Overarching
Indicators. Technical User Guide [Online]. February 2018 [Cited: 23 May 2020].
Available from:
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/documents/PHOF_Overarching_user_guide_Feb_2018_up
dated%20FINAL.pdf

124

80

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Appendices
Appendix A: Multivariate analyses
COVID-19 laboratory confirmed cases were matched to reported deaths by NHS
number. Records that contained the linking field were included in the final analysis
dataset (n = 130,101 cases, n = 28,246 deaths). Missing data excluded from regression:
sex, n=10; age group, n=38; ethnic group, n=2,024; region, n=446; deprivation quintile,
n=639.
Cox proportional hazards regression models were used to model survival time between
date of positive specimen and date of death or survival to 13 May 2020 among people
with confirmed COVID-19 by age, sex, ethnicity, region and deprivation (IMD quintile).
Interaction between variables was assessed; since there are interactions between age
and some of the other variables, models were stratified by age in sub-models: an all
ages model, one for working age patients (20-64 years of age) and one for older
patients (65+ years of age). All three models included all variables. The proportional
hazards assumption was tested using Schoenfeld residuals and only sex was
significant. However, sex was not adjusted for as a time varying covariate due to the
nature of the stability of this factor. Hazard ratios from the crude and fully adjusted
models are shown in Appendix A with 95% confidence intervals.
In all three models, men had a significantly higher probability of death compared to
women (adjusted hazard ratio (aHR)=1.54 (95%CI 1.50-1.57)) (Table A1). The
increased risk was higher for working age adults (aHR=1.99 (95%CI 1.85-2.14)) than for
older adults (aHR=1.47 (95%CI=1.44-1.51)).
Compared to the youngest age group of patients (<20), the probability of death
significantly increased with age up to approximately 70-fold for those aged 80 and over
(aHR=70.26 (95%CI 43.66-113.07)).
Those living in the most deprived areas had a higher probability of death when
compared to those living in the least deprived (aHR for the most deprived quintile was
1.16 (95%CI 1.12-1.21) when compared to the least deprived quintile (Table A1). The
risk was higher for working age patients (aHR=1.93 (95%CI 1.70-2.19)) (Annex A, Table
A2) than for older patients (aHR=1.09 (95%CI 1.04-1.13)) (Table A3).
Regional differences were observed, with probability of death being higher as compared
to London in East of England (aHR=1.10 (95%CI 1.05 - 1.15)) and lower as compared
to London in North East (aHR=0.82 (95%CI 0.77 - 0.87)), North West (aHR=0.92

125
81

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

(95%CI 0.88 - 0.96)), South East (aHR=0.92 (95%CI 0.88 - 0.96)), South West
(aHR=0.89 (95%CI 0.84 - 0.94)), West Midlands (aHR=0.93 (95%CI 0.89 - 0.98)) and
Yorkshire and Humber (aHR=0.92 (95%CI 0.88 - 0.97)). The increased probability in
East of England compared to London was observed in older age groups only (Table
A3), whereas the lower probability in other regions as compared to London was
primarily observed in the working age group (Table A2).
Six ethnic groups had significantly higher probability of death when compared to White
British ethnicity in the model with all ages: Bangladeshi (aHR=2.02 (95% CI 1.74-2.35)),
Pakistani (aHR=1.44 (95% CI 1.31-1.58), other Black (aHR=1.35 (95% CI 1.18-1.55),
Chinese (aHR=1.28 (95%CI 1.04-1.58), Indian (aHR=1.22 (95% CI 1.13-1.32), other
Asian (aHR=1.13 (95% CI 1.02-1.25)) and Black Caribbean (aHR=1.10 (95% CI 1.021.19) (Table A1). People of White Irish ethnicity had lower probability of death when
compared to White British ethnicity (aHR=0.88 (95% CI 0.79-0.99)).
These results were replicated in both age groups for people of Bangladeshi, Pakistani,
Black Caribbean and Black other ethnic groups. For older age groups, the probability of
death was also higher among people of Chinese, Indian and Other Asian ethnic groups
(Tables A2 and A3).

126

82

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Table A1. Multivariable hazard ratios for death among those with laboratory confirmed COVID-19. Data up to 13 May,
England. Source: Public Health England Second Generation Surveillance System.
Multivariable

Univariable
number
died

numbe
r total

HR

Female

11,470

69,558

1.00 (ref)

Male

16,776

60,533

1.74

<20

19

2,004

1.00 (ref)

20-39

190

22,267

0.89

(0.54-1.47)

40-49

455

15,349

3.20

50-59

1,507

19,217

60-69

3,226

70-79
80+

95% CI

p-value

aHR

95% CI

pvalue

(1.50 - 1.57)

<0.001

Sex
1.00 (ref)
(1.69-1.78)

<0.001

1.54

Age group
1.00 (ref)

127

0.97

(0.59 - 1.59)

(1.97-5.20)

0.65
<0.001

3.27

(2.01 - 5.31)

0.90
<0.001

8.98

(5.57-14.49)

<0.001

9.03

(5.60 - 14.56)

<0.001

15,002

26.77

(16.62-43.12)

<0.001

25.50

(15.83 - 41.08)

<0.001

6,937

19,060

51.42

(31.95-82.77)

<0.001

50.18

(31.17 - 80.79)

<0.001

15,912

37,164

66.92

(41.59-107.68)

<0.001

70.26

(43.66 - 113.07)

<0.001

22,880

99,098

1.00 (ref)

Asian / Asian British - Bangladeshi

182

708

1.10

(0.95-1.27)

0.21

2.02

(1.74 - 2.35)

<0.001

Asian / Asian British - Chinese

92

470

0.78

(0.64-0.96)

1.28

(1.04 - 1.58)

0.02

Asian / Asian British - Indian

746

4,149

0.75

(0.69-0.81)

0.02
<0.001

1.22

(1.13 - 1.32)

<0.001

Asian / Asian British - Other

412

3,233

0.51

(0.46-0.56)

<0.001

1.13

(1.02 - 1.25)

0.02

1.44

(1.31 - 1.58)

<0.001

Ethnic group
White - British

1.00 (ref)

Asian / Asian British - Pakistani

483

2,353

0.86

(0.78-094)

0.001

Black / Black British - African

430

3,157

0.53

(0.48-0.58)

<0.001

1.06

(0.96 - 1.18)

0.24

Black / Black British - Caribbean

713

2,367

1.30

(1.21-1.40)

<0.001

1.10

(1.02 - 1.19)

0.01

Black / Black British - Other

229

1,167

0.79

(0.69-0.91)

<0.001

1.35

(1.18 - 1.55)

<0.001

Mixed - Other

97

629

0.63

(0.51-0.77)

<0.001

1.04

(0.85 - 1.28)

0.68

Mixed - White and Asian

30

285

0.43

(0.30-0.61)

<0.001

1.20

(0.84 - 1.72)

0.32

Mixed - White and Black African

22

201

0.42

(0.28-0.65)

<0.001

0.79

(0.50 - 1.24)

0.30

83

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Mixed - White and Black Caribbean

46

248

0.77

(0.57-1.02)

1.18

(0.88 - 1.57)

0.28

(0.57-0.67)

0.07
<0.001

Other - Any other ethnic group

574

3,725

0.62

1.02

(0.94 - 1.12)

0.60

White - Irish

293

1,072

1.20

(1.07-1.35)

0.002

0.88

(0.79 - 0.99)

0.04

White - Other

951

5,215

0.76

(0.71-0.81)

<0.001

0.98

(0.92 - 1.05)

0.62

London

5,666

24,797

1.00 (ref)

East Midlands

2,038

7,828

1.22

(1.16-1.29)

<0.001

0.97

(0.92 - 1.03)

East of England

3,061

12,426

1.16

(1.11-1.21)

<0.001

1.10

(1.05 - 1.15)

0.35
<0.001

North East

1,562

8,987

0.79

(0.74-0.83)

<0.001

0.82

(0.77 - 0.87)

<0.001

North West

4,603

22,258

0.94

(0.91-0.98)

0.004

0.92

(0.88 - 0.96)

<0.001

South East

3,667

19,117

0.85

(0.82-0.89)

<0.001

0.92

(0.88 - 0.96)

<0.001

South West

1,490

7,023

0.96

(0.91-1.02)

0.21

0.89

(0.84 - 0.94)

<0.001

West Midlands

3,617

14,887

1.14

(1.10-1.20)

<0.001

0.93

(0.89 - 0.98)

0.003

Yorkshire and Humber

2,492

12,332

0.94

(0.90-0.99)

0.01

0.92

(0.88 - 0.97)

0.002

1 - most deprived

6,748

30,040

1.08

(1.04-1.13)

<0.001

1.16

(1.12 - 1.21)

<0.001

2

6,250

28,724

1.03

(1.00-1.07)

0.09

1.10

(1.05 - 1.14)

<0.001

3

5,372

25,584

1.00

(0.96-1.04)

0.98

1.04

(1.00 - 1.09)

0.04

4

5,175

23,791

1.04

(0.10-1.08)

0.07

(1.00 - 1.08)

0.06

5 - least deprived

4,531

21,323

1.00 (ref)

1.04
1.00 (ref)

Region
1.00 (ref)

128

Deprivation quintile

84

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Table A2. Multivariable hazard ratios for death among those with laboratory confirmed COVID-19 and between 20 and 64 years of
age. Data up to 13 May, England. Source: Public Health England Second Generation Surveillance System.
Multivariable

Univariable
number
died

number
total

HR

Female

1,202

37,677

1.00 (ref)

Male

2,346

27,284

2.68

190

22,267

1.00 (ref)

95% CI

p-value

aHR

95% CI

pvalue

(1.85 - 2.14)

<0.001

(2.79 - 3.99)
(7.61 10.50)
(16.18 22.35)

<0.001

Sex
1.00 (ref)
(2.49 - 2.87)

<0.001

(3.01 - 4.30)

<0.001

(8.59 - 11.82)

<0.001

1.99

Age group
20-39
40-49

1.00 (ref)

455

15,349

3.59

1,507

19,217

10.08

1,396

8,129

23.36

2,255

44,588

1.00 (ref)

Asian / Asian British - Bangladeshi

59

474

2.48

(1.90 - 3.22)

<0.001

1.81

(1.38 - 2.37)

<0.001

Asian / Asian British - Chinese

19

310

1.24

(0.79 - 1.94)

0.36

1.12

(0.71 - 1.77)

0.61

Asian / Asian British - Indian

164

2,734

1.21

(1.03 - 1.42)

0.02

1.06

(0.90 - 1.25)

0.50

Asian / Asian British - Other

122

2,468

1.00

(0.83 - 1.20)

0.92

(0.77 - 1.12)

0.42

Asian / Asian British - Pakistani

142

1,563

1.86

(1.57 - 2.21)

0.99
<0.001

1.48

(1.24 - 1.76)

<0.001

Black / Black British - African

197

2,461

1.57

(1.36 - 1.82)

<0.001

1.04

(0.89 - 1.22)

0.59

Black / Black British - Caribbean

127

1,050

2.44

(2.03 - 2.92)

<0.001

1.31

(1.09 - 1.58)

0.005

1.50

(1.21 - 1.86)

<0.001

50-59

129

60-64

3.33
8.94

(19.91 27.41)

<0.001
19.01

<0.001
<0.001

Ethnic group
White - British

1.00 (ref)

Black / Black British - Other

96

834

2.31

(1.88 - 2.85)

<0.001

Mixed - Other

22

409

1.11

(0.73 - 1.70)

0.61

1.18

(0.78 - 1.80)

0.43

Mixed - White and Asian

8

224

0.74

(0.37 - 1.49)

0.40

0.87

(0.43 - 1.74)

0.70

Mixed - White and Black African

6

140

0.87

(0.39 - 1.93)

0.73

0.72

(0.32 - 1.60)

0.42

85

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Mixed - White and Black
Caribbean
Other - Any other ethnic group

12

161

1.56

(0.89 - 2.76)

0.12

1.50

(0.85 - 2.66)

0.16

156

2,614

1.19

(1.01 - 1.41)

0.04

0.92

(0.77 - 1.09)

0.34

White - Irish

19

324

1.23

(0.78 - 1.93)

0.37

0.96

(0.60 - 1.53)

0.87

White - Other

132

3,059

0.88

(0.74 - 1.05)

0.17

0.80

(0.66 - 0.96)

0.01

1,092

13,436

1.00 (ref)

Region
London
East Midlands

227

3,063

1.00 (ref)

0.95

(0.82 - 1.10)

0.50
<0.001

1.00

(0.86 - 1.16)

0.98

0.96

(0.84 - 1.09)

130

East of England

355

5,828

0.76

(0.67 - 0.86)

North East

133

4,787

0.34

(0.29 - 0.41)

<0.001

0.44

(0.37 - 0.54)

0.52
<0.001

North West

499

11,311

0.55

(0.50 - 0.62)

<0.001

0.64

(0.57 - 0.72)

<0.001

South East

416

10,291

0.50

(0.44 - 0.56)

<0.001

0.70

(0.62 - 0.80)

<0.001

South West

139

3,350

0.51

(0.43 - 0.62)

<0.001

0.63

(0.52 - 0.76)

<0.001

West Midlands

412

6,276

0.85

(0.76 - 0.96)

0.007

0.87

(0.77 - 0.98)

0.03

Yorkshire and Humber

268

6,313

0.54

(0.47 - 0.62)

<0.001

0.64

(0.55 - 0.74)

<0.001

1,050

15,199

2.01

(1.78 - 2.27)

<0.001

1.93

(1.70 - 2.19)

<0.001

933

14,759

1.80

(1.59 - 2.03)

<0.001

1.65

(1.46 - 1.88)

<0.001

3

638

12,894

1.40

(1.23 - 1.60)

<0.001

1.38

(1.21 - 1.57)

<0.001

4

520

11,424

1.29

(1.13 - 1.48)

<0.001

1.32

(1.15 - 1.52)

<0.001

5 - least deprived

381

10,302

1.00 (ref)

Deprivation quintile
1 - most deprived
2

86

1.00 (ref)

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Table A3. Multivariable hazard ratios for death among those with laboratory confirmed COVID-19 and over 64 years of age. Data
up to 13 May, England. Source: Public Health England Second Generation Surveillance System.
Multivariable

Univariable
number
died

number
total

95% CI

pvalue

Female

10,262

1.00 (ref)

Male

14,417

30,817
32,277

(1.44 - 1.51)

<0.001

65-69

1,830

6,873

1.00 (ref)

70-79

6,937

19,060

1.50

(1.43 - 1.58)

<0.001

1.55

(1.47 - 1.64)

<0.001

80+

15,912

37,164

1.95

(1.86 - 2.05)

<0.001

2.15

(2.05 - 2.26)

<0.001

20,617

53,291

1.00 (ref)

Asian / Asian British - Bangladeshi

122

203

1.95

(1.63 - 2.34)

<0.001

2.02

(1.68 - 2.42)

<0.001

Asian / Asian British - Chinese

73

153

1.21

(0.96 - 1.54)

0.11

1.32

(1.04 - 1.67)

0.02

Asian / Asian British - Indian

580

1,300

1.19

(1.10 - 1.29)

<0.001

1.28

(1.18 - 1.39)

<0.001

Asian / Asian British - Other

288

671

1.08

(0.96 - 1.22)

0.18

1.22

(1.08 - 1.38)

0.001

Asian / Asian British - Pakistani

339

723

1.26

(1.13 - 1.41)

<0.001

1.38

(1.24 - 1.54)

<0.001

Black / Black British - African

230

608

0.90

(0.79 - 1.03)

0.13

0.98

(0.86 - 1.13)

0.83

Black / Black British - Caribbean

586

1,305

1.14

(1.05 - 1.24)

0.002

1.09

(1.00 - 1.19)

0.05

Black / Black British - Other

132

305

1.10

(0.93 - 1.31)

0.27

1.19

(1.00 - 1.42)

0.05

Mixed – Other

75

180

1.07

(0.85 - 1.34)

0.58

1.01

(0.80 - 1.27)

0.92

Mixed - White and Asian

22

48

1.23

(0.81 - 1.87)

0.33

1.37

(0.90 - 2.09)

0.14

16

45

0.86

(0.52 - 1.42)

0.55

0.82

(0.47 - 1.41)

0.47

34

76

1.11

(0.80 - 1.56)

1.11

(0.79 - 1.55)

418

1,028

1.02

(0.92 - 1.12)

1.05

(0.95 - 1.16)

HR

95% CI

p-value

aHR

Sex
1.40

1.00 (ref)
(1.36 - 1.43)

<0.001

1.47

Age group
1.00 (ref)

131

Ethnic group
White – British

Mixed - White and Black African
Mixed - White and Black
Caribbean
Other - Any other ethnic group

87

1.00 (ref)

0.53
0.74

0.56
0.36

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

White – Irish

274

745

0.90

(0.80 - 1.02)

0.09

0.89

(0.79 - 1.00)

0.06

White – Other

819

2,050

1.01

(0.94 - 1.08)

0.76

1.02

(0.95 - 1.10)

0.60

London

4,564

10,981

1.00 (ref)

East Midlands

1,811

4,642

0.97

(0.92 - 1.02)

East of England

2,704

6,401

1.10

North East

1,429

4,113

North West

4,103

South East

Region
1.00 (ref)
0.99

(0.94 - 1.05)

0.83

(1.05 - 1.16)

0.28
<0.001

1.14

(1.08 - 1.20)

<0.001

0.89

(0.84 - 0.94)

<0.001

0.91

(0.85 - 0.97)

0.004

10,687

0.96

(0.92 - 1.00)

0.07

0.99

(0.94 - 1.04)

0.64

3,249

8,398

0.94

(0.90 - 0.98)

0.008

0.97

(0.93 - 1.02)

0.28

South West

1,351

3,554

0.92

(0.86 - 0.98)

0.006

0.94

(0.89 - 1.01)

0.08

West Midlands

3,202

8,373

0.95

(0.91 - 0.99)

0.03

0.96

(0.92 - 1.01)

0.12

Yorkshire and Humber

2,223

5,843

0.96

(0.92 - 1.01)

0.16

0.99

(0.94 - 1.04)

0.66

1 - most deprived
2

5,695

14,383

1.05

(1.00 - 1.09)

0.03

1.09

(1.04 - 1.13)

<0.001

5,312

13,528

1.03

(0.98 - 1.07)

0.24

1.04

(1.00 - 1.09)

0.05

3

4,727

12,294

1.00

(0.96 - 1.05)

0.87

1.02

(0.97 - 1.06)

0.48

4

4,652

11,993

(0.97 - 1.05)

0.62

1.02

(0.97 - 1.06)

0.47

5 - least deprived

4,149

10,682

1.01
1.00 (ref)

Deprivation quintile

132

88

1.00 (ref)

Disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19

Appendix B: Ethnicity classification in Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) data and
in Office for National Statistics (ONS) data

White
A
British
B
Irish
C
Any other White background

ONS ethnicity classification
White
•
English / Welsh / Scottish / Northern Irish / British
•
Irish
•
Gypsy or Irish Traveller
•
Any other White background

Mixed
D
E
F
G

Mixed / Multiple ethnic groups
•
White and Black Caribbean
•
White and Black African
•
White and Asian
•
Any other Mixed / Multiple ethnic background

HES ethnicity classification

White and Black Caribbean
White and Black African
White and Asian
Any other mixed background

Asian or Asian British
H
Indian
J
Pakistani
K
Bangladeshi
L
Any other Asian background
Black or Black British
M
Caribbean
N
African
P
Any other Black background

Asian / Asian British
•
Indian
•
Pakistani
•
Bangladeshi
•
Chinese
•
Any other Asian background
Black / African / Caribbean / Black British
•
African
•
Caribbean
•
Any other Black / African / Caribbean background

Other Ethnic Groups
R
Chinese
S
Any other ethnic group

Other ethnic group
•
Arab
•
Any other ethnic group

133
89

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11.
TITLE

Overview and Scrutiny Work Programmes 2020/21

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee on
24 June 2020

WARD

None Specific

DIRECTOR

Graham Ebers, Deputy Chief Executive

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
Effective Overview and Scrutiny helps to improve services, holds decision makers to
account and engages with local communities. In so doing it helps to demonstrate that the
Council and other public service providers are open and transparent and are delivering
high quality, value for money services.
RECOMMENDATION
The Committee is requested to:
1) note the Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme Tracker for 2019/20 (Annex A);
2) consider the additional Scrutiny requests (Annex B);
3) consider any other potential Scrutiny items, including items arising from the Council
Delivery Plan (Annex C);
4) consider and amend, as necessary, the proposed Overview and Scrutiny Work
Programmes for 2020/21 (Annex D);
5) note that additional items (including Covid-19 issues) can be included in the Overview
and Scrutiny Work Programmes during the year;
6) confirm that each of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees will undertake one or
more detailed Scrutiny reviews during 2020/21.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
Effective work programming is a Member-led process aimed at shortlisting and prioritising
issues of community concern together with issues arising out of the Community Vision
and Corporate Delivery Plan and major policy or service changes. It aims to:





reflect local needs and concerns;
prioritise topics for scrutiny which have the most impact or benefit;
involve local residents and stakeholders;
be flexible enough to respond to new or urgent issues.

Each year the Committee approves work programmes for itself and the Council’s
Overview and Scrutiny Committees. Draft work programmes are appended to the report
for Member consideration and approval. Following public consultation a number of
additional Scrutiny requests have been received. These requests are also included in the
report for Member consideration. Flexibility may be required in 2020/21 due to the
challenges posed by the Covid-19 pandemic and the requirement for Scrutiny of the
Council’s response.

135

Background
An effective Overview and Scrutiny function is underpinned by robust work programming.
Effective work programming lays the foundations for targeted scrutiny of issues of local
importance. It helps to ensure that Overview and Scrutiny adds value and makes a
difference. Effective work programming helps to:







prioritise issues for in-depth work where Overview and Scrutiny can make an impact
and add value;
reduce the need for “information only” reports;
achieve a balance between pre-decision scrutiny, policy development and
performance/budget monitoring;
contribute at an earlier stage in the decision making process;
increase public and stakeholder involvement in Overview and Scrutiny;
retain flexibility in order to respond to urgent issues arising during the year.

Scrutiny Review Criteria
The issues identified for consideration by Overview and Scrutiny should be of interest or
concern for local residents and generate public interest and involvement in the
Overview and Scrutiny process. In considering potential issues for review, Members
should take into account the previously agreed selection criteria:








Whether the issue is of local, and preferably current, concern;
Whether the undertaking of the review can be linked to the Community Vision and
Corporate Delivery Plan;
Whether the topic is already being reviewed elsewhere within the Council:
Is the topic one that is capable of being influenced by one of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committees;
Is the topic of manageable scope – not too wide-ranging and yet of sufficient size to
warrant a scrutiny review;
Whether sufficient resources are available to support the Scrutiny review;
Whether the review should be undertaken by the Overview and Scrutiny
Management Committee itself or be delegated to an Overview and Scrutiny
Committee or a Task and Finish Group.

In Depth Scrutiny Reviews
An important strength of Overview and Scrutiny is the capacity to carry out in depth
reviews of policies or services provided by the Council or its partners. In depth reviews
allow Members to drill down into a particular issue and consider evidence from service
users, community groups, experts and other stakeholders. They also enable Members
to carry out research and broaden their knowledge of best practice in the public and
private sectors.
In 2018/19 the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee carried out an in-depth
Scrutiny review of the Council’s Grounds Maintenance service, resulting in the
submission of detailed recommendations to the Council’s Executive in January 2019. In
2019/20 the Committee set up the Estate Infrastructure Task and Finish Group. The
Task and Finish Group scrutinised the process for adopting new roads, play areas and
open spaces following the delivery of new housing estates. The Committee has also
established a Climate Emergency Task and Finish Group which will scrutinise the
Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan.

136

Building on the successful outcome of the Scrutiny Task and Finish reviews, it is
suggested that each Overview and Scrutiny Committee identifies one or more topics for
in depth review during 2020/21, the reviews to be carried out by the Committees
themselves or by Task and Finish Groups. The Committee has already established the
Climate Emergency Task and Finish Group, which will commence its deliberations
shortly.
Work Programme Action Tracker
In order to monitor progress against issues in the Overview and Scrutiny Work
Programmes, Annex A sets out an Action Tracker for 2019/20. This indicates which
work programme items were addressed during the year and which items should be
considered for carry forward into 2020/21.
Suggested Scrutiny Items for 2020/21
Annex B sets out a number of potential Scrutiny issues suggested by Members, residents
and Town and Parish Councils following the Committee’s public consultation exercise.
Members are requested to consider the suggestions against the criteria set out above
and determine whether they should be included in the work programmes for 2020/21.
Community Vision and Council Delivery Plan
The recently published Community Vision and Council Delivery Plan set out the key
priorities for the Borough over the next four years. As such, the documents provide an
important source of potential Scrutiny review items. Extracts from the Corporate
Delivery Plan are set out at Annex C. Members are asked to consider any potential
Scrutiny items arising out of the plan.
Draft Scrutiny Work Programmes for 2020/21
Annex D sets out a proposed draft work programme for each of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committees for 2020/21. The work programmes allow flexibility for the consideration of
urgent issues and the call-in of decisions made by the Executive. Once approved, the
work programme issues will be timetabled into the programme of Overview and Scrutiny
meetings during the year. Implementation of the programmes will then be monitored
during the year through the Action Tracker.
Covid-19
Scrutiny of the Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic is addressed in a separate
report on the Agenda. The four Overview and Scrutiny Committees will be able to add
value by assessing the effectiveness of the Council’s plans and the way it has worked
with key partners to protect and support vulnerable individuals, schools, care homes and
local businesses.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.

137

How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Revenue or Capital?

0

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
NA

0

NA

NA

0

NA

NA

NA

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
None
Cross-Council Implications
Effective Overview and Scrutiny helps to drive service improvement, policy development
and the achievement of value for money for the Borough’s residents.

Public Sector Equality Duty
Due regard has been given to Council’s Public Sector Equality Duty. The issues
scrutinised during 2020/21 will raise the profile of Overview and Scrutiny for residents
across the Borough, including residents with protected characteristics as defined under
the Equality Act 2010. The aim is to achieve better outcomes and increased value for
money for residents.

List of Background Papers
None
Contact Neil Carr
Telephone No 0118 974 6058
Date 15 June 2020

Service Corporate Services
Email neil.carr@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1.0

138

Annex A

Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee – Action Tracker 2019/20

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.
9.

10.

11.
12.
13.

Scrutiny Item

Action

Update

Development of the Overview and Scrutiny Work
Programmes and coordination of the work of the
O&S Committees
Discussions with the Leader, Executive Members
and Chief Executive to identify future priorities
and monitor performance
Scrutinising the development of the new Council
Plan, the underpinning priorities and Quarterly
Performance Management
Reviewing implementation of the Council’s 21st
Century Council programme and the Continuous
Improvement Programme (CIP)
Scrutinising the implications of Climate
Emergency for the Borough and the Council’s
Action Plan for a net-zero carbon Borough
Scrutinising the Council’s Economic Development
Strategy and the impact of the Thames Valley
Berkshire Local Enterprise Partnership (TBC)
Scrutinising the Council’s approach to public
consultation and compliance with its statutory
duties under the Equality Act 2010 (Oct 2019)
Scrutinising the impact of Brexit on the Borough

Work Programmes
developed Jan-March
2020
Leader, Executive
Members and CEX
attended O&S
Community
Vision/Delivery Plan
considered Feb 2020
CIP reviewed Feb
2020

In progress

Considered in
September 2019 and
January 2020
Not considered

Completed
– and Carry
Forward
Carry
Forward

Report on Equalities
considered in March
2020
Not considered

Carry
Forward

Reviewing progress of the Council’s Grounds
Maintenance service following the Committee’s
Scrutiny review in 2018
Reviewing the Government’s updated Statutory
Guidance on the operation of Overview and
Scrutiny and considering the implications for WBC
Approving the annual Overview and Scrutiny
report to Council
Undertaking Call-In reviews of Executive
decisions
Appointing Task and Finish Groups as
appropriate

Considered in Oct
2019 and March 2020

14.

Reviewing the effectiveness of the Overview and
Scrutiny function and the underpinning support
and training provided for Officers and Members

15.

Other Items Considered:
 Traveller Encampments
 Waste and Recycling (Food Waste)
 Street Cleansing Contract

139

Considered in June
2019 – Protocol
completed
Submitted to Council
– March 2020
No Call-Ins during the
year
Task and Finish
Groups on Estate
Infrastructure and
Climate Emergency
Considered in March
2020

Completed

Completed

Completed

Carry
Forward
Completed
– and Carry
Forward
Completed

Completed
Completed
Completed

Ongoing
Completed

Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Action Tracker 2019/20

1.

2.

3.

4.
5.

6.
7.
8.

9.

10.
11.
12.
13.

14.
15.
16.

Scrutiny Item

Action

Update

Monitoring the effective delivery of safeguarding
services, including social worker recruitment,
retention and training
Reviewing services that contribute to the
achievement of the Council’s Vision and priorities
for children and young people
Reviewing progress in relation to narrowing the
gap in educational attainment for children from
disadvantaged backgrounds
Reviewing key Children’s Services performance
indicators and major projects
Reviewing school performance indicators and
Ofsted reports

Considered at every
meeting

Completed

Various services were
considered during the
year
Consider Borough’s
tests results at the
March 2020 meeting
Was considered at
every meeting
Reviewed each
meeting/requested
annual visit by the
Regional School’s
Commissioner
Reviewed at every
meeting
Not considered

Completed

Scrutinising the performance of any schools
causing concern
Reviewing the allocation of school places across
the Borough
Monitoring the impact of the 21st Century Council
change programme and the successor
Continuous Improvement Programme on
Children’s Services
Scrutinising progress of key strategic initiatives
such as the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub
(MASH)
Considering the annual report of the Corporate
Parenting Board
Reviewing the Education Vision Strategy
Reviewing the Strategy for children with special
educational needs and disabilities
Input into new policies through pre-decision
scrutiny of draft proposals relating to Children’s
Services
Call-In of Executive decisions relating to
Children’s Services
Appointing Task and Finish Groups as
appropriate
Other Items Considered:
 Continuous Improvement Plan
 Ofsted Inspection Outcomes and Action Plan
 SEND Strategy
 Take up of sports and leisure activities
 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Update
 Youth Offending Service
 Wokingham Young Carers Service

140

Not considered

Ongoing

Completed
Completed

Completed
Carry
forward
Carry
forward

Not considered

Carry
forward

Considered the CPB
review - January 2020
Not considered

Ongoing

Considered in
January 2020
Not considered

N/A
N/A

Carry
forward
Ongoing
Carry
forward

N/A

Community & Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Action Tracker 2019/20

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.
7.

8.

9.
10.

11.

12.

13.
14.
15.

16.
17.

Scrutiny Item

Action

Update

Reviewing the work of the Community Safety
Partnership, the effectiveness of local policing
and fire and rescue services
Exercising the Council’s flood risk management
responsibilities by monitoring flood risk activities
and partnership working with Towns and Parishes
Scrutinising the delivery of the Strategic
Development Locations (SDLs) and progress
relating to the Local Plan Update and the Five
Year Land Supply
Reviewing the Assets Review Programme and
the operation of the Council’s Property Portfolio
Investment Fund
Reviewing the effectiveness of the Council’s
partnerships with Town and Parish Councils and
the voluntary sector

To be considered in
March 2020

In progress

Update received
October 2019

Completed

Update on Borough
Design Guide
received January
2020
Update received
January 2020

Completed

Engagement re
Market Place project,
up to date list of
voluntary orgs now
held by CEM
Not considered

Completed

Scrutinising the Voluntary Sector Commissioning
Strategy
Scrutinising burial capacity across the Borough
and the Council’s plans to ensure adequate future
capacity
Scrutinising the Council’s Localities service and
measures to develop closer working relationships
with Town and Parish Councils
Scrutinising the Council’s Budget development
process and the emerging Budget for 2020/21
Scrutinising the Wokingham Town Centre
Regeneration Programme, including the Safety
and Financial Audits relating to the Market Place
highways project
Scrutinising service and policy developments
relating to the Council’s public facing services and
its in-house support services
Reviewing highways and transport issues
including highways contracts, customer service,
car parking, Bus Strategy and cycling
Reviewing the Business Case for the Coppid
Beech Park and Ride site
Scrutinising the implementation and impact of
Civil Parking Enforcement across the Borough
Scrutinising the Council’s Housing Services to
ensure that the needs of local residents and
communities are being met
Scrutinising the performance of Council-owned
companies and shared service arrangements
Other Items Considered

141

Update received
January 2020 and
follow up March 2020
Multiple highways
issues, bus network
review, T+P Councils
fed into reports
Full review
undertaken
Update received June
2019

Completed

Carry
forward
Completed

Completed

Completed
Completed

Not considered, to be
reviewed 20/21

Carry
forward

CPE, Market Place,
Borough wide parking
strategy etc.
No update, chasing

Completed

Update received June
2019
Not considered

Not considered
N/A

Carry
forward
Completed
Carry
forward
Carry
forward
N/A

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Action Tracker 2019/20
Scrutiny Item

Action

Update

1.

Monitoring health and social care outcomes and
the performance of the local NHS Foundation
Trusts

Ongoing

Ongoing

2.

Reviewing progress on the integration of health
and social care services
Monitoring progress relating to the development
of community hubs

Ongoing

Ongoing

Briefing on Primary
Care Networks and
Neighbourhoods September 2019.
Updates at each
HOSC meeting
Ongoing

Completed

Received an update
at September 2019
meeting.
Received updates on
health and wellbeing
and planning and
primary care facilities
and estates
Ongoing

Completed

Update on health and
wellbeing and
planning at January
2020 meeting.
N/A

Completed

3.

4.
5.
6.

Considering reports and updates from
Wokingham Healthwatch
Reviewing the provision of community mental
health services
Considering updates on the work of the
Wokingham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)

Ongoing
Ongoing

7.

Reviewing access to primary care services within
the Strategic Development Locations

8.

Joining West Berkshire, Reading, Oxfordshire and
Buckinghamshire Councils in joint scrutiny of the
Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire
West Sustainability and Transformation Plan

9.

Scrutinising the Planning process in relation to the
consideration of health issues

10.

Call-In of Executive decisions relating to adult
social care

11.

Input into new policies through pre-decision
scrutiny of draft proposals relating to adult social
care

Not carried out

Carry
forwards

12.

Appointing Task and Finish Groups as
appropriate

N/A

N/A

13.

Other Items Considered:
HOSC Member Scrutiny Training – February 2020

142

Review

Ongoing

N/A

Annex B

Overview and Scrutiny Work Programmes 2020/21
Scrutiny Suggestions

1.

Wokingham Without Parish Council


Highways maintenance – specifically in relation to: drainage, ditch
management, potholes and resurfacing schedules;
Planning enforcement;
Safe walking (and cycling) routes to schools;
Connected cycleways (in our case for and within Wokingham Without);
Parking management (particularly in our case regarding the
management of parking on double yellow lines around Greenwood
Road shops).






2.

Earley Town Council









3.

Health & Social Care;
Youth Services;
Falling School Rolls in Earley;
Parking;
Pandemics;
Flood Risk and Disaster Preparedness;
Planting Wildlife Friendly Plants;
Integrated and Strategic Co-ordination.

Councillor Sarah Kerr















Arts and culture strategy which is currently being written (including the
consultation on it);
Review of the Volker Highways contract for highway maintenance;
Recycling - forward looking initiatives to increase our recycling rates;
SEND strategy;
Future regeneration plans;
Air pollution - not sure what WBC is doing on this at all, but would like
to understand where we're at and what our future plans are;
Social worker recruitment - think we need to scrutinise what both
children’s and adult services are doing and how successful it is;
Everything coming out of the Climate Emergency Action Plan;
Regional Schools Commissioner (or someone from the team) to
scrutinise academy schools;
Review of the library offer;
WBC Website;
Home to School Transport Strategy – including post 16s;
Electric Vehicle Charging;
Low Emission Transport Strategy.

143

4.

Ongoing Scrutiny Items




Update on Food Waste Collection (July 2020);
Update on Street Cleansing Contract (October 2020);
Update on Unauthorised Traveller Encampments (June 2020).

144

Annex C

Wokingham Borough Corporate Delivery Plan 2020/24 – Key Priorities
Key Priority 1 - Safe and Strong Communities
We will work with our partners to:
• Protect and safeguard our children, young and vulnerable people.
• Offer quality care and support, at the right time, to reduce the need for long term care.
• Nurture our communities; enabling them to thrive and families to flourish.
• Ensure our Borough and communities remain safe for all.
What we will do:
• Maintain a relentless focus on safeguarding.
• Work together to shape services around the needs of the individual and deliver them
in a way that empowers residents to live independent and healthy lives.
• Plan, commission and monitor high quality services that deliver value for money
• Work with residents and providers to ensure sustainable local provision of care
services and a thriving voluntary sector.
• Work with families and young people to ensure planned transitions from children to
adult services.
• Work with our health partners to improve access to primary healthcare and better
integrate local health and social care services.
• Work with partners to tackle anti-social behaviour and increase the resilience of local
communities.
What success will look like:
• Residents feel safe and secure in their neighbourhoods and in the services they
receive
• Improvements in health, wellbeing and independence in the community.
• Greater access to opportunities through the voluntary sector; reducing social isolation
and loneliness.
• Increased opportunities for self-support, reducing the demand for ongoing care and
support.
• Wokingham Borough is the very best place for people with a learning disability to live,
learn, work and feel supported.

Key Priority 2 - Enriching Lives
We will work with our partners to:
• Champion excellent education and enable our children and young people to achieve
their full potential, regardless of their background.
• Support our residents to lead happy, healthy lives and provide access to good leisure
facilities to compliment an active lifestyle.

145

• Engage and empower our communities through arts and culture and create a sense of
identity for the Borough which people feel part of.
• Support growth in our local economy and help to build business.
What we will do:
• Work with our partners to make the Borough a place where businesses want to invest
and are supported to stay and grow.
• Support and challenge all schools to provide the right environment for effective
learning for all pupils.
• Work with our partners to provide excellent adult education and training opportunities
that meets the skills needs of our employers.
• Develop our public health programme to promote active and healthy lifestyles.
• Maximise opportunities for physical and social activities and make sure everyone is
able to participate if they want to.
• Increase the opportunity for creativity to flourish through a vibrant arts and culture
offering.
What success will look like:
• A strong local economy with continued inward investment into the Borough.
• Thriving villages and town centres offering residents and visitors a range of retail and
leisure options.
• Increased educational attainment overall and a narrowing of the gap between
disadvantaged children, those with protected characteristics and their peers.
• An increase in all residents engaging in active, healthy, cultural and social
opportunities.
• More local people involved in volunteering and community activities, taking pride in
their neighbourhood and, where possible, looking after their own wellbeing and that of
their families and neighbours.

Key Priority 3 - Right Homes, Right Places
We will work with our partners to:
• Offer quality, affordable, sustainable homes fit for the future.
• Ensure the right infrastructure is in place, early, to support and enable our Borough to
grow.
• Protect our unique places and preserve our natural environment.
• Help with your housing needs and support people, where it is needed most, to live
independently in their own homes.
What we will do:
• Ensure a planned approach to house building and place shaping through masterplanning and community involvement.
• Develop policies to make sure development is vibrant with the right mix of housing,
employment, leisure, community uses and green infrastructure that is well connected
and meets community needs.
• Ensure our existing built environment and valued green spaces are protected.

146

• Maximise the delivery of affordable housing through developers, social landlords and
our own housing companies.
• Work closely with our partners and the voluntary sector to deliver a variety of housing
options that meet the needs of vulnerable and disabled residents.
• Work with all landlords and home owners to improve the quality and sustainability of
the Borough’s existing housing stock.
What success will look like:
• Where possible, all new development is delivered through a planned approach
minimising the impact on existing communities and protecting our valued green space.
• Local residents are supported and protected during any new development in their
neighbourhood and that any essential infrastructure delivered up front.
• New developments have their own sense of place that adds to the quality of life and
sense of community for those residents living there.
• Sufficient affordable, specialist housing to meet the requirements of all those residents
in priority need.
Key Priority 4 – Keeping the Borough Moving
We will work with our partners to:
• Maintain and improve our roads, footpaths and cycleways.
• Tackle traffic congestion and minimise delays and disruptions.
• Enable safe and sustainable travel around the Borough with good transport
infrastructure.
• Promote healthy alternative travel options and support our partners in offering
affordable, accessible public transport with good transport links.
What we will do:
• Ensure a strategic approach to highway investment and maintenance.
• Increase opportunities across the Borough to access public transport and use electric
vehicles.
• Continue to promote and develop the MyJourney programme as a tool to help
residents and visitors make sustainable transport choices.
• Work with our partners and the community to review and implement the Local
Transport Plan and the walking and cycling strategy.
• Work in partnership to explore new technologies that contribute to an intelligent
transport system that makes the best use of the existing road network.
What success will look like:
• Less congestion on our roads and more efficient journey times across the Borough.
• Increased use of public transport, walking and cycling initiatives.
• Increased number of electric vehicle charging points.
• A well maintained road network and improved safety for all road users.
• Improved air quality.

147

Key Priority 5 – A clean and green Borough
We will work with our partners to:
• Play as full a role as possible to achieve a carbon neutral Borough, sustainable for the
future.
• Protect our Borough, keep it clean and enhance our green areas for people to enjoy.
• Reduce our waste, increase recycling and improve biodiversity.
• Connect our parks and open spaces with green cycleways.
What we will do:
• Deliver against our Climate Emergency Action Plan and ensure becoming carbon
neutral is given due weight through all our strategies and decision making.
• Ensure our colleagues across the council and our contractors, take measures where
possible to reduce carbon emissions including making our own buildings more energy
efficient.
• Help and support our residents and businesses to make behavioural changes that
actively address the challenges of climate change.
• Continue to tackle fly-tipping, litter, graffiti and waste generation.
• Enhance our existing green areas and valued open spaces.
What success will look like:
• Residents and businesses change their behaviours to do more to tackle climate
change and the Council is seen as setting a positive example.
• The Borough is recognised as a flagship authority in addressing the causes and
impacts of climate change.
• A greener Borough, with more trees and a richer biodiversity with improved and more
accessible, open spaces.
• Increased recycling and a reduction in general waste produced by each household.
• A more joined up walking and cycling network with more people choosing to walk,
cycle or use public transport.
Key Priority 6 – Changing the way we work
We will work with our partners to:
• Be relentlessly customer focussed.
• Work with our partners to provide efficient, effective, joined up services which are
focussed around you.
• Communicate better with you, owning issues, updating on progress and responding
appropriately as well as promoting what is happening in our Borough
• Drive innovative, digital ways of working that will connect our communities, businesses
and customers to our services in a way that suits their needs.
What we will do:
• Strengthen our understanding of current and future needs so that we can plan, design
and deliver the best outcomes for all our residents.

148

• Listen to what our communities are telling us and use this feedback to shape service
delivery, challenge how we do business and manage expectations in an open and
honest way.
• Develop an inclusive service delivery approach, in a way that promotes independence
and harnesses the digital opportunities available.
• Work in partnership to deliver community led solutions that address the issues that
matter most to our residents.
• Develop a proactive approach with our partners in communicating, celebrating our
shared success and promoting how the community can get involved.
• Be ambitious in all that we do, ensuring we have the right resource and governance to
allow us to deliver at pace and manage demand.
What success will look like:
• A customer-centred way of working that is responsive to the needs of our
communities, is built on a foundation of customer engagement and results in improved
satisfaction levels.
• A community-led approach to meeting the needs of our residents, that is focused on
the right outcome, delivered in the right way at the right time.
• Communication and feedback that encourages engagement with residents,
businesses and partners in an inclusive and informative way.
• Thinking differently about how to manage the needs of our community, using a
demand management approach to service delivery, with high ambition and desire to
continuously improve all that we do.
• Effective use of digital technology, underpinning the very core of our organisation, that
drives innovative new ways of working, helps to understand how things will change in
the future and inform decision-making.
Key Priority 7 – Be the best we can
We will work with our partners to:
• Be an organisation that values and invests in all our colleagues and is seen as an
employer of choice.
• Embed a culture that supports ambition, promotes empowerment and develops new
ways of working.
• Use our governance and scrutiny structures to support a learning and continuous
improvement approach to the way we do business.
• Be a commercial council that is innovative in its approach with a clear focus on being
financially resilient.
• Maximise opportunities to secure funding and investment for the Borough.
What we will do:
• Develop a People Strategy that is centred around recognition and development of all
colleagues across the Council.
• Nurture our colleagues and encourage them to be the best they can be, through
opportunities to learn and develop.
• Strengthen our scrutiny approach to ensure we learn from our experiences, consider
risks and make improvements for the better.

149

• Create a commercial mind-set within the organisation that promotes the ability to
deliver services differently, demands innovation and ensures we are able to maximise
our assets for the benefit of our communities and to deliver financial sustainability.
• Be assertive and robust in our approach to the financial challenges, by developing our
investment strategy, enhancing commissioning and contract management, seeking
additional investment and securing grant funding to realise our ambitions.
What success will look like:
• Colleagues are passionate about what they do and proud to work at our organisation,
they understand our goals and their role in helping us to achieve them.
• All colleagues are given the support and opportunities to develop and grow and, where
possible, are able to follow a career path that supports their passion and ambition.
• We will have a proportionate approach to risk that encourages innovation whilst
ensuring successful delivery.
• A forward thinking, innovative approach to organisational planning and delivery, with a
strong commercial approach to everything that we do.
• A council wide approach to the financial challenges and solutions, increased grant
contribution to support service delivery, and shared expertise in contract management
across the organisation.

150

Annex D

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY DRAFT WORK PROGRAMMES 2020/21
1.

Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee
1.

Scrutinising the Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic

2.

Development of the Overview and Scrutiny Work Programmes and
coordination of the work of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees

3.

Discussions with the Leader, Executive Members and Chief Executive to
identify future priorities and monitor performance against targets

4.

Scrutinising the underpinning priorities and KPIs for the Corporate Delivery
Plan 2020/24 and the Quarterly Performance Management Reports

5.

Scrutinising the Council’s Continuous Improvement Programme

6.

Scrutinising the implications of Climate Emergency for the Borough through
the Climate Emergency Task and Finish Group

7.

Scrutinising progress on the Local Plan Update and the Council’s Five Year
Land Supply

8.

Scrutinising the Council’s Economic Development Strategy and the impact of
the Thames Valley Berkshire Local Enterprise Partnership

9.

Scrutinising the Council’s compliance with its statutory duties under the
Equality Act 2010

10.

Scrutinising the impact of Brexit on the Borough and Council services

11.

Monitoring progress on the Council’s Food Waste collection service and the
new Street Cleansing contract

12.

Scrutinising the Council’s policies and procedures relating to Unauthorised
Traveller Encampments

13.

Approving the annual Overview and Scrutiny reports to Council

14.

Undertaking Call-In reviews of Executive decisions as necessary

15.

Appointing Task and Finish Groups as appropriate

16.

Reviewing the effectiveness of the Overview and Scrutiny function and the
underpinning support and training provided for Officers and Members

151

Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee

2.
1.

Scrutinising the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on Children’s Services

2.

Scrutinising the implementation of the Children’s Services action plan aimed
at achieving a “Good” Ofsted outcome

3.

Monitoring the effective delivery of safeguarding services, including social
worker recruitment, retention and training

4.

Reviewing services that contribute to the achievement of the Council’s Vision
and priorities for children and young people

5.

Reviewing progress in relation to narrowing the gap in educational attainment
for children from disadvantaged backgrounds

6.

Reviewing key Children’s Services performance indicators and major projects

7.

Reviewing school performance indicators and Ofsted reports

8.

Scrutinising the performance of any schools causing concern

9.

Scrutinising the allocation of school places across the Borough

10.

Monitoring the impact of the Council’s Continuous Improvement Programme
on Children’s Services

11.

Scrutinising progress of key strategic initiatives such as the Multi Agency
Safeguarding Hub (MASH)

12.

Considering the annual report of the Corporate Parenting Board

13.

Scrutinising Home to School Transport provision and the appeals process

14.

Reviewing appeals against the service - in terms of number and outcomes

15.

Reviewing the Strategy for children with special educational needs and
disabilities

16.

Input into new policies through pre-decision scrutiny of draft proposals relating
to Children’s Services

17.

Call-In of Executive decisions relating to Children’s Services

18.

Appointing Task and Finish Groups as appropriate

152

3.

Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee
1.

Scrutinising the development of the Council’s Budget for 2021/22, including
the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic

2.

Reviewing the work of the Community Safety Partnership, the effectiveness of
local policing and fire and rescue services

3.

Exercising the Council’s flood risk management responsibilities by monitoring
flood risk activities and partnership working with Towns and Parishes

4.

Reviewing the Assets Review Programme and the operation of the Council’s
Property Portfolio Investment Fund

5.

Reviewing the effectiveness of the Council’s partnerships with Town and
Parish Councils and the voluntary sector

6.

Scrutinising the Voluntary Sector Commissioning Strategy

7.

Scrutinising burial capacity across the Borough and the Council’s plans to
ensure adequate future capacity

8.

Scrutinising the Council’s Localities service and measures to develop closer
working relationships with Town and Parish Councils

9.

Scrutinising service and policy developments relating to the Council’s public
facing services and its in-house support services

10.

Reviewing highways and transport issues including highways contracts,
customer service, car parking, Bus Strategy and cycling infrastructure

11.

Scrutinising the Council’s emerging Arts and Culture Strategy

12.

Reviewing the Business Case supporting the development of the Coppid
Beech Park and Ride site

13.

Scrutinising the implementation and impact of Civil Parking Enforcement
across the Borough

14.

Scrutinising the Council’s Housing Services to ensure that the needs of local
residents and communities are being met

15.

Scrutinising the operation and performance of the Council-owned companies
and shared service arrangements

16.

Appointing Task and Finish Groups as appropriate

153

4.

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
1.

Scrutinising the Council’s response to the health and care related issues
arising from the Coronavirus pandemic

2.

Monitoring health and social care outcomes and the performance of the local
NHS Foundation Trusts

3.

Reviewing progress on the integration of health and social care services

4.

Monitoring progress relating to the development of Primary Care Networks

5.

Considering reports and updates from Healthwatch Wokingham Borough

6.

Scrutinising the impact of the Council’s Continuous Improvement Programme
on Adult Social Care

7.

Reviewing the provision of community mental health services

8.

Considering updates on the work of the NHS Berkshire West Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG)

9.

Scrutinising the Council’s plans to improve air quality across the Borough

10.

Reviewing access to primary care services within the Strategic Development
Locations

11.

Joining West Berkshire, Reading, Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Councils
in joint scrutiny of the Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West
Sustainability and Transformation Plan

12.

Scrutinising the Planning process in relation to the consideration of health
issues

13.

Call-In of Executive decisions relating to adult social care as necessary

14.

Input into new policies through pre-decision scrutiny of draft proposals relating
to adult social care

15.

Appointing Task and Finish Groups as appropriate

154

